

TOWARDS A SUSTAINABLE ASIA

ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE CHANGE





TOWARDS A SUSTAINABLE ASIA: ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE CHANGE

TOWARDS A SUSTAINABLE ASIA: ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE CHANGE

With 38 figures





Author The Association of Academies of Sciences in Asia (AASA) KAST Building, 7-1, Gumi-Dong Bundang-Gu Seongnam-Shi Gyunggi-Do, 463-808 Republic of Korea E-mail: aasa@kast.or.kr

ISBN 978-7-03-029013-7 Science Press Beijing

ISBN 978-3-642-16671-6 e-ISBN 978-3-642-16672-3 Springer Heidelberg Dordrecht London New York

Library of Congress Control Number: 2010937229

© Science Press Beijing and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2011

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilm or in any other way, and storage in data banks. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is permitted only under the provisions of the German Copyright Law of September 9, 1965, in its current version, and permission for use must always be obtained from Springer. Violations are liable to prosecution under the German Copyright Law.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

Cover design: Huabin Huang

Printed on acid-free paper

Springer is part of Springer Science+Business Media (www.springer.com)

Board of Directors

President	
Jinghai Li	Chinese Academy of Sciences (CAS)
Honorary President	
Nikolai Dobretsov	Siberian Branch of the Russian Academy of Sciences
Immediate Past President	
Ruth Arnon	Israel Academy of Sciences and Humanities; Weizmann
	Institute of Science
Vice President	
M. Shamsher Ali	Bangladesh Academy of Sciences; Southeast University
Sevket Ruacan	Turkish Academy of Sciences
Secretary General	
M. Qasim Jan	Pakistan Academy of Sciences
Treasurer	
Soo Woo Nam	The Korean Academy of Science and Technology
Board Members	
Hassan Zohoor	The Academy of Sciences of IR Iran
Chau Van Minh	Vietnamese Academy of Science and Technology
Norovyn Altansukh	Mongolian Academy of Sciences
Ahmad Zaidee Laidin	Academy of Sciences Malaysia
Executive Director	

Sung-Chul Shin

The Korean Academy of Science and Technology (KAST)

Member Academies

Academy of Sciences of Afghanistan National Academy of Sciences of Armenia Azerbaijan National Academy of Sciences Bangladesh Academy of Sciences Chinese Academy of Sciences Georgian Academy of Sciences Indonesian Academy of Sciences The Academy of Sciences of IR Iran Israel Academy of Sciences and Humanities National Academy of Sciences of Republic of Kazakhstan The Korean Academy of Science and Technology National Academy of Sciences of the Kyrgyz Republic Academy of Sciences Malaysia Mongolian Academy of Sciences Nepal Academy of Science and Technology Pakistan Academy of Sciences National Academy of Science and Technology, Philippines Siberian Branch of the Russian Academy of Sciences National Academy of Sciences of Sri Lanka Academy of Sciences of the Republic of Tajikistan Thai Academy of Science and Technology Turkish Academy of Sciences Academy of Sciences of Uzbekistan Vietnamese Academy of Science and Technology

Associate Members

The Royal Scientific Society, Jordan King Abdulaziz City for Science and Technology

Project Team of "Sustainable Development in Asia" of the AASA

Project Co-Chairs Yi Wang

Namık K. Aras

Institute of Policy and Management, CAS Turkish Academy of Sciences

Group Coordinators

Energy Luguang Yan Institute of Electrical Engineering, CAS Seung Mo Oh Seoul National University **Environment and Climate Change** Gensuo Jia Institute of Atmospheric Physics, CAS Woojin Lee Korea Advanced Institute of Science and Technology Natural Resources Lei Shen Institute of Geographic Sciences and Natural Resources Research, CAS Cahit Helvacı Geology Department, Dokuz Eylül University Culture Baichun Zhang Institute for the History of Natural Science, CAS Mehmet Özdogan Prehistory Section, University of Istanbul Andrei V. Tabarev Russia Institute of Archaeology & Ethnography

Project Office

Zhenyu Wang	Bureau of International Cooperation, CAS
Shaofeng Chen	Institute of Policy and Management, CAS
Yu Chen	Bureau of International C ooperation, CAS
Weiwei Liu	Bureau of CAS Membership, CAS
Mingqi Pan	Institute of Policy and Management, CAS

Thematic Report of the AASA Project "Sustainable Development in Asia"

TOWARDS A SUSTAINABLE ASIA: ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE CHANGE

Lead Authors

Gensuo Jia Congbin Fu Yaozhi Zhou Xia Li Institute of Atmospheric Physics, CAS, China Institute of Atmospheric Physics, CAS, China Institute of Atmospheric Physics, CAS, China Policy Research Center for Environment and Economy, Ministry of Environmental Protection, China

Korea Advanced Institute of Science and Technology,

Policy Research Center for Environment and Economy,

Contributors

Woojin Lee

Hui Wang

	Ministry of Environmental Protection, China
Hao Gao	CAS, China
Anzhi Zhang	CAS, China
Yonghong Hu	CAS, China
Thu Phuong Tran	Vietnam National University, Vietnam
Alper Baba	İzmir Institute of Technology, Turkey
Tamara Khodzher	Russian Academy of Sciences Siberia Branch, Russia

Rep. of Korea

Reviewers

Namık K. Aras	Τι
Muhammad Arif Rashid Goheer	G
Harsh Gupta	N
Oktay Kerimov	N
Mohammad Shahedi	Tl
Xuefeng Sun	М
Chuluun Togtoyhn	N
Yi Wang	In
Jinhua Zhang	U

Turkish Academy of Sciences, Turkey Global Change Impact Studies Center, Pakistan National Geophysical Research Institute, India National Academy of Science, Azerbaijan The Academy of Sciences of IR Iran, Iran Ministry of Environmental Protection, China National University of Mongolia, Mongolia Institute of Policy and Management, CAS, China UNEP

Abbreviations

AASA	Association of Academies of Sciences in Asia
ADB	Asian Development Bank
AEC	Asian Economic Community
APSC	ASEAN Political and Security Community
ASCC	ASEAN Socio-Cultural Community
ASEAN	Association of Southeast Asian Nations
BYD	Build Your Dreams
CACE	China-ASEAN Cooperation Center for Environmental Protection
CDM	Clean Development Mechanism
CEP-BCI	Core Environment Program and Biodiversity
	Conservation Corridors Initiative
CH_4	methane
CLRTAP	Convention on Long-Range Transboundary Air Pollution
СО	carbon monoxide
CO ₂	carbon dioxide
CTI	Coral Triangle Initiative
EANET	Acid Deposition Monitoring Network in East Asia
EAS	East Asia Summit
E-HII	estimated heat island intensity
EMM	Environment Ministers Meeting
ENSO	El Niño-Southern Oscillation
EPA	Environmental Performance Assessments
EST	environmentally sound technology
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
GEO-4	The Fourth Global Environment Outlook
GHG	greenhouse gas
GLIMS	Global Land Ice Measurements from Space
GMS	Greater Mekong Subregion Cooperation
HII	heat island intensity
IAI	Initiative for ASEAN Integration
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
IPCC AR4	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, The
	Fourth Assessment Report
IUCN	International Union for Conservation of Nature
IWRM	Integrated Water Resources Management

MDG	Millennium Development Goals
MEP	Ministry of Environmental Protection of the
	People's Republic of China
NASA	The National Aeronautics and Space Administration
NEASPEC	North-East Asian Subregional Programme for
	Environmental Cooperation
NGO	non-governmental organization
NO _x	nitrogen oxide
N ₂ O	nitrous oxide
NSEC	North South Economic Corridor
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
	Development
PDP	Power Development Plan
PM _{2.5}	fine particulate matter
PM ₁₀	particulate matter < 10µm
RAINS-Asia	Regional Air pollution INtegration and Simulation-Asia
RPTCC	Regional Power Trade Coordinating Committee SEA
SEA	Strategic Environmental Assessments
SGD	Submarine Groundwater Discharge
SMCA	Spatial Multi-Criteria Analysis
SO_2	sulfur dioxide
SRES	Special Report on Emissions Scenarios
SST	sea surface temperatures
TAR	Third Assessment Report
TEMM	Tripartite Environment Ministers Meeting
UHI	urban heat island
UN	United Nations
UNCCD	United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification
UNEP	United Nations Environment Programme
UNESCAP	United Nations Economic and Social Commission
	for Asia and the Pacific
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on
	Climate Change
UNIDO	United Nations Industrial Development Organization
UNSD	United National Statistical Data
UNSO	United Nations Statistical Office
USD	United States dollar
WDI	World Development Indicators
WHO	World Health Organization

Foreword

Asia is not only the largest and most populated continent in the world, but also the region with the most diverse development models and most dynamic economies. In the past half century, Asia has been witnessing rapid economic growth and playing an increasingly more important role in world's political and economic arena. At the same time, Asia has developed the commonly-called "Asia Model", which has attracted worldwide attention. The Asia Model shows a new way for the developing nations or late-development countries on how to realize industrialization and modernization. All these achievements are made by Asian countries with a focus on the advantages of their late development, reexamination of their internal cultural values, active absorption of modern S&T and management experiences and constant exploration and innovation.

These social progresses have made great contributions to the realization of the UN Millennium Development Goals and have played a pioneering and demonstration role on what can be accomplished in today's world. However, Asia is facing big challenges. The most prominent one is that the rapid development of Asian economies is based on large input of production factors at the huge expense of natural resources and environment, which has been sharpening the conflicts in population, resources, environment, socio-economic development. The sustainable development in the region is being severely threatened and challenged. The rethinking and questioning of the Asia Model in the international community is growing especially in the era of post Asia Financial Crisis and Global Financial Crisis.

It is not only a common challenge for the governments of Asian countries, but also a common task for the Asian scientific communities to cope with the resources and environment crisis and to seek a new way of sustainable development in Asia. AASA, as a non-governmental and regional international scientific organization with 26 member academies, is mandated to initiate and conduct investigation on issues concerning S&T, economic and social development. As early as April 2007, AASA proposed to initiate a project on "Sustainable Development in Asia" (SDA) within AASA framework in the hopes to provide consultation and advice for national and regional governments in Asia and relative international organizations. This study proposal was approved at AASA board meeting held in Russia in August 2007 with the Chinese Academy of Sciences as the initiator. The project covers environment, energy, resources and culture with the establishment of four working groups among AASA member academies.

Soon after, the SDA project was officially launched and implemented at different levels. The efforts include the clarification of the research content, emphasis, structure and division of tasks. Various meetings at the working level and international workshops have been held to coordinate the research activities and project progress: the first international workshop under this project was held in February 2008; the AASA Workshop on Sustainable Energy Development in Asia in November 2008; the AASA Workshop on Agricultural Culture and Asian Sustainable Development in August 2009; and the AASA Workshop on Environment and Resources in September 2009.

With the joint efforts of AASA member academies, the SDA project has now come up with a series of studies including four thematic reports, namely, "Towards a Sustainable Asia: Energy", "Towards a Sustainable Asia: Environment and Climate Change", "Towards a Sustainable Asia: Natural Resources", and "Towards a Sustainable Asia: The Cultural Perspectives". Based on these four reports, a synthesis report has also been written entitled: "Toward a Sustainable Asia: Green Transition and Innovation". All these reports have looked deeply into the common issues and challenges for the Asian sustainable development from different perspectives.

The synthesis report is an integration and extension of the four thematic reports. It aims at the major resource and environmental challenges and issues in Asia in the general context of the challenges of financial crisis and climate change, and in line with green transition and innovation in Asia. Of its major findings, it includes: the diagnosis of key resource and environmental issues in Asia, such as water, minerals, land resource, environmental pollution, ecodegradation, energy and environment and climate change, the revelation and reflection of the diverse, different, complicated and severe nature of resource and environmental issues in Asia, the systematic analysis of the main driving forces and future trends of resource and environmental changes in Asia, the empirical analysis and discretion of current evolution of the relationship between environment and development in Asia with the establishment of theoretical and conceptual models, the initiation of principals, strategic framework, focus and advice for promoting the green development of Asia on the basis of summarizing Asia's advantages and disadvantages.

The synthesis report differs from other similar reports. It focuses more on the combination of theoretical and empirical research in the evolution of environment and development, on the combination of trends analysis in time series and comparative study at spatial scale, and on the combination of Asia's integrated analysis and regional and national differences. Besides, attempts have been made here on the innovative modeling of the evolutionary and theoretical relationship between environment and development, analysis of the driving forces in environmental evolution, and utilization of newly developed composite index to conduct empirical research of Asia's environment and development relation in the evolution.

We hope the reports will be of good value to the facilitation of the green development in Asia, providing advice on dealing with the shortage of conventional resources, environment pollution and climate change, fostering new economic growth and enhancing Asia's competitive advantages. This is the first time that AASA has ever undertaken such a study, and it surely leaves grounds for more detailed study and analysis of various issues and challenges that Asian countries face in the future.

The SDA project is sponsored by AASA. I want to give my special thanks to all AASA member academies for their consistent support, advice and assistance, without which, the accomplishment of such an internationally interdisciplinary scientific project would be impossible. My thanks also go to all the members in the working groups, especially Professors Namik Aras and Yi Wang, co-chairs of this study, without whom, efficiency and quality of the study would not be guaranteed. I also need to thank United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), InterAcademy Council (IAC) and InterAcademy Panel (IAP) etc. for providing us the references and various advice and inspirations. Last but not the least, I want to express my thanks to all friends and the institutions that have rendered us encouragement and assistance all the way along.

The SDA project features with a wide range of fields and a huge amount of data, some of which are still in their early stage of development. Any comments or suggestions from our friends and various international institutions are warmly appreciated.

Prof. Jinghai Li President The Association of Academies of Sciences in Asia (AASA) September 20, 2010

Preface

Diverse landscape and culture, dense population, rapid economic growth, world manufacturer center, ..., those are all about Asia, the most economically dynamic region in the world. In the past two decades, most Asia countries have experienced major booming in industrial and agricultural production, along with fundamental changes in lifestyle and consumption patterns. While Asian countries produce more and higher quality products for world markets, more people than any other continent have walked out of the shadow of poverty. However, environmental change and deterioration are also highly evident as Asia regional economy continued to grow at a high rate. Under combined pressure of climatic change and human disturbances, the natural environment in Asia has been steadily degrading, which compromises the future development and the livelihood of its 3.8 billion residents. Meanwhile, share of Asian developing countries to global GHG emissions is rising rapidly. Impacts of climate change are especially visible in Asian various sectors including agriculture, forestry, biodiversity conservation, water resources, human health, air quality, energy security, etc. Impacts of climate change in Asia are already serious, and will very likely further worsen in future. Environmental sustainability is under serious threat.

This report of the Association of Academies of Sciences in Asia (AASA) aims to investigate the common environmental problems that threaten human livelihood and compromise sustainable future in Asia where we are in the same boat facing global climate change and environmental degradation. This report intends to provide governments and general public with up-to-date information on ongoing and future environmental changes, with guidelines of best practices of adaptation and mitigation by scaling-up of useful local and national experiences to regional level, and with regional overview/recommendations of environmental policies. It is designed to cover the entire continent, with four foci units: coastal Asia, dryland Asia, highland Asia, and urban Asia. The report of environment and climate change covers the following schemes:

• Environment states and trends: current situations and recent changes of key environmental issues and regional climate change over entire Asia, along with specific problems/solutions over the foci units.

• Best practices for environment improvement and climate change adaptation as scaling-up of useful local and national experiences to regional

level.

• National and regional overview of environmental policies and recommendations for policy options for mitigating climate change and major environmental problems to achieve sustainability in Asia.

AASA Sustainable Development in Asia Project was established in 2007 to investigate common issues related to natural resources, energy, the environment and climate change, and culture from particular perspectives of agriculture. This report summarizes the key findings from the environment and climate change component of the project. It also reflects the outcomes of two AASA project workshops held in Beijing, China (February 2008) and İzmir, Turkey (September 2009) respectively.

Study Group on Environment and Climate Change

August 2010

Contents

1	Εn	rironmental Issues in Asia: States and Trends 1
	1.1	Key environmental issues in Asia: a big picture
	1.2	Atmosphere 4
	1.3	Water
	1.4	Regional climate change ······16
	1.5	Climate extremes and natural disasters24
_	-	
2	Ser	isitivity and Vulnerability Across Asia—Ecoregional Perspective 30
	2.1	Dryland (Arid and semi-arid areas)
	2.2	Highland areas ····································
	2.3	Coastal areas 45
	2.4	Urban areas ······53
_		
3	Cha	allenges and Opportunities for Better Environment
	3.1	Key problems 64
	3.2	Responses and actions from various sectors
	3.3	Solution and strategies based on local knowledge
4	Env Sus	vironmental and Climate Change Policies Towards stainability
	4.1	Overview of national regulations and regional cooperation

4.2	Lessons and pr	ogresses from past decade ·····	· 90
4.3	Going forward		· 91
Reference	es ·····		98

Figures

Figure 1.1	Geographic features and sub-regions of Asia, showing spatial coverage of this report (Image designed by Hao Gao & Gensuo Jia with ESRI and NASA data)
Figure 1.2	Emissions of NO _x , sulfur dioxide, and carbon dioxide from Asia countries (Source: Kawase, 2007)5
Figure 1.3	Annual average PM ₁₀ concentrations observed in selected cities of Asia (Source: WHO, 2006)7
Figure 1.4	Annual average sulfur dioxide concentrations in 2000-2005 reported from selected cities of Asia (Source: WHO, 2006) ··· 8
Figure 1.5	Annual average nitrogen dioxide concentrations in 2000- 2005 reported from selected cities of Asia (Source: WHO, 2006) ····· 9
Figure 1.6	Asian brown cloud has accelerated melting of alpine glaciers on the Tibetan Plateau (Source: Xu et al., 2009)11
Figure 1.7	Trend of annual pH of precipitation (2000-2007) (Source: Second EANET Report for Policy Makers: Clean Air for A Sustainable Future, 2009)
Figure 1.8	Distribution of average annual wet deposition of $nss-SO_4^{2-}$ and NO_3^{-} for 2000-2007 (Source: Second EANET Report for Policy Makers: Clean Air for a Sustainable Future, 2009)

Figure 1.9	Water shortage and pollution in Asia (Photo credit: Gensuo Jia)
Figure 1.10	Changes in temperature, sea level and Northern Hemi- sphere snow cover. Observed changes in: (a) global average surface temperature; (b) global average sea level from tide gauge (blue) and satellite (red) data and (c) Northern Hemisphere snow cover for March-April. All differences are relative to corresponding averages for the period 1961-1990. Smoothed curves represent decadal averaged values (Source: Solomon et al., 2007)
Figure 1.11	Global sea level and thermal expansion from 1993-2003 (Source: Solomon et al., 2007)
Figure 1.12	Per capita emissions of carbon dioxide over selected countries in 2006 (Source: IEA, 2009)
Figure 1.13	The most recent extreme events occurred in Asia (Source: UNEP, 2007, modified)
Figure 1.14	Natural catastrophes worldwide 1980-2008 number of events (Source: natural catastrophe review, 2008) ··· 26
Figure 1.15	Share of global natural disaster damages in Asia,1975- 2005 (Source: ADRC-Natural Disasters Data Book 2005)
Figure 2.1	Four types of ecoregions in Asia: dryland (light pink), highland (see terra), urban (red patches), and coastal areas (blue belts). Note that only part of Asia is shown to represent those types. Image is designed by Hao Gao & Gensuo Jia based on land cover (NASA, 2009) and DEM (USGS, 2000) … 30
Figure 2.2	Vast arid areas in west China and Mongolia featured with sparse shrubs and graves, as seen in the field (a) and from satellite (b) (Credit: (a) Gensuo Jia; (b) NASA)

Figures

Figure 2.3	Severe drought in north and northeast China in summer 2009 as indicated by comparing soil moisture between 2009 and 2003-2008 average with integrated aqua/ AMSR-E and field soil moisture. Analyzed by Anzhi Zhang and Gensuo Jia with NASA data
Figure 2.4	Expansion of sandy desert along edge of the Tengger Desert, as seen in the field (a) and from satellite (b) (Credit: (a) Gensuo Jia; (b) Digital Globe)
Figure 2.5	Asia mountain ecosystems are vulnerable to soil erosion and loss of biodiversity (Photo credit: (a) Gensuo Jia; (b) Xia Li) 40
Figure 2.6	Alpine eco-tourism and snow/glaciers at the Tianshan Mountain near Almaty, Kazakhstan (Photo credit: Gensuo Jia) 42
Figure 2.7	Coastal land use and development in Asia (Photo credit: (a) Xia Li; (b) Gensuo Jia)
Figure 2.8	Pair of satellite images of the Banda Aceh shoreline in In- donesia before and after the 2004 tsunami (Source: Digital Globe) 49
Figure 2.9	Rapid declining of mangrove forest along the coasts near China-Vietnam boarder, largely driven by land use modifi- cation (Photo credit: Xia Li)
Figure 2.10	Dense human population and intense urbanization in East Asia, South Asia, and Southeast Asia as detected from satellite. White-yellow areas represent urban areas, while concentrated bright patches are major cities (Source: NASA/US Defense Meteorological Satellite Program (DMSP), 2006)
	Variation in estimated heat island intensity in large Asian
Figure 2.11	cities (Source: Kataoka, 2009)

Figure 2.12	Remotely sensed thermal infrared data have demonstrat- ed the land surface temperature can get 2.5°C higher in city center than nearby green areas in east China. Image processed by Yonghong Hu and Gensuo Jia with NASA MODIS data
Figure 2.13	Change in groundwater level and amount of subsidence over selected Asia cities in past 20-80 years (Source: Taniguchi et al., 2008)
Figure 2.14	Municipal solid waste generation for selected large cities in Asia (Source: UNEP/GRID-Arendal Chart Database (2005). Credit: Philippe Rekacewicz, UNEP/GRID-Arendal) 61
Figure 2.15	Transboundary dumping of e-waste into Asia (Source: UNEP/GRID -Arendal Chart Database (2005)) (Credit: Philippe Rekacewicz, UNEP/GRID-Arendal)
Figure 3.1	Decadal trends of per capita GDP at current prices among Asia sub-regions from 1970 to 2008. Designed by Yaozhi Zhou based on UN data (Source: UN, 2009)
Figure 3.2	Statistical and predicted percentage of Asian population residing in urban areas from 1950 to 2050. Designed by Yaozhi Zhou based on UN data (Source: UN, 2009)
Figure 3.3	Global anthropogenic GHG emissions (Source: Solomon et al., 2007)
Figure 3.4	NEWater: reclamation of water from waste and sewerage (Source: Ho, 2008)
Figure 3.5	Conservation of natural forests and development of urban forests in China (Photo credit: Gensuo Jia)

Figures

Figure 3.6	Schematic summary of main pathways by which climate change affects population health (Source: McMichael et al., 2006)
Figure 4.1	Development of green transportation in Asia cities (Photo credit: Gensuo Jia)
Figure 4.2	Hot spots of key future climate impacts and vulnerabili- ties in Asia (modified from IPCC, 2007) (Source: Cruz et al., 2007)

Tables

Table 1.1	Summary of key observed past and present climate trend and variability in Asia	s 21
Table 1.2	Impacts and Vulnerabilities of Asia community to Climate Change	27
Table 2.1	Predicted hydrological responses of 10 rivers in the Great Himalayan region to climate change	ter 44
Table 2.2	Information on GDP, waste quantity for some Asian economies	62
Table 3.1	Vulnerabilities of key sectors for the subcontinental region of Asia	ıs 68
Table 3.2	Adaptation Options	70

Boxes

Box 1.1	Atmospheric pollutants and greenhouse gases 2
Box 2.1	Schematic summary of impacts of climate change and trends of environment on four sensitive ecoregions in Asia 31
Box 3.1	The Environmental Kuznets Curve

Environmental Issues in Asia: States and Trends

1.1 Key environmental issues in Asia: a big picture

In the past 2-3 decades, growth in industrial and agricultural production in Asian countries has created a miracle to the world. However, environmental deterioration has also been accelerated in the period. Under combined pressure of climatic change and human disturbances, the natural environment in Asia(Figure 1.1) has been steadily degrading, especially indicated by worsening urban traffic and air pollution, water pollution and scarcity, and land degradation. Poverty and lack of infrastructure are major challenges preventing Asia from improving environment, therefore, Asian developing countries, especially the least developed countries face the most critical challenges.



Figure 1.1 Geographic features and sub-regions of Asia, showing spatial coverage of this report (Image designed by Hao Gao & Gensuo Jia with ESRI and NASA data)

Air pollution, water pollution, and solid waste remain to be the fundamental and growing environmental issues across the continent. Municipal waste burdens are growing as incomes and thus consumption rise. Acid rain persists in East Asia and causes severe dieback and wildfires in natural forest, wastes from mineral extraction are accumulating in dryland areas and further threaten water supplies, and climate change processes are becoming more evident as air temperature steadily increases and extreme climate events such as heat wave, drought, rainstorm/flood become more frequent and intensified. Traditional and cultural attitudes to consumption and waste are rapidly changing as some societies and youth cultures enter the global consumption mainstream and urban centers expand.

Box 1.1 Atmospheric pollutants and greenhouse gases

The atmosphere is a thin shell of gases, particles and clouds surrounding the planet. It is in this thin shell that we are dumping several billion tons of pollutants each year. The major sources of this pollution include fossil fuel combustion for power generation and transportation; cooking with solid fuels; and burning of forests and woodland. The ultimate by-product of all forms of burning is the emission of carbon dioxide (CO₂), the key greenhouse gas. But there are also products of incomplete combustion, such as CO and NO_x, which can react with other gaseous species in the atmosphere. The net effect of these reactions is to produce ozone, another greenhouse gas. Energy consumption also leads to aerosol precursor gases (e.g., SO₂) and primary aerosols in the atmosphere, which have direct negative impacts on human health and ecosystems. Clean air is one of the basic requirements of human health and well-being. However, during the process of economic development, air pollution has been and continues to be a significant health hazard in Asia.

The new emerging economies of Asia developing countries are shouldering an increasingly greater share of regional and global environmental burdens. While global industrial production centers gradually moved into Asia, highly polluting industries are growing more rapidly in Asia developing countries than in regional developed countries. Some of the fastest growing industries in Asian developing countries are, in the absence of high corporate environmental performance and effective national pollution control policy, likely to produce relatively highly toxic waste. Hazardous waste production, management and trade are also growing challenges.

Rapidly expanding industries in Asia developing countries are often featured with high energy and water intensity. Fast-growing energy intensive industrial subsectors include the production of transport equipment, crude steel, chemicals, petroleum and rubber and plastic products. Water is an increasingly scarce resource in many countries, but the efficiency of water use, or water resources saving in the industrial sector have not been fully considered by the authorities and manufacturers.

The emission of air pollutants in a broad sense caused by human activity is a prime cause of climate change and the variation in atmospheric composition. These are increasingly becoming important issue concerning the global environment. Contribution of Asian countries on world CO_2 emissions has increased from 9% in 1973 to nearly 30% in 2009. Four of the eight largest carbon dioxide emitting countries (China, India, Japan, and Republic of Korea) are in Asia. Therefore, there is increasing pressure for low carbon development in Asia.

Changes of air pollution, water pollution, and land degradation in past decades are significant, and in most cases, the trends are worsening. Rapid industrial development with often low energy efficiency and steadily increases in urban traffic are major contributors to the worsening air pollution in Asia urban and coastal regions, while rivers and lakes are contaminated by pollutants and resource use from point and non-point sources. Inland regions, including central and west Asia, Mongolia, and western China are suffering from intensified land degradation, driven by both climate change and increasing human pressure on drylands.

Generally speaking, key environmental issues in Asia are identified as:

Air Pollution. Air pollution is probably the most serious problem in Asia developing countries, especially in major cities. The most familiar impact of the air pollution to the environment is particulate matters, sulfur dioxide, greenhouse gases, the ozone depletion substances, acid deposit, Asian brown cloud, and mercury pollution, etc. Most city dwellers in Asian developing countries are threatened by air pollution.

Water Crisis. Southeast Asia, East Asia, South Asia are facing unprecedented crisis of water resource in 2010. Because of the extreme weather conditions, the Mekong river basin, the sixth longest river in the world, unexpectedly faced the risk of the flow cutoff. The Asian Development Bank (ADB, 2007) recently projected that the developing countries in Asia may face even more serious water crisis in 10 years due to insufficient water resource management.

Biodiversity Declining. 2010 is the International Year of Biodiversity. Biodiversity is closely related to destiny of human in Asian countries, and therefore, we will have to face the problem of its declining together. Although Asia is rich in biodiversity, the biodiversity of Asia is facing unprecedented threat by the rapid economic development. Major threats include disappearing of primary forests, grassland degradation, loss of wildlife habitats, commercial harvesting of wild plants and animals, and landscape fragmentation. There were 12 species of endangered mollusks in Malaysia added to the red list of endangered species of International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN). Deforestation caused by commercial timber processing has threatened wildlife habitats in Asian tropical rain forests, and even mangrove. If current rate of deforestation continues to the end of the century, Southeast Asia will lose 3/4 of

the forests and hundreds of rare species of vascular plants, mammals and birds.

Municipal waste and illegal transboundary movement of waste. Environment problem stemming from waste has already become the main obstacle for the sustainable development of Asian countries. While the production and disposition of waste in Asian cities remain unresolved, the major economies in Asia such as China, India and ASEAN countries have become the destinations of illegal transboundary movement of waste. Especially, air and water pollution caused by illegal transboundary movement of electronics garbage is becoming a serious problem in many Asian countries. Many Asian developing countries are becoming a key destination of international electronic waste.

Desertification and Sandstorm. From the eroded hill in Nepal to expanding desert in China, India and Pakistan, the land deterioration caused by climate change and human activities in Asia is serious than any other continents. Most arid and semi-arid regions in Asia are facing the desertification and becoming main sources of dust storms. According to the report of China Meteorological Bureau, the total amount of dust of Asia approximately reaches 800 million tons per year. It is approximately half of global dust releasing. The countries deeply affected by dust have started to take actions. The projects of sandstorm in the Tripartite Environment Ministers Meeting (TEMM) and North-East Asian Subregional Programme for Environmental Cooperation (NEASPEC) are among the most important regional cooperation.

Marine Environment. Marine pollution from land-based sources has become a major environmental problem in Asia. Because 90% of the sewage is not processed and directly dumped into sea, marine environment is worsening and the coastal fishing industries have been affected. Land-based impacts, such as unprocessed sewage, soil erosion and sediment down stream transport, increasing use of pesticide, and the development in coastal areas are among the main threats to marine environments.

1.2 Atmosphere

As mentioned above, atmosphere and water quality are the most important environmental issues at regional scale in Asia. In the past 10-30 years rapid economic growth and industrialization in most Asian countries have damp millions of tons of various pollutants into atmosphere and water bodies. Those pollutants are often redistributed over the regions by circulations and river flows and become regional problems.

Urban and densely populated areas are often blamed as major sources of environmental pollution. More than half of the world's population live in urban areas in Asia. Urban air pollution in most Asian mega-cities (with a population of more than ten million) such as Beijing, Delhi and Jakarta has worsened due to the cumulative effects of population growth, industrialization and increased vehicle use. The health consequences of exposure to polluted air are considerable-approximately 20—30 percent of all respiratory diseases appear to be caused by air pollution.

The exposure of human and environment to air pollution becomes an important challenge and it is also a global public health problem. The most familiar impact of the air pollution to the environment is particulate matters, sulfur dioxide, greenhouse gases, the ozone depletion substances, acid deposit, Asian brown cloud, and mercury pollution, etc. (Figure 1.2) Many people in Asia still suffer from serious air pollutants.



Figure 1.2 Emissions of NO_x, sulfur dioxide, and carbon dioxide from Asia countries (Source: Kawase, 2007)

1.2.1 PM_{2.5}

Particles less than 2.5 micrometers in diameter $(PM_{2.5})$ are referred to as "fine" particles and are believed to pose the greatest health risks. Because of their small size fine particles can lodge deeply into the lungs. Particulate matter, or PM, is the term for particles found in the air, including dust, dirt, soot, smoke, and liquid droplets. Particles can be suspended in the air for long periods of time. Some particles are large or dark enough to be seen as soot or smoke. Others are so small that individually they can only be detected with an electron microscope.

Sources of fine particles include all types of combustion activities (motor vehicles, power plants, wood burning, etc.) and certain industrial processes. Other particles may be formed in the air from the chemical change of gases. They are indirectly formed when gases from burning fuels react with sunlight and water vapor. These can result from fuel combustion in motor vehicles, at power plants, and in other industrial processes.

One group at high risk is active children because they often spend a lot of time playing outdoors and their bodies are still developing. In addition, oftentimes the elderly population is at risk. People of all ages who are active outdoors are at increased risk because, during physical activity, $PM_{2.5}$ penetrates deeper into the parts of the lungs that are more vulnerable to injury.

In China, $PM_{2.5}$ has not been incorporated into the monitoring index system. But it has raised attention of the government. When determining the monitoring index of atmospheric environment and control target of main atmospheric pollutants, the government makes great effort to improve the accuracy and rationality. Now some cities such as Chongqing, Qingdao added the monitoring of $PM_{2.5}$.

1.2.2 PM₁₀ or respirable particulate matter

At present, the most frequently used indicator for suspended particles in the air is PM_{10} (particles with an aerodynamic diameter <10 µm). An overview of typical annual average PM_{10} concentrations in selected cities in Asia countries are presented in Figure 1.3. The data from those major cities demonstrated that the general levels of suspended particles in Asia are relatively high. The annual average PM_{10} concentrations in the selected Asian cities ranged from about 35 µg/m³ to 220 µg/m³, while in Europe and North America the typical range of annual average PM_{10} concentrations was 15-60 µg/m³ (World Health Organization, 2006).

At regional scale, the highest concentrations of PM_{10} were reported from Asia (World Health Organization, 2006). This region also experiences relatively high background concentrations owing to forest fires and local emissions of particles from the use of low-quality fuels. A well-known springtime meteorological phenomenon throughout East Asia, causing the Asian dust cloud, originates from windblown dust from the deserts of Mongolia and China and adds to the



Figure 1.3 Annual average PM₁₀ concentrations observed in selected cities of Asia (Source: WHO, 2006)

general level of PM_{10} in the region. Many Asian cities experience very high airborne particle concentrations due to primary particles emitted from coal and biomass combustion and motor vehicle exhaust, as well as secondary sulfates formed by atmospheric chemical reaction from the sulfur dioxide emitted from coal burning.

1.2.3 Sulfur dioxide

Due to decade-long international efforts, levels of sulfur dioxide have decreased markedly in most of Europe and North America and in many locations in Asia as well. The improvement in many Asia countries in the last few decades has been driven by various national and international regulations, including the Protocols under the Convention on Long-range Transboundary Air Pollution.

An overview of typical annual average sulfur dioxide concentrations reported from selected cities of Asia, based on data from 2000-2005, is presented in Figure 1.4. About half of the cities had annual average concentrations of sulfur dioxide over 20 μ g/m³, while about 15% of the cities exceeded a level of 50 μ g/m³ (World Health Organization, 2006).



Figure 1.4 Annual average sulfur dioxide concentrations in 2000-2005 reported from selected cities of Asia (Source: WHO, 2006)

The highest sulfur dioxide concentrations were recorded in some of the megacities in Asia developing countries, although some large urban areas have fairly low concentrations. In February 2005, New Delhi reported weekly average concentrations of $5-10\mu g/m^3$, while Jakarta reported between $4 \mu g/m^3$ and $24 \mu g/m^3$ (Sofyan et al., 2005). Sulfur dioxide levels that are already high in some cities of Asia may increase further, largely related to use of coal as main energy source. Sulfur dioxide pollutant concentrations are generally higher in northern Chinese cities than in the south. The average sulfur dioxide concentration in 2002 was $5 2\mu g/m^3$ (Hao and Wang, 2005). The national average sulfur dioxide concentrations above $60\mu g/m^3$, and 22% of cities recorded annual average concentrations above $60\mu g/m^3$. While typical annual average concentrations of sulfur dioxide in urban areas in developing countries were 40-80 $\mu g/m^3$, the levels in North America and Europe were $10-30\mu g/m^3$ in recent decades.

1.2.4 Nitrogen dioxide

The principal sources of nitrogen dioxide are traffic and to a lesser extent industry, shipping and households. High nitrogen dioxide levels, combined with ultrafine particles and other oxidants, have become one of the major air pollution problems in urban areas all over the world. Nitrogen oxides are one of the main components of the mixture of pollutants classically referred to as "photochemical smog".

Rural background concentrations of nitrogen dioxide in industrialized countries have been measured at around 15-30 μ g/m³. In the past five years, nitrogen dioxide concentrations exceeded 40 μ g/m³ over many of the large cities in Asia. Short-term nitrogen dioxide concentrations may vary considerably within cities and from time to time during the day and night. Also, average concentrations depend on the distance of the measurement site from main roads. Figure 1.5 summarizes the annual average nitrogen dioxide concentrations measured in selected cities in Asia.



Figure 1.5 Annual average nitrogen dioxide concentrations in 2000-2005 reported from selected cities of Asia (Source: WHO, 2006)

Annual average nitrogen dioxide concentrations in Asian cities typically lie in the range 23-74 μ g/m³. In 2002, the average concentration in Calcutta was 77 μ g/m³ and in New Delhi was 49 μ g/m³ (World Bank, 2005). Typical concentrations measured in New Delhi in February 2005 were 31-83 μ g/m³. In Jakarta, average nitrogen dioxide concentration mapped using passive samplers showed levels of 20-70 μ g/m³ as a weekly average (Sofyan et al., 2005). The peak daily concentration was 446 μ g/m³.

1.2.5 Asian brown cloud

Asian brown cloud is a layer of air pollution that appears as a giant brown stain hanging in the air over parts of South Asia, namely the northern Indian Ocean, India, and Pakistan every spring. It refers to plums of brown haze about three kilometers thick, an area of about 1,000 square kilometers was first discovered in early 1990s over the region. It is created by a range of airborne particles and pollutants from combustion (e.g. wildfire, traffic, and factories), biomass burning and industrial processes with incomplete burning (Gustafsson et al., 2009). Its main components are carbon aerosols, sulfate, nitrate, organic particles, fly ash and mineral grains, high concentrations of carbon monoxide and various organic sulfur dioxide, gas compounds, etc.

The brown cloud is accumulated by the vehicle exhaust and industrial pollution in some big cities of South Asia, the forest fires and millions of inefficient cooker burning wood or cow muck in Indonesia and increasing pollution (Ramanathan, 2003). Atmospheric pollutants which are often gathered over tens of thousands, hundreds of thousands of area of square kilometers in China's north district, Yangtze River delta and Pearl River delta and Sichuan basin, etc., are similar to atmospheric brown cloud. Such formation of massive pollutant is closely related with weather and emission of atmospheric pollutants. Asian brown cloud is associated with the winter monsoon (November/December to April) during which there is no rain to wash pollutants from the air. It is hardly to be ignored for it is a serious threat to the air quality of Asia.

The major impacts of Asia brown cloud include threats on human health, Changes of rainfall patterns with the Asian monsoon, increase in rainfall over certain areas, retreat of the Hindu Kush-Himalayan glaciers and snow packs, and decrease of crop harvests (Ramanathan et al., 2005; Ramanathan, 2008). Meanwhile, the brown clouds may have masked 20-80 percent of greenhouse gas forcing in the past century (Ramanathan, 2008). Clouds of pollution over the Indian Ocean appear to cause as much warming as greenhouse gases released by human activities. The comprehensive function of greenhouse gases and atmospheric brown cloud is claimed as the main reason for melting of Himalayan glaciers in the past fifty years (UNEP, 2007; Xu et al., 2009) (Figure 1.6).



Figure 1.6 Asian brown cloud has accelerated melting of alpine glaciers on the Tibetan Plateau (Source: Xu et al., 2009)

1.2.6 Acid deposit

Industry oriented acid deposit is another major environmental problem in Asia, especially in East Asia. East Asia is vast and characterized by considerable contrasts and differences. The regional geography and climatology have a substantial influence on the spatial and temporal distribution of acid deposition. Precipitation in the entire region is influenced by the Asian monsoon, which

causes alternating dry and rainy seasons in the subtropical and temperate regions. Tropical cyclones and typhoons also deliver a large amount of precipitation to these regions, mainly in summer and autumn.

Atmospheric arid deposition consists of both wet and dry components. In wet deposition, sulfuric acid and nitric acid were identified as the major acidifying species. Figure 1.7 shows the trend of annual pH of precipitation (2000-2007) at the monitoring sites in EANET countries, including Cambodia, China, Indonesia, Japan, Laos, Malaysia, Mongolia, Myanmar, Philippine, Republic of Korea, Russia, Thailand, and Vietnam. The lowest pH values observed were comparable with those in Europe and North America.



Figure 1.7 Trend of annual pH of precipitation (2000-2007) (Source: Second EANET Report for Policy Makers: Clean Air for A Sustainable Future, 2009)

Figure 1.8 shows the mean annual values of wet deposition of sulfate and nitrate ions from 2000 to 2007 at the same sites. Some sites in China receive high deposition of sulfate ions with relatively low precipitation amounts. High deposition of sulfate ion was also detected at several sites in Japan, Indonesia, Malaysia and the Philippines, but this was mainly due to the large amounts of precipitation. Large amounts of nitrate ions are deposited at the urban sites of Southeast Asia. Their annual deposition rates ranged widely reflecting the difference in precipitation in the region. The lowest levels of deposition were at remote sites in Mongolia, Russia Far East, Thailand and Japan, due to either low atmospheric concentrations or low precipitation levels.

The annual deposition rates of ammonium ions varied widely depending on the precipitation rate. Large deposition fluxes were observed in the northern


Figure 1.8 Distribution of average annual wet deposition of nss-SO₄²⁻ and NO₃⁻ for 2000-2007 (Source: Second EANET Report for Policy Makers: Clean Air for a Sustainable Future, 2009)

part of China due to their high concentrations in soil dust, followed by Southeast Asia, while low deposition rates were observed at sites in Russia Far East and Japan.

The amount of dry deposition is generally considered to be about the same level as that of wet deposition although it sometimes exceeds wet deposition levels, for example in arid and semi-arid areas. Air concentrations of sulfur dioxide ranged widely with higher concentrations found in or near the urban areas. The concentrations of gaseous nitric acid and nitrate particles were also higher at rural and urban areas than at remote sites.

1.3 Water

1.3.1 Water shortage

Comprising over 70% of the Earth surface, water is undoubtedly the most

precious natural resource that exists on our planet. Equitable and sustainable management of water resources is a major global challenge. About one third of the world's population lives in countries with moderate to high water stress with disproportionately high impacts on the poor. With current projected human population growth, industrial development and the expansion of irrigated agriculture in the next two decades, water demand will rise to levels that will make the task of providing water for human sustenance more difficult (Asia Society Leadership Group on Water Security, 2009).

Take the South Asian as an example. The South Asian countries are home to about one-fourth of the world population, but only contain about 4.5 percent (1,945 billion m³) of the world annual renewable water resources(43,659 billion m³). Except for Bhutan and Nepal, the percapita water availability in the region is less than the world average, with water use in this region being limited mainly to the agriculture sector. Almost 95 percent of the withdrawn water is consumed by the agriculture sector, a much larger proportion than the average global agricultural water use (70 percent). In contrast, the region generally exhibits very limited water use in the industrial and domestic sectors. The percentage of the population with sustainable access to improved sanitation facilities in South Asia is 39 percent (compared to the world average of 59 percent) (Babel and Wahid, 2008).

Climate change is likely to increase the frequency of extreme events like droughts and floods (Solomon et al., 2007) and introduce high levels of risks and uncertainties that the water industry may not be able to handle with confidence. Asian surface and underground water supplies are quickly exploited from feverish economic growth and a population of 3.8 billion. In recent years economic and social development have led to increasing water demand, and with the impact of global warming, drought and water scarcity are increasingly frequent. Drought ass already caused loss of agricultural yields and properties for many farmers, especially in semi-arid areas.

Agriculture is by far the biggest water user. The expansion of hydropower generation and irrigated agriculture, now happening mostly in developing countries, is vital for economic development and food production. However, the consequent changes in river flow and groundwater table have major negative impacts on freshwater and coastal ecosystems, as well as long-term water supply (ADB and Asia-Pacific Water Forum, 2007).

In addition to agricultural demands, pressures on water resources are compounded by physical alteration and destruction of wetland habitats, largely driven by urban and industrial development. Invasive species introduced to water bodies intentionally or inadvertently are also major concerns.

Modifications of the water cycle through irrigation works and water supply schemes have benefited society for centuries. However, the global impacts of human interventions in the water cycle, such as land use modification, urbanization, industrialization and water resources development, are likely to surpass those of recent or anticipated climate change, at least over next 2-3 decades.

1.3.2 Water pollution

Many Asia inland rivers and lakes as well as coastal water are seriously contaminated by pollutants from point and non-point sources. Point sources of pollution occur when harmful substances are emitted directly into a body of water. A nonpoint source delivers pollutants indirectly through environmental changes. Water pollution in Asian countries is largely caused by domestic sewage but is compounded by industrial wastes. Contamination of available water is a major health threat (Asia Society Leadership Group on Water Security, 2009). Comprehensive water resource management will be one of the most difficult issues in Asia in coming years. Such an approach must encompass water demands from industrial and agricultural as well as urban use. But unfortunately, Water quality management has mostly been a neglected issue in Asian developing countries. Wastewater collected from cities is often discharged to nearby rivers, lakes or oceans with little or no treatment, which heavily contaminates water bodies around urban centers and is already causing health and environmental problems.

The water crisis in Asia has caused hundreds of millions of people live without safe drinking water in this region. Because many developing countries within the area are short of necessary infrastructure and environmental management means, about half of people lack health facilities. While population increasing, quick urbanization, climate change and many other factors, bring the deterioration of water environmental quality.

One contributing factor to water crisis is massive and rapid urbanization (Reddy and Behera, 2006), such as that seen in megacities like Beijing, Dhākā, Jakarta, and Karāchi. Asia water scarcity will likely worsen with global warming in coming decades. Although groundwater resources are generally abundant and relatively safe for domestic purposes, depletion of groundwater resources has been an increasing problem in Asia (Figure 1.9). Uncontrolled timber harvest, mining, and mineral extraction for building materials are contaminating downstream water courses and aquifers. To make the situation even worse, most solid waste disposal and landfill sites in Asian developing countries are poorly operated and maintained, causing leaching of pollutants into streams and groundwater.

Human activities at watershed scales cause increased water-borne pollution from point and non-point sources, affecting inland and coastal aquatic ecosystems. The non-point sources are more difficult to identify, quantify and manage. Agricultural run-off containing nutrients and agrochemicals is the main source of water pollutants in many countries. Domestic and industrial effluents are also major sources, as inadequately treated wastewater discharged directly into waterways in many developing countries. Virtually all industrial activities generate water pollutants, for example, unsustainable forestry, mining, waste disposal, and aquaculture.



(a) Declining surface water supply along irrigation canals in western Inner Mongolia, China

(b) Water pollution near Vladivostok, Russia

Figure 1.9 Water shortage and pollution in Asia (Photo credit: Gensuo Jia)

1.3.3 Wetland ecosystems

Since nearly all industrial and manufacturing activities require adequate water supplies, this situation is likely to impede socio-economic development, and increase pressures on freshwater ecosystems. At the global scale, the integrity of aquatic ecosystems—the state of their physical elements, their biodiversity and their processes—continues to decline (UNEP, 2007), reducing their capacity to provide clean freshwater, food and other services such as contaminant attenuation, and to buffer against extreme climatic events.

From coastal swamps to inland floodplains, Asia has lost its wetlands rapidly in past decades, and these fragile ecosystems continue to lose ground in the region. A principal cause of wetland loss is the draining or filling for human settlements and agriculture. In Asia, where some 85 percent of the wetlands of international importance are threatened, rice cultivation has claimed 40 million hectares in the central plains of India and significant portions of natural wetland areas in Thailand, Viet Nam, and China (Rāmsar Convention Bureau, 2003).

1.4 Regional climate change

Recent reports from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (2007) confirm that climate change is occurring at a larger and more rapid rate of change than was thought likely only six years ago. Eleven of the last twelve years (1995-2006) rank among the twelve warmest years in the instrumental record of global surface temperature (since 1850). The 100-year linear trend (1906-2005) of 0.74 [0.56, 0.92]°C is larger than the corresponding trend of 0.6 [0.4, 0.8]°C (1901-2000) given in the Third Assessment Report (TAR). The temperature increase is widespread over the globe and is greater at higher northern latitudes. Land regions have warmed faster than the oceans, and Asia experienced highest rate of warming among all continents. Temperatures are in-

creasing, and higher associated rates of evaporation will bring drier conditions, especially in dryland regions where ecosystems and social-economy are under pressure of water deficit.

Asia societies are critically dependent on the variability of the monsoon circulation system, and therefore, sensitive to major changes in monsoon system. The greatest increases of temperature in past century have been recorded in Asia, a number greater than any other continents. This is likely driven by combination of global forces and regional land surface processes.



Figure 1.10 Changes in temperature, sea level and Northern Hemisphere snow cover.
 Observed changes in: (a) global average surface temperature; (b) global average sea level from tide gauge (blue) and satellite (red) data and (c) Northern Hemisphere snow cover for March-April. All differences are relative to corresponding averages for the period 1961-1990. Smoothed curves represent decadal averaged values (Source: Solomon et al., 2007)

The best available scientific knowledge (via numerical models) indicates

that global warming will significantly affect the variability of the Asia monsoon system, especially the hydrological components. There are recent indications that anthropogenic impacts caused by enhanced greenhouse gas emissions and large-scale changes in land cover might be responsible for regional climate change in Asia, featured with attenuation of surface heating, declining crop production, and changes in precipitation.

Rising sea level is consistent with warming (Figure 1.10). Global average sea level has risen since 1961 at an average rate of 1.8 [1.3, 2.3] mm/ yr and since 1993 at 3.1[2.4, 3.8] mm/yr, with contributions from thermal expansion, melting glaciers and ice caps, and the polar ice sheets. Whether the faster rate for 1993 to 2003 reflects decadal variation or an increase in the longer-term trend is unclear. However, observed sea level rise is not homogeneous around the globe, while western and southwestern Pacific are among the greatest in terms of linear trends of sea level and thermal expansion (Figure 1.11).

Observed decreases in snow and ice extent are also consistent with warming. Mountain glaciers and snow cover on average have declined in both hemispheres. In Asia, however, there is a largely mixed picture on the climate induced changes of alpine glaciers. Scientists for the most part agree glaciers are melting at an accelerated rate as temperatures increase, especially at lower altitudes and edge of glaciers. However, there are recent evidents that some glaciers over 6,000m in Himalayas are actually expanding, and those glaciers could hold out for centuries in a warmer world (Hewitt, 2005).

Meanwhile, there is a highly mixed picture on variability of precipitation at regional scale. From 1900 to 2005, precipitation increased significantly in northern and central Asia but declined in parts of southern Asia. The area affected by drought has likely increased since the 1970s throughout Asia, particularly in central and East Asia. In semi-arid East Asia, decade-long trend of aridification or water deficit have been detected by both meteorological records and satellite data (Ma and Fu, 2003).

Changes in atmospheric concentrations of greenhouse gases (GHGs) and aerosols, land cover and solar radiation alter the energy balance of the climate system. Global GHG emissions due to human activities have grown since pre-industrial times, with an increase of 70% between 1970 and 2004.

Carbon dioxide (CO_2) is the most important anthropogenic GHG. Its annual emissions grew by about 80% between 1970 and 2004 (Solomon et al., 2007). The long-term trend of declining CO_2 emissions per unit of energy supplied reversed after 2000. Global atmospheric concentrations of CO_2 , methane (CH₄) and nitrous oxide (N₂O) have increased markedly as a result of human activities since 1750 and now far exceed pre-industrial values determined from ice cores spanning many thousands of years. During the past 50 years, the sum of solar and volcanic forcing would likely have produced cooling. Observed patterns of warming and their changes are simulated only by models that include anthropogenic forcing.



(a) Geographic distribution of short-term linear trends in mean sea level (mm · yr⁻¹) for 1993 to 2003 based on TOPEX/Poseidon satellite altimetry (updated from Cazenave and Nerem, 2004)



(b) geographic distribution of linear trends in thermal expansion (mm · yr⁻¹) for 1993 to 2003 (based on temperature data down to 700 m from Ishii et al., 2006)

Figure 1.11 Global sea level and thermal expansion from 1993-2003 (Source: Solomon et al., 2007)

Meanwhile, Share of Asian countries to global GHG emissions is rising rapidly. Share of Asian developing countries to global GHG emissions is rising rapidly. By 2010, four of the eight largest carbon dioxide emitting countries (China, India, Japan, Republic of Korea) are in Asia. There is increasing pressure for low carbon development in Asia, although Per Capita emissions of

carbon dioxide from fossil fuel combustion of above Asia countries are still much lower than that from most industrialized countries such as US, Canada, and Australia (Figure 1.12).



Figure 1.12 Per capita emissions of carbon dioxide over selected countries in 2006 (Source: IEA, 2009)

The projected and current impacts of climate change on this continent are rather complicated and sometimes confused. While most model projections based on IPCC climate change scenarios suggested largely negative impacts by 2100, observation data over past 2-3 decades indicated mixed signals—the major impacts of climate change varies greatly among subregions and sectors over this diverse continent; often negative on one place or sector, but positive on another place or sector. For example, it is widely believed that warming leads to declining of food supply, however, agriculture in current cold regions will likely get benefit from warming. Also, increases in precipitation have been observed in Asia arid regions, in contrast to increasing drought in semi-arid regions. Here we summarize possible negative and positive impacts of climate change on different sectors of Asia countries (Table 1.1).

Likely negative impacts of climate change on Asia countries:

• Increases in extreme weather events and consequent natural disasters, especially floods, typhoon, drought, heat wave, and wildfire;

• Threat crop production and agriculture, and therefore affect sustainable food supply;

• Increased risk of vector borne diseases, such as malaria and dengue fever;

• Widespread damage of natural ecosystems and loss of biodiversity;

• Changing marine productivity, influenced by coral bleaching and impacts on mangroves and sea grass beds;

• Retreats of mountain glaciers and permafrost and changes in watershed hydrology;

• Changing hydrological regimes and increases winter flooding, but decreases summer flow, along with more frequent and intense drought in semiarid regions;

• More severe water shortage and energy demands over urban and agricultural areas due to warming and instability in water supply;

• Continuous deteriorations of environmental quality and land degradation.

Possible positive impacts of climate change on Asia countries:

(1) Drop in energy demands for winter heating and agricultural greenhouse maintenances;

(2) Increases in agricultural productivities in high altitude and high latitude areas, such as northeast Asia and the Tibetan Plateau;

(3) Expansions in ice-free periods of northwest Pacific and major rivers in northern Asia, and therefore beneficial to voyage;

(4) Likely greening in Gobi and desert areas in West Asia, Central Asia, China, and Mongolia due to increases in precipitation in recent decade.

Region	Country	Change in temperature	Change in precipitation
North Asia	Russia	2 to 3°C rise in past 90 years, more pronounced in spring and winter	Highly variable, decrease during 1951 to 1995, increase in last decade
	Mongolia	1.8°C rise in last 60 years, most pronounced in winter	7.5% decrease in sum- mer and 9% increase in winter
Central Asia	Regional mean	1 to 2°C rise in tem- perature per century per century	No clear trend during 1900 to 1996
	North- West China	0.7°C increase in mean annual temperature from 1961 to 2000	Between 22% and 33% increase in rainfall
Tibetan Plateau	Regional mean	0.16 and 0.32°C per de- cade increase in annual and winter temperatures, respectively	Generally increasing in north- east region

Table 1.1Summary of key observed past and present climate trends and
variability in Asia

Region	Country	Change in temperature	Change in precipitation
West Asia (Middle East)	Iran	During 1951 to 2003 sev- eral stations in different climato- logical zones of Iran reported significant decrease in frost days due to rise in surface temperature	Some stations show a decreasing trend in precipitation (Anzali, Tabriz, Zahedan) while others (Mashad, Shiraz) have reported increasing trends
	China	Warming during last 50 years, more pronounced in winter than summer, rate of increase more pronounced in minimum than in maximum tem- perature	Annual rain declined in past decade in North- East and North China, in- crease in Western China, Changjiang River and along south- east coast
East Asia	Japan	About 1.0°C rise in 20th century, 2 to 3°C rise in large cities	No significant trend in the 20th century although fluctuations increased
	Korea	0.23°C rise in annual mean temperature per de- cade, increase in diurnal range	More frequent heavy rain in recent years
South Asia	India	0.68°C increase per cen- tury, increasing trends in annual mean tem- perature, warming more pronounced during post monsoon and winter	Increase in extreme rains in north- west during summer monsoon in recent decades, lower number of rainy days along east coast
	Nepal	0.09°C per year in Hima- layas and 0.04°C in Terai region, more in winter	No distinct long- term trends in precipitation records for 1948 to 1994
	Pakistan	0.6 to 1.0°C rise in mean temperature in coastal areas since early 1900s	10 to 15% decrease in coastal belt and hyper arid plains, increase in summer and winter precipitation over the last 40 years in northern Pakistan
	Bangladesh	An increasing trend of about 1°C in May and 0.5°C in November dur- ing the 14 year period from 1985 to 1998	Decadal rain anomalies above long term averages since 1960s
	Sri Lanka	0.016°C increase per year between 1961 to 90 over entire country, 2°C increase per year in central highlands	Increase trend in Febru- ary and decrease trend in June

Continued

Region	Country	Change in temperature	Change in precipitation
Southeast Asia	General	0.1 to 0.3°C increase per decade reported between 1951 to 2000	Decreasing trend be- tween 1961 and 1998. Number of rainy days have declined throughout S-E Asia
	Indonesia	Homogeneous tempera- ture data were not avail- able	Decline in rainfall in southern and increase in northern region
	Philippines	Increase in mean annual, maximum and minimum temperatures by 0.14°C between 1971 to 2000	Increase in annual mean rainfall since 1980s and in number of rainy days since 1990s, increase in interannual variability of onset of rainfall

Continued

Source: Cruz et al., 2007

Asia developed countries in the higher latitudes are expected to experience a greater change in climate than those in tropical developing countries. Yet the vulnerability of tropical developing countries is likely to be much greater, due to their lower level of adaptive capacity. Where people have financial resources, access to technology, high levels of education and training, good health, security, strong institutions and effective organizations, they can more adequately cope with exogenous changes, shocks, and impacts. Where these attributes of adaptive capacity are low, vulnerability is correspondingly greater.

There is much evidence that with current climate change mitigation policies and related sustainable development practices, global GHG emissions will continue to grow over the next few decades. The IPCC Special Report on Emissions Scenarios (SRES, 2000) projects an increase of global GHG emissions by 25% to 90% (CO_2 -eq) between 2000 and 2030, with fossil fuels maintaining their dominant position in the global energy mix to 2030 and beyond.

For the next two decades, a warming of about 0.2°C per decade is projected for a range of SRES emissions scenarios. Even if the concentrations of all GHGs and aerosols had been kept constant on the levels of 2000, a further warming of about 0.1°C per decade would be expected. Afterwards, temperature projections increasingly depend on specific emissions scenarios (IPCC, 2007). Anthropogenic warming rise would continue for centuries due to the time scales associated with climate processes and feedbacks, even if GHG concentrations were to be stabilized. For future climate projection, there are great uncertainties due to complexity of climate system and the limitation of existed climate models. For example, IPCC projected climate warming by 2100 ranges from 1.8°C-4.5°C even with over 20 best global climate models. Nevertheless, no matter how significant the warming trends are, extreme climate events are becoming more frequent and intensified over years in the world and in Asia.

1.5 Climate extremes and natural disasters

Climate extremes and related natural disasters cause major loss of life and damage to infrastructure and impact on future growth prospects. More than 70 percent of all disasters globally occurred in Asia, but insufficient investment has been made to prepare for and mitigate such disasters.

The most recent extreme events include record high temperature and hot wave in many Indian cities in June 2010, extreme heavy rainstorms and floods along China's Yangzi River in summer 2010, severe drought in normally water abundant southwest China in spring 2010, record low spring temperature in North China in 2010, series severe typhoon in southeast Asia in summer 2009, and rare snow storm throughout East Asia in March 2008 (Figure 1.13).

Asian is the most disaster-prone region in the world, accounting for more than 70 percent of all natural disasters worldwide and more than 80 percent of deaths from natural disasters in past hundred years (UNEP, 2005). Among the most destructive and frequent hazards caused by extreme climate events have been flash floods, storm surges, droughts, and wildfire. Prolonged droughts in South Asia have compromised food security and caused widespread famine and food shortages. Over 176,000 persons were listed as killed and almost 50,000 missing in the December 2004 tsunami in the Indian Ocean and South-East Asia, while over 1,000 persons died in severe floods each year over the region.

In the past three decades, the number of geophysical disaster events are more or less constant, while the number of extreme climate and meteorological events have increased markedly over the globe and Asia (Figure 1.14). Asia shared the greatest natural disaster damages of global total in terms of numbers of victims (89%), death toll (57%), economical loss (44%), and number of disasters (37%) (Figure 1.15).





Figure 1.14 Natural catastrophes worldwide 1980-2008 number of events (Source: natural catastrophe review, 2008)



Figure 1.15 Share of global natural disaster damages in Asia,1975-2005 (Source: ADRC-Natural Disasters Data Book 2005)

According to IPCC AR4, All of Asia is very likely to warm during this century; the warming is likely to be well above the global mean in central Asia, the Tibetan Plateau and northern Asia, above the global mean in East and South Asia, and similar to the global mean in Southeast Asia (Solomon et al., 2007). It is very likely that summer heat waves/hot spells in East Asia will be of longer duration, more intense, and more frequent. It is very likely that there will be fewer very cold days in East Asia and South Asia. Boreal winter precipitation is very likely to increase in northern Asia and the Tibetan Plateau, and likely to increase in eastern Asia and the southern parts of Southeast Asia. Summer precipitation is likely to increase in northern Asia, East and South Asia and most of Southeast Asia, but it is likely to decrease in central Asia. An increase in the frequency of intense precipitation events in parts of South Asia, and in East Asia, is very likely. Extreme rainfall and winds associated with tropical cyclones are likely to increase in East, Southeast and South Asia. Monsoonal flows and the tropical large scale circulation are likely to be weakened.

As monsoons are the dominant phenomena over much of Asia, the factors that influence the monsoonal circulation and precipitation are of central importance for understanding climate change in this region. Precipitation is affected both by the strength of the monsoonal flows and the amount of water vapor transported. Monsoonal flows and the tropical large-scale circulation often weaken in global warming simulations.

Though scientific community still not sure whether or not climate change is the main reason behind increasingly frequent and intensified natural disasters in Asia and the globe, it is clear that extreme climate events have caused the worst loss of human life and properties in recent decades than ever before (Figure 1.13). Deforestation, soil erosion, overgrazing, over-cultivation and other unsustainable agricultural practices and the degradation of natural buffers have seriously reduced resilience of ecosystems and amplified the effects of natural hazards(Table 1.2). Meanwhile, as population continue to grow rapidly in Asia, more people moved to coastal urban areas and marginal lands, made the society more vulnerable to extreme climate events and natural disasters. For example, monsoon frontier in semi-arid region is often seen as promising locations for development of new settlements and cultivation. However, this transitional zone is very vulnerable to fluctuation of rainfall and drought events.

Impacts	Sectoral Vulnerabilities	
Temperature	Water	
•Warming above the global mean in	•Increasing water stress to over a hundred million people due	
central Asia, the Tibetan Plateau, north-	to decrease of freshwater availability in Central, South, East	
ern, eastern and southern Asia. Warming	and Southeast Asia, particularly in large river basins such as	
similar to the global mean in Southeast	Changjiang.	
Asia.	•Increase in the number and severity of glacial melt-related	
•Fewer very cold days in East Asia and	floods, slope destabilization followed by decrease in river	
South Asia.	flows as glaciers disappear.	
Precipitation, snow and ice	Agriculture and food security	
•Increase in precipitation in most of Asia.	•Decreases in crop yield for many parts of Asia putting many	
Decrease in precipitation in central Asia	millions of people at risk from hunger.	
in summer.	•Reduced soil moisture and evapotranspiration may increase	
•Increase in the frequency of intense pre-	land degradation and desertification.	
cipitation events in parts of South Asia,	•Agriculture may expand in productivity in northern areas.	
and in East Asia.	Health	

Table 1.2 Impacts and Vulnerabilities of Asia community to Climate Change

Continued

Impacts	Sectoral Vulnerabilities
Impacts •Increasing reduction in snow and ice in Himalayan and Tibetan Plateau glaciers Extreme Events Increasing frequency and intensity of extreme events particularly: •droughts during the summer months and El Niño events; •increase in extreme rainfall and winds associated with tropical cyclones in East Asia, Southeast Asia and South Asia; •intense rainfall events causing landslides and severe floods; •heat waves/hot spells in summer of longer duration, more intense and more frequent, particularly in East Asia.	 Sectoral Vulnerabilities Heat stress and changing patterns in the occurrence of disease vectors affecting health. Increases in endemic morbidity and mortality due to diarrhoeal disease in south and Southeast Asia. Increase in the abundance and/or toxicity of cholera in south Asia. Terrestrial Ecosystems Increased risk of extinction for many species due to the synergistic effects of climate change and habitat fragmentation. Northward shift in the extent of boreal forest in north Asia, although likely increase in frequency and extent of forest fires could limit forest expansion. Coastal Zones Tens of millions of people in lowlying coastal areas of south and Southeast Asia affected by sea level rise and an increase in the intensity of tropical cyclones. Coastal inundation is likely to seriously affect the aquaculture industry and infrastructure particularly in heavily-populated
	 Industry and infrastructure particularly in neavily-populated megadeltas Stability of wetlands, mangroves, and coral reefs increasingly threat and
	uncateneu.

Source: Cruz et al., 2007

Increase in current vulnerabilities of Asia society to natural disasters is partly related to the expansion of human settlement into more hazardous areas, such as flood plains, steep and unstable hill slopes, low lying coastal zones, and areas of lower and more uncertain rainfall. Other factors include low quality of construction, and the increase in quantity and value of property and material goods. While the damage in monetary terms from climate variabilities and extremes is also increasing in developed countries, the level of losses appears to be a more or less a constant proportion of gross national product. In other words, losses are increasing in proportion to the increase in wealth. In many developing countries, however, losses are increasing more rapidly than the increase in national wealth. In the case of some recently reported extreme climate events, the losses recorded in a few days are equal in value to a decade or more of economic growth. Even without climate change, current extreme events can be a significant setback to development. This has long been a well recognized phenomenon in drought prone regions, and is now coming to be recognized for other types of climatic hazard as well.

Again, based on IPCC best available climate scenarios, freshwater availability in Central, South, East and South-East Asia, particularly in large river basins, is projected to decrease by 2050s. Coastal areas, especially heavily populated megadelta regions in South, East and South-East Asia, will be at the greatest risk due to increased flooding from the sea and, in some megadeltas, flooding from the rivers. Climate change is projected to compound the pressures on natural resources and the environment associated with rapid urbanization, industrialization and economic development in Asia. The crop yield in many countries of Asia has declined, partly due to rising temperatures and extreme weather events. The retreat of glaciers and permafrost in Asia in recent years is unprecedented as a consequence of warming. The frequency of occurrence of climate-induced diseases and heat stress in Central, East, South and South-East Asia has increased with rising temperatures and rainfall variability. Observed changes in terrestrial and marine ecosystems have become more pronounced.

2 Sensitivity and Vulnerability Across Asia— Ecoregional Perspective

A sia is characterized by diverse geography that includes the largest plateaus, the highest mountain peaks, the longest coastlines, along with vast dryland areas and 7 out of 10 global mega-cities in the world. The continent also has diverse habitats ranging from glaciers to deserts, extensive semi-arid zones to tropical rainforests. Dust storms and soil erosion are almost symbolic for arid and semi-arid areas in Asia, while a long coastline with major deltas and ports includes most of the largest cities and agricultural bases.

The key environmental problems and impacts of climate change are highly differentiated throughout Asia. Parts of society and some ecosystems are much more vulnerable than others. Four locations, dryland, highland, urban, and coastal areas are believed critical or vulnerable to climate change and are experiencing serious environmental deterioration (Figure 2.1). Air quality and health as well as disaster risk are important in each zone but they involve different



Figure 2.1 Four types of ecoregions in Asia: dryland (light pink), highland (see terra), urban (red patches), and coastal areas (blue belts). Note that only part of Asia is shown to represent those types. Image is designed by Hao Gao & Gensuo Jia based on land cover (NASA, 2009) and DEM (USGS, 2000)

phenomenon respectively Therefore, they are highlighted in the report. Ongoing and projected impacts of climate change and key environmental problems over each foci areas are analyzed and mapped (Box 2.1).

Box 2.1 Schematic summary of impacts of climate change and trends of environment on four sensitive ecoregions in Asia

Region wide impacts

• Increased extreme weather events and consequent natural disasters, especially floods, typhoon, drought, heat wave, and wildfire;

- Threatened crop production and aquaculture;
- Increased risk of vector borne diseases, such as malaria and dengue fever;
- Widespread damage of natural ecosystems and loss of biodiversity;
- Continuous deteriorations of environmental quality and land degradation.

Coastal Asia

• Enhanced risk to life and property in coastal low-lying areas of cyclone-prone countries as consequence of sea level rise;

• Exacerbated vulnerability from more frequent and intensified typhoon and floods;

- Saltwater intrusion of freshwater aquifers;
- Coastal erosion and inundation;
- Eutrophication affecting fisheries and biodiversity.

Dryland Asia

• Drier conditions in summer leading to severe droughts and increased sand storms;

• Glacial melt inducing floods in short-term and threatening water supplies in a long run;

• Fall in agricultural yields due to water stress, loss of soil fertility, and wind damage;

• Rangeland degradation and loss of properties of herdsmen.

Highland Asia

- Permafrost degradation;
- Declining duration and extent of snow cover;
- Glacial melt threatening water supplies in highland and downstream areas;
- Lengthening of growing season and possible rise in agricultural yields;
- Invasion of warmth limited pests and diseases.

Urban Asia

- Worsening air pollution, noise, and solid waste accumulation;
- Enhancing urban heat islands and impacts on health and infrastructure;
- Increasing greenhouse gas emissions.

2.1 Dryland (Arid and semi-arid areas)

The vast arid and semi-arid region in Asia was formed in the evolution processes of planet earth in 3.6-2.5 million years ago when the Tibetan Plateau rapidly rose (An et al., 2001). The geographical distribution of arid and semiarid region in central Asia and south Asia was defined according to humidity index (Figure 2.2). The key climate and environment characteristics in the region are low precipitation, high evapotranspiration, sparse vegetation, poor soil fertility, and vulnerability to extreme climate events such as drought. Asia Drylands are also known as the major source of dust aerosols, which not only directly causes serious damage to human health, agriculture and economics in regions, but also to other regions through long distance transport of huge amount of dust particles across the Pacific Ocean and west coast of North America. The dust aerosols also have significant influence on the regional and global climate through their radiative forcing. Upon deposited in the ocean, aeolian mineral dust is important to many biogeochemical cycles, including the growth of phytoplankton, which will influence the carbon cycle in the ocean. Interactions between dust aerosols and the hydrological cycle were also suggested by many studies.

Asia arid and semi-arid region, expanded from Central Asia, West Asia, western China, to Mongolia, is particularly vulnerable because of its harsh natural environment, its relative underdevelopment resulting from an economic focus on livestock production and rain-feed agricultural. Meteorological data series available since the end of the 19th century show a steady increase of annual and winter temperature in this region. Both aggregated temperature data downloaded from the Climate Research Unit dataset (Jones et al., 1999) and earlier study of individual weather stations across the region (Lioubimtseva et al., 2005) indicate a steady significant warming trend in this region. Meanwhile, arid and semi-arid China suffered from both continuous water deficit and increasing pressure of intensified land use.

Semi-arid area is a transitive zone between arid continent climate and humid monsoon climate, which is very sensitive to the climate and human perturbation. These areas are most vulnerable in global environmental change. There is a trend of aridification in arid and semi-arid Asia, especially in semiarid areas as global warming continues (Fu, 2003). The rapid economic development in past 2-3 decades in Asia drylands greatly altered land use and land cover, accelerated land degradation, reduced water storage, and increased frequency of sand storms. Such large scale modification of land surface may even weaken summer monsoon and therefore prevent wet air mass from reaching inland region. The positive feedback loop could lead further drought in monsoon Asia region (Fu, 2003).



(a) Desert-steppe ecotone in west China



(b) Satellite view of desert-steppe ecotone

Figure 2.2 Vast arid areas in west China and Mongolia featured with sparse shrubs and graves, as seen in the field (a) and from satellite (b) (Credit: (a) Gensuo Jia; (b) NASA)

Most critical environmental and climate change issues in Asian arid and semi-arid regions are:

- (1) increasing variability in precipitation and crop yields;
- (2) drought and water shortage;
- (3) land degradation and dust storm;
- (4) conversion of natural vegetation into cropland;
- (5) declining wetlands and oasis.

2.1.1 Food security

Climate aridity is the primary constraint limiting the portion of land available for agriculture and livestock production in Asia drylands. Most croplands in those areas are irrigated and agriculture is potentially highly vulnerable to climate change because of degradation of limited arable land. Almost twothirds of domestic livestock are supported on grazing lands, although in China and Kazakhstan a significant share of animal fodder also comes from crop residues. Climate change can affect food production in Asia drylands in several ways. Changes in temperature and precipitation regimes are likely to impact agro-ecological potential and constraints, including ① changes in the area suit-

able for growing rain-fed production of cereals and other food crops; ② changing sustainable stocking rates; ③ modifying crop irrigation requirements.

Main part of agriculture in arid areas deeply relies on irrigation, and irrigated cropland is mainly distributed in lowland, river valleys and oasis. Rain-fed agriculture is widely practiced in semi-arid areas in Asian developing countries. It is often vulnerable to climate variability. There is increasing climate extreme that featured with severe drought in semi-arid Asia region. Most recent severe drought and declining crop yield was in summer 2009 when soil moisture reduced to about 77% of normal level and crop yields dropped to 71% of normal level in some provinces in north and northeast China (Figure 2.3).



Figure 2.3 Severe drought in north and northeast China in summer 2009 as indicated by comparing soil moisture between 2009 and 2003-2008 average with integrated aqua/AMSR-E and field soil moisture. Analyzed by Anzhi Zhang and Gensuo Jia with NASA data

As agriculture production generally increases in Asia dryland, the efficiency in using irrigating water and fertilizer is still very low. The traditional crop varieties still dominate the croplands, although more drought/pest resistant varieties of corn, wheat, and other crops are already developed for years. Water waste in irrigation is enormous with traditional open surface irrigation and free water use. Water saving technologies such as pipeline irrigation and irrigation on demand work well in several experimental sites, but their application is not well accepted among farmers.

2.1.2 Water stress

Both the observation and numerical modeling have shown that a drying

trend is occurring and will occur most significantly in Asia semi-arid regions under the global warming (Ma and Fu, 2005).

Meanwhile, Asia semi-arid region has experienced significant change of land cover driven by intensified human activities in past 2-3 decades. The human-induced land cover changes in this region have brought about further land degradation, the expansion of land under desertification, loss of groundwater reservoirs, and more frequent dust storms. The large-scale destruction of natural vegetation by human activities would also influence the intensity of the summer monsoon and reduce the moisture transfer into the continent, which would enhance the aridity even more over the semi-arid regions (Fu, 2003).

The semi-arid regions are transitive zones between arid continent climate and humid monsoon climate, which are very sensitive to the climate fluctuation and human perturbation. With annual potential evaporation generally excesses the precipitation, the landscapes in those regions are characterized by dry climate, low vegetation cover, low soil nutrition content, and low capacity of water conservation of the soil. These regions are among the most vulnerable ones to global environmental change. Both observation and numerical modeling have shown that a trend of browning (increases in aridity) is occurring and will occur significantly in semi-arid regions as air temperature continuously rises.

On the other hand, as dominated by dryland ecosystems that are vulnerable to climate fluctuation and disturbance, semi-arid regions are also experience significant alterations of land cover driven by human activities and accelerated by climatic change. The human-induced land cover changes in these regions have triggered expansion of desertification, declining of primary productivity, threatening to biodiversity, reduction of soil fertility, loss of groundwater reservoirs, and the increase of dust storm frequency. The largescale destruction of natural vegetation by human activities could also influence the intensity of the summer monsoon, and therefore weaken the transportation of moist air mass into inland areas, which could enhance the aridity even further over semi-arid regions located at monsoon frontiers.

The low precipitation in combination with the high potential evaporation limits the possible types of land use in arid region. The growing of crops and vegetables is only possible with irrigation. Since, even in this semi-arid to arid region most of the precipitation falls as heavy rain, flood is a serious threat because the parched soil cannot absorb a great quantity of water in a short time. Therefore, most of the rainwater remains on the surface.

Water issues take on special importance in Asia drylands. They are complex and compelling with the rapidly shrinking Aral Sea, transgression of the Caspian Sea, an immense cotton industry, huge deserts, and advancing desertification. The impact of climate change on this highly vulnerable area includes growing demand for water for irrigation, high levels of water pollution, and frequent droughts and widespread land degradation. Overall water withdrawals in the Central Asia States have increased from 37 km³/ year in 1950 to 102 km³/year in 2000 and are projected to reach 122 km³/ year by 2025 (Shiklomanov and Rodda, 2001). The core regional problem, however, is not the lack of water resources but rather their management and distribution. In fact, parts of Central Asia have a great amount of water: Kazakhstan, for example, claims more than 85,000 rivers and streams, and 56% of its 100 km³ annual river flow is formed on the territory of Kazakhstan itself. A lack of coordination among irrigation systems, pervasive soil degradation, and inter-basin transfers are the persistent water problems in the region.

Since 2000, series of droughts have affected Turkmenistan, Uzbekistan, Tajikistan, Iran, Afghanistan, and Pakistan. These droughts have amply demonstrated the very high human vulnerability of this region to precipitation deficits. Agriculture, animal husbandry, water resources, and public health have been particularly stressed across the region as a result of the recent drought (Lioubimtseva and Henebry, 2009).

Asia drylands are among the most vulnerable regions in the world. They suffer from a rainy season lasting just a few months in summer, and a significant shortage of water resources for most of the year. The system is featured by the unreliability of rainfall, and the threat of recurrent drought. Traditional practices to help cope with drought include the accumulation of a surplus in good years, in cash or assets such as cattle, and the use of this surplus in order to survive the bad years. Other strategies include mobility, the use of diverse crop and livestock varieties, the pursuit of off-farm activities, and migration to earn cash during the long dry season. If drought increases in frequency and intensity with climate change, it becomes harder to accumulate a surplus in the good years, and the bad years come more frequently. The first to feel the impact are the poor with the least adaptive capacity, but no social group, and no nation can consider itself immune from the threat of progressive desiccation.

2.1.3 Desertification

Desertification is a land degradation problem featured with deterioration in soil and plant cover in the arid regions of the world. Desertification in the arid regions of Asia is characterized by overgrazing of the rangelands of the Middle East and Central Asia, water erosion of cultivated lands from eastern China to the Mediterranean Sea, and salinization and waterlogging on a large scale in Iraq, Pakistan, China, and Central Asia. Overgrazing, soil erosion, and salt damage to irrigated land are long-standing problems in the Middle East and Central Asia, as is water erosion on the rain-fed cultivated lands of India, Pakistan, and the loessial plateau of China. Waterlogging and salinization are problems centuries old in the lower plain of the Yellow River in China, but are of relatively recent origin in the Indus Basin of Pakistan and India. Declining biological production as a part of ongoing land degradation process is considered a severe environmental problem in Asia grasslands.

$2\,$ | Sensitivity and Vulnerability Across Asia—Ecoregional Perspective

Regional climate change and desertification remain inextricably linked because of feedbacks between land degradation and precipitation. Climate change might enhance desertification through alteration of spatial and temporal patterns in temperature, rainfall, solar isolation, and winds. Several climate models suggest that future global warming may reduce soil moisture over large areas of semi-arid grassland in Asia (Manabe and Wetherald, 1986). Therefore, frequent drought and high human pressure are likely to accelerate the degradation of semi-arid rangeland in Asia.

In China, desertification has usually occurred in arid and semi-arid regions, with annual precipitation <450 mm and spring precipitation <90 mm. Key areas include the regions around the Taklimakan, Badain Jaran, and Kumutage Deserts, some parts of the Tengger, Ulan Buh, and Hobq Deserts, and most parts of the Gurbantunggut, Mu Us, Otindag, Horqin, Hulunbuir, and Nenjiang Deserts (Figure 2.4). Extent of desertification from the 1950s to 2005 in China were recently assessed using aerial photos obtained from the mid-1950s, mid-1960s, mid-1970s, and mid-1980s, Landsat TM images obtained in 2000, and field surveys in 2005. Based on this analysis, the area of desertification in 2000 in arid and semi-arid China totaled 385,700 km² (Wang et al., 2004; Wang and Zhu, 2003), located at the margins of deserts and in some steppe regions. Meanwhile, it was reported that from the mid-1950s to the mid-1990s, desertification was reversed in most deserts of arid and semiarid China. Compared with the areas of deserts in the mid-1950s, the area of desert with mobile dunes decreased by 422 km², and the area in which mobile dunes became anchored increased by 17, 820 km² for China as a whole (Zhong and Qu, 2003). In addition, the area of sandy desertification in 1999 had decreased by 33,673 km² by 2004 (SFAC, 2005). Those studies suggest that rehabilitation has occurred continuously from the 1990s to the present in arid and semi-arid China.

There are four main causes for the land degradation process. They are:

(1) Harsh natural conditions: Precipitation in the arid and semi-arid region is limited and the ecosystem is fragile. The amount of rainfall varies remarkably between seasons and from year to year; droughts and sandstorms are frequent. Due to the dry ground surface and low vegetation coverage, the sandy soils are very sensitive to wind erosion if vegetation is removed.

(2) Over-utilization of natural resources: Reclamation of marginal land, overgrazing, indiscriminate firewood collection, digging of medical plants, extensive farming, and poorly planned irrigation are causes of desertification in the region. Farmers tend to reclaim sandy grassland for growing crops in years of high rainfall, and then abandon the land in years of low rainfall. This temporary cropland is so-called "try-chance farmland".

(3) Overgrazing: The reasonable grazing supporting capacity is often greatly exceeded for economic reason; overgrazing gets even more serious during dry years when carry capacity of grasslands are much lower than normal years.



(a) Edge of the Tengger Desert



(b) Satellite view

Figure 2.4 Expansion of sandy desert along edge of the Tengger Desert, as seen in the field (a) and from satellite (b) (Credit: (a) Gensuo Jia; (b) Digital Globe)

(4) Improper land restoration practices: many land restoration practices have focused on planting trees in this arid region, and also tried to flatten sand dunes for cultivation. There is also wide confusion between natural sandy land and desertification.

There is still major uncertainty remained in predicting the impacts of broader global climate change on dryland areas. Such predictions are difficult because they depend on the assumptions and models used. In the case of Asia dryland, recent research presents a range of possible rainfall scenarios. Some studies suggest a considerable drop in rainfall, rise in temperature and increased rainfall variability, especially at the start of the rainy season in semi-arid Asia. Meanwhile, others indicate that the many arid areas of northwestern China and Central Asia may actually get higher levels of rainfall.

2.2 Highland areas

Highlands refer to areas of plateaus, alpine, and subalpine mountains that are distinguishable from surrounding plain areas in terms of bioclimate and geomorphology. High elevations have a considerable role and global importance as environmental resources. They are the sources of most major rivers that shape the landscapes in their watersheds, transport nutrients and sediments that drive the global biogeochemical cycles, and provide water for domestic consumption and industrial use including agricultural irrigation. High elevations are home to a large portion of undisturbed natural ecosystems that are rich in biodiversity. Global climate change and human forces have already placed significant impact over high elevations through the melting of glaciers, alteration of land cover and vegetation, loss of biodiversity, and changes of run-off. More importantly, those changes put higher pressure on local communities and confront their traditional ways of life. On the other hand, historical and current changes in high elevations could influence regional even global climate through carbon sequestration and change of energy balance.

Large portion of Asia is high mountains and plateaus, this is especially true in East Asia, Central Asia, and southwest Asia. The highest mountain peak (Mt. Everett) and highest plateau (the Tibetan Plateau) are located in Asia. Countries in the highlands are expected to experience a greater change in climate than those in plains due to their greater sensitivity to fluctuation of air temperature.

Most critical environmental and climate change issues in Asian mountains and plateau regions are:

- (1) Deforestation, soil erosion, and loss of biodiversity;
- (2) Much more vulnerable to warming than lowland areas;
- (3) Melting glaciers and thawing permafrost;
- (4) Disturbances to watershed hydrology;
- (5) Increasing human pressure and pollutions.

2.2.1 Deforestation, soil erosion, and loss of biodiversity

Asia mountain and plateau region is well-known for its diverse natural habitat and biodiversity along vertical zonation that supplies the inhabitants with essential ecosystem goods and services. Mountains and plateaus appear to be highly vulnerable to the combination of global environmental changes and more locally wrought transformations of land and water use.

According to the third edition of the Global Biodiversity Outlook, the world did not achieve the goal to slow down the speed of biodiversity decrease.

The main reason leading to the failure of global biodiversity conservation is that people did not pay enough attention to the ecological resources, and do not fully aware of the value of these resources. Human survival is dependent on them. At present, the forest resources facing two big threats: one is that the Asian forests have disappeared faster; another is the forest decreasing in Africa. Due to the pressure of concentration of Asian population and increase of commercial cutting, the remaining forests are gradually disappearing, and loss of forest in some Asian countries would even be disastrous. It also brings the problems of soil erosion, and water resource and biodiversity decrease (Figure 2.5).



(a) Rich plant species diversity on top of the Yanshan Mountain in north China



(b) Erosion due to forest disturbances along the Lanchang River, China

Figure 2.5 Asia mountain ecosystems are vulnerable to soil erosion and loss of biodiversity (Photo credit: (a) Gensuo Jia; (b) Xia Li)

$2\,$ | Sensitivity and Vulnerability Across Asia—Ecoregional Perspective

Some Asian developing countries including China and India have made great contributions to protect forest vegetation in recent years. China and India participate actively in the activities of "planting 10 billion trees for the earth" initiated by UNEP. According to the statistics of UNEP, Asian forest area increased nearly 1 million square kilometers per year in the year 2000 to 2005 only as a result by the afforestation program in China. Over past 10 years, the forest area in this region has been realized for net growth.

2.2.2 Melting glaciers and thawing permafrost

Seventy percent of the world's freshwater is frozen in glaciers. Glacier melt buffers other ecosystems against climate variability. Very often it provides the only source of water for humans and biodiversity during dry seasons. Recent evidence suggests an acceleration of glacier mass loss in several key mountain regions (Dyurgerov and Meier, 2005).

The Global Land Ice Measurements from Space (GLIMS) project supported by NASA and the US Geological Survey (http: //www.glims. org) is using remote sensing imagery and field survey data to map most of the world's glacierized areas and to assess changes in ice extent (Kieffer, 2000; Bishop et al., 2004). Initial results have been obtained from analysis of images for some regions of Asia. The changes involve: a decrease in average size and volume of glaciers, glacier terminus retreat, the disappearance of former small glaciers, and moraine development on the glacier surface etc.

In Central Asia, glacier degradation is accompanied by increasing debris cover on many glacier termini and the formation of glacier lakes (Ageta et al., 2000). Such lakes, sometimes also dammed due to glacier surges (Kotlyakov et al., 2008), have the potential to threaten downstream areas with outburst floods (Wessels et al., 2002). The mountain ranges of Central Asia function as water towers for millions of people. Glacier runoff thereby is an important freshwater resource in arid regions as well as during the dry seasons in mon-soonal affected regions (Barnett et al., 2005) (Figure 2.6).

The Himalayas have the largest concentration of glaciers outside the polar caps. With glacier coverage of 33,000 km², the region is aptly called the "Water Tower of Asia" as it provides around 8.6×10^6 m³ of water annually (Dyurgerov and Maier, 2005). These Himalayan glaciers feed seven of Asia's great rivers: the Ganges, Indus, Brahmaputra, Salween, Mekong, Yangtze and Yellow. It ensures a year round water supply to millions of people.

Climate change has impacted the glacial ecosystem tremendously. Sixtyseven percent of glaciers are retreating at a startling rate in the Himalayas and the major causal factor has been identified as climate change (Ageta and Kadota, 1992; Yamada et al., 1996). Glacial melt will affect freshwater flows with dramatic adverse effects on biodiversity, people and livelihoods, with a possible long-term implication on regional food security.



(a) Alpine eco-tourism



(b) snow/glaciers

Figure 2.6 Alpine eco-tourism and snow/glaciers at the Tianshan Mountain near Almaty, Kazakhstan (Photo credit: Gensuo Jia)

Throughout the Greater Himalayas, water melts from permanent snow and ice and from seasonal snow packs and is stored in high-elevation wetlands and lakes. Melting occurs mainly in mid summer, but when this coincides with the monsoon, it may not be as critical for water supply as melting in the spring and autumn. When the monsoon is weak, delayed, or fails to materialize, melted water from snow and ice limits or averts catastrophic drought (Meehl, 1997).

$2\,$ | Sensitivity and Vulnerability Across Asia—Ecoregional Perspective

The contribution of snow and glacial melt to the major rivers in the region ranges from less than 5% to more than 45% of average flows (Xu et al., 2007). Melting snow and ice contribute about 70% of summer flow in the main Ganges, Indus, Tarim, and Kabul Rivers during the shoulder seasons (i.e., before and after precipitation from the summer monsoon) (Singh and Bengtsson, 2004; Barnett et al., 2005). The contribution of glacial melt to flows in inner Asian rivers is even greater (Chen et al., 2006). Indus River irrigation systems in Pakistan depend on snowmelt and glacial melt from the eastern Hindu Kush, Karakoram, and western Himalayas for about 50% of total runoff. In western China, about 12% of total discharge is glacial melt runoff, providing water for 25% of the total Chinese population in the dry season (Xu et al., 2008).

2.2.3 Warming and hydrology

Asia mountains and plateaus have a profound effect on the weather and climate of the world, particularly as they include the Himalayan-Tibetan Plateau, which is the largest high-elevation region of the world. With an average elevation of more than 4,000 m, the plateau has a direct effect on global circulation patterns by causing perturbations in the prevailing westerlies. The region is also a major determinant of the Asian monsoon, acting as an elevated heat source in the summer and a source of cold air in the winter.

One of the most important services from mountain ecosystems is the provision of freshwater. Hydrology is therefore a crucial node in mountain ecosystems. It is directly affected by changes in climate, by influencing land use and land cover change and by variations in the cryosphere. These impacts in turn influence the quality and quantity of freshwater supplied to the adjacent areas, as well as other goods and services such as slope stability, biodiversity and energy production.

The dramatic retreat of high-mountain glaciers as a result of global warming has led to increasing flow at the beginning of the snow-melt period followed by flow reductions as the snow mass decreases or disappears later in the season. In many mountain regions and mountain fore-lands this process will result in a reduction in annual river flow in the long term. Thus mountain regions are now the hotspots of impacts of global change; they are associated with the rapid retreat of glaciers, producing climate change and variability with more extreme climatic events.

Theoretically, high elevation areas are sensitive to climate warming as warmth limited landscapes. Progressive increases in warming at high elevations are already occurring at approximately 3 times the global average (IPCC, 2007; Nogues-Bravo et al., 2007). In the Greater Himalayas processes determining the conversion of glaciers, ice, and snow into runoff and downstream flow are complex, but the impact of climate change on river regimes will very likely be profound. Initially, increased melting will result in increased dis-

charge. With time, however, as glaciers completely disappear or approach new equilibria, long-term effects will be increasing water shortages and limited supplies for downstream communities, particularly during the dry season. Based on current knowledge, the rivers most likely to experience the greatest loss in water availability due to melting glaciers are the Indus, Tarim, Yang-tze, Brahmaputra, and Amu Darya (Table 2.1). Changes have already been observed, but there is still uncertainty regarding when tipping points will be reached.

River (basin area) /km ²	Glacial melt in river flow /%	Signal of trends	Probable future
Tarim (1,152,448)	40.2	wetter in past half century; increasing river flow in some tributaries; 9 tributar- ies dried up	sharp drop in run-off in glacier retreated catch- ment, floods occur owing to extreme rainfall
Amu Darya (534,739)	10-20	increase in precipitation but drop in annual runoff	by 2100, probability of river runoff increase of 83%-87% owing to mainly an increase in precipita- tion
Indus (1,081,718)	44.8	significant increase in rain- fall (19%); increase in river flow between 14% and 90%	flow from glacial sub- basin peaks at about 150% of initial flow around 2060; 4% less annual mean flow
Ganges (1,016,124)	9.1	slight increase in rainfall and heavy rain; decrease in rainy days per 100 years	flow from glacial sub- basin peaks at about 170% of initial flow around 2070; 18% less annual mean flow
Brahmaputra (651,335)	12.3	increase in runoff (low flow and high flow); nosignifi- cant change in precipitation but change in runoff at lower basin	annual flow in Lhasa River increases by 11.3% and monthly maximum flow increases by 45% in 2050s
Irrawaddy (413,710)	Small	unknown	unknown
Salween (217,914)	8.8	increase in river flow dur- ing monsoon	river-flow decrease over short term (2010-2039) and increase over long term (2070-2099)
Mekong (805,604)	6.6	increase in precipitation during early monsoon; increase in runoff	rainfall and extreme floods increase

Table 2.1	Predicted hydrological responses of 10 rivers in the Greater Himalayan
	region to climate change

2 |Sensitivity and Vulnerability Across Asia—Ecoregional Perspective

River (basin area) /km²	Glacial melt in river flow /%	Signal of trends	Probable future
Yangtze (1,722,193)	18.5	increase in precipitation, extreme rainfall and fre- quent floods; no signifi- cant change in runoff	glacier areas in upper Yangtze decrease by 11.6% and glacial dis- charge runoff increases 28.5% by 2050
Yellow (944,970)	1.3	no significant change in precipitation, but signifi- cant decrease in runoff	rainfall and evapotranspi- ration increase: river flow decreases
	17.4 (average)		

Continued

Source: Xu et al., 2009

The relatively harsh conditions of mountains have tended to limit the population of this zone, and the population density has been rather low. However, in recent decades, there has been a trend towards both depopulation and urbanization, leading to the development of dense urban areas. Mountains often have great spiritual, cultural and historical value for people.

There are increasing urbanization processes and air pollution in many mountainous areas in Asia, especially in South Asia. The increases in human activities in mountain areas will certainly post additional pressure on the environment and ecosystems in the region.

2.3 Coastal areas

Over 60% of population and 2/3 of major cities are located along the coastal areas in the world. Asia has the longest and the most complex coastlines, and many Asia countries are islands. Special features such as daily tides, storm waves, tidal flats, mangrove forests, coral reefs, and vast sandy beaches exist only on the coast. On the other hand, coastal zones are used for human settlement, agriculture, trade, industry, and amenity and as shore bases for maritime activities such as shipping, fishing, aquaculture, and sea mining. In the same coastal zones, destructive natural disasters take place, killing ten of thousands of people and destroying upland properties, as demonstrated by the tsunami disasters. Asia coastal zones are threatened by the combined effects of population growth, urban and agricultural development, industrial expansion, recreational pressures, offshore waste disposal, the exploitation of freshwater and marine resources, coastal erosion, overextraction of groundwater and the impacts of rising sea levels.

Most critical environmental and climate change issues in Asian coastal

and islands regions are:

(1) Inland source sediments and water pollutions;

- (2) Eutrophication and harmful algae bloom;
- (3) Sea level rise, coastal erosion, and saltwater intrusion;
- (4) Extreme precipitation events and natural disasters;
- (5) Damage of mangrove and coral reef and declining fish stock.

A large percentage of Asia's population lives in coastal areas and on the many low-lying offshore islands. Most of these people depend on coastal and marine resources for their livelihoods. Coastal aquaculture has been the most important fishery activity in Southeast Asia with more than 30,000 households, in more than 64,000 ha, earning their livelihood from shrimp farming. In recent decades, however, all coastal areas and marine resources in Southeast Asia have been affected by global warming, extreme events, and rising sea levels.

Typhoons, storm surges and tsunamis have maximum impact on coastal zones, often resulting in huge losses of human life in the Asia coastal region. Evidence indicates that sea levels are rising and major typhoons are stronger and occurring more frequently because of warmer seawater (Emanuel, 2005). Meanwhile, humans have overexploited groundwater, which has resulted in land subsidence and seawater intrusion. Humans have also removed large swathes of mangroves and have reclaimed land from wetlands and coral reefs, resulting in a loss of natural buffers against sea-borne disasters.

Asia is undergoing unprecedented urban growth that will add substantially to the population residing in its coastal regions (Figure 2.7). Much of this rapid population and economic growth is occurring in large coastal cities at high risk from sea level rise and climate change. Asia's densely populated deltas and other low lying coastal urban areas are among those key societal hotspots of coastal vulnerability with many millions of people potentially affected. The potential for loss in the region has been amply demonstrated in the recent past by loss of life and property from flooding, particularly when high tides were combined with storm surges and high river flows. The risks posed by climate change to Asia's coastal population will persist, despite any greenhouse gas stabilization, in the future sea level rise and climate change are unavoidable given existing high atmospheric CO_2 levels and projected growth in population and infrastructure.

Important atmospheric and oceanic phenomena that occur in the Asia coastal region, such as the Asian monsoon and the ENSO, are highly variable. Within the region, the occurrence and variability of these phenomena induce a tendency for increased extreme climatic events, such as frequent droughts and heavy rains.

Economic activities of many of the Asian countries heavily depend on developments of the coastal zones. In line with global trends, more than half of the region's population presently resides in the coastal zones. The consequences of this population growth, accompanied by rapid urban expansion and industrial development, pose a significant threat to the vulnerability of the

$2\,|_{\mbox{Sensitivity}}\,\mbox{and}\,\mbox{Vulnerability}\,\mbox{Across}\,\mbox{Asia}\mbox{--}\mbox{Ecoregional}\,\mbox{Perspective}$

Asian coastal zones. All coastal areas are facing an increasing range of stress and shock caused by natural disasters like tsunami and storm surges.



(a) The Halong Bay, Vietnam



(b) Istanbul, Turkey

Figure 2.7 Coastal land use and development in Asia (Photo credit: (a) Xia Li; (b) Gensuo Jia)

2.3.1 Coral bleaching

Coral bleaching has significantly increased in recent years due to global warming. Coral bleaching is a stress response in which the coral animal expels most or all of its endosymbiotic zooxanthellae (Brown, 1997). In the extreme case, the bleaching response is fatal to the coral host, and can devastate entire reefscapes over vast areas of ocean (e.g., McClanahan, 2000; Sheppard, 2003).

A diverse range of stress factors (e.g. low salinity, low temperature, high sedimentation, aerial exposure, cyanide exposure) can initiate the bleaching response, although the combination of high irradiance and anomalously warm sea surface temperatures (SSTs) is the primary triggering condition for the modern occurrence of large-scale mass bleaching events (Hoegh-Guldberg, 1999). Indeed, coral bleaching has consistently occurred where normal summer sea temperatures have exceeded ambient by $1-2^{\circ}$ C for more than a few days (Hoegh-Guldberg, 1999). In addition to these factors, it has recently been demonstrated that corals which regularly experience poor water quality conditions.

Coral bleaching is the most commonly reported impact of climate change on marine resources. Coral bleaching has increased significantly since 1979 in Asia. The most significant mass bleaching event on record was associated with the 1997–1998 El Niño, when vast and diverse coral reefs in Southeast Asia were reported to have been lost (Wilkinson, 2002; Arceo et al., 2001). According to Wetland International, the 1997–1998 El Niño damaged about 18% of the coral ecosystems in region (Burke et al., 2002).

Coral bleaching was observed in many parts of Indonesia, such as in the eastern part of Sumatra, and in Java, Bali, and Lombok. In Thousand Islands, about 90%–95% of corals 25 meters below the surface were bleached. In the Philippines, the recent sea surface temperature increase of 0.5°C above the normal summer maximum temperature, coupled with the associated El Niño periods, started coral bleaching in many areas of the country. Amadore (2005) and Arceo et al. (2001) have reported massive coral bleaching in various reefs caused by elevated sea temperatures also during the severe 1997–1998 ENSO episode.

2.3.2 Mangrove forests degradation

The coastal ecosystems in Asia are diverse, ranging through tropical, subtropical and temperate coastal ecosystems, such as mangroves, coral reefs, sea-grass beds, brackish and marine wetlands and marshlands. These ecosystems are rich in biodiversity and some ecosystems are habitats for rare and endangered species. These ecosystems also provide goods and services for human society, security and economies within and outside the coastal zone. Coastal biodiversity in many Asia countries is an important source of food, energy and income for subsistence livelihoods. In addition there is potential for tourism, commercial and pharmaceutical uses

Mangrove forests occur along tropical and subtropical coastlines and serve as breeding, spawning, hatching, and nursery grounds for many marine species (Baran, 1999; Barbier, 2000). Next to this habitat function, mangroves also provide wood and non-wood forest products and values to indigenous people. They may act as a physical barrier to protect human settlements from the ocean (Badola and Hussain, 2005).

The Indian Ocean tsunami on 26 December 2004 caused catastrophic destruction to coastal communities (Figure 2.8). It resulted in casualties estimated at more than 220,000. According to some reports, however, areas with coastal trees, such as mangroves (which are widespread in Southeast Asia), suffered substantially less damage than areas without them (Danielsen et al., 2005; Kathiresan and Rajendran, 2005). Findings from previous studies have also
2 | Sensitivity and Vulnerability Across Asia—Ecoregional Perspective

indicated that coastal trees help reduce the damaging effects of natural disasters. For example, Mazda et al. (1997) observed that sea wave height during a typhoon was reduced by 20% in a mangrove forest with a width of 100 m, and Wolanski (2007) also suggested that coastal trees are useful for the protection of human life and property from natural disasters such as typhoons, as well as coastal erosion, salt spray, and wind damage.



(a) Before the tsunami



(b) After the tsunami

Figure 2.8 Pair of satellite images of the Banda Aceh shoreline in Indonesia before and after the 2004 tsunami (Source: Digital Globe)

Learned from highly differential impacts of 2004 tsunami due to protection of mangrove forests, India and Bangladesh Bengal gradually realized the importance of mangroves in Sunderbans of the Bay of Bengal. It is not only the source of income of the fishermen but also the effective mechanism of coastal protection. Vietnam also invests in recovering of mangrove, as a cost effective mean of protecting coastal area. In Vietnam, tropical storm caused mass loss of living resources, especially in the coastal communities. Along the coast, re-

TOWARDS A SUSTAINABLE ASIA ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE CHANGE

covery of mangrove ecosystem in Vietnam is a cost-effective way to improve the coastal barrier, as well as brings means of livelihood to the local (Figure 2.9). Since 1994, the National Red Cross in Vietnam has cooperated with local community in planting and protecting mangrove in northern Vietnam, growing almost 120 square kilometers mangrove and bringing remarkable benefit. Although the cost of planting and protecting mangrove was nearly 110 million dollars annually, but 730 million dollar maintenance costs of seawall was saved. In 2000, during the period of the powerful typhoon "Wukong", the implementation area of mangrove ecosystem restoration in Vietnam was not damaged, but nearby province suffered huge losses of life and property and livelihood. Vietnam Red Cross estimated 7,750 families benefit from the mangrove restoration project (UNEP, 2007). These family members can sell crab, shrimp and mollusks earning additional income as well as increase protein in their diet.



Figure 2.9 Rapid declining of mangrove forest along the coasts near China-Vietnam boarder, largely driven by land use modification (Photo credit: Xia Li)

It has been estimated that approximately 75% of tropical coasts worldwide were once fringed with mangroves. Historically, large tracts of the coastal zone of SE Asia have been occupied by mangroves. During the past decades, these mangroves have been cleared over vast areas to accommodate increasingly intensive forms of land-use for human benefit such as settlement, transport infrastructure, agriculture and aquaculture, especially shrimp farming (Farnsworth and Ellison, 1997).

Climate change components that affect mangroves include changes in sealevel, high water events, storminess, precipitation, temperature, atmospheric CO_2 concentration, ocean circulation patterns, health of functionally linked neighboring ecosystems, as well as human responses to climate change. Of all the outcomes from changes in the atmosphere's composition and alterations to land surfaces, relative sea-level rise may be the greatest threat (Lovelock and Ellison, 2007). Although, so far, it has likely been a smaller threat than anthropogenic activities such as conversion for aquaculture and filling (Alongi, 2002; Duke et al., 2007), relative sea-level rise is a substantial cause of recent and predicted future reductions in the area and health of mangroves and other tidal wetlands (McLeod and Salm, 2006; Gilman et al., 2007).

In the past 30 years, coastal resources such as mangroves, coral reefs have been depleted on a large scale and this has become a critical issue for the region. For example, more than 60% of Asia's mangroves has been converted to aquaculture farms while the combined effects of higher temperature and pollution of seawater threaten coral reefs; de facto more than 80% to 90% of coral reefs in some countries may already be threatened. Asia and the region are losing resource bases to support people's everyday lives and future economic development as well as rich biodiversity in the coastal zones. If such human-induced pressures are heightened and superimposed by global climate changes, the effects will be devastating for the sustainability of the coastal environment.

2.3.3 Coastal flooding and erosion

Asian coasts are characterized by large and rapid changes in coastal geomorphology in many ways including erosion and the construction of largescale engineering works. They host large deltas, many of which have suffered from coastal erosion over past decades this opposes the natural deltaic function. Coastal flooding and erosion in Asia have intensified in recent years due to the combined effect of extreme climatic and nonclimatic events. The recent erosion is caused by decrease of sediment supplied by rivers, which is in turn due to river watershed development such as dam construction. For example, the Yellow River in China, which was once the second largest river in the world in terms of sediment discharge, delivers less than 10% of its past discharge because of dam construction and irrigation. This reduction has caused serious coastal erosion around the river's mouth in the East China Sea.

Mangrove forests play a critical role in the protection of coastlines in Southeast Asia. Many of the mangrove forests have been converted into aquaculture and other related projects, and in some cases are converted into human settlements where gathering of mangrove trees for charcoal making and construction materials are practiced unsustainably. As a consequence, many areas have been exposed to tidal waves and coastal erosion.

Coastal flooding and erosion have been accelerated by the destabilization of coastlines due to advancing sea levels and extreme events (such as La Niña and tropical cyclones), causing significant damage in many parts of the region. The tropical cyclones that hit Southeast Asia in recent years, together with storm surges, have accelerated the erosion of beaches, steep bluffs, deltas, and mangrove swamps. This has led to substantial economic losses, loss of lands, and even premature deaths of inhabitants.

Thailand's 2,667-km shoreline is under serious threat from coastal erosion, which is occurring at the rate of 15–25 meters per year in some places. Coastal erosion is a significant problem along the Gulf of Thailand from Trat province in the east to Narathiwat province in the south. Due to coastal erosion and an advancing sea, most of these areas are now deforested, degraded, and devastated, and groundwater resources are already contaminated with seawater. Many families have been forced to abandon their coastal homes, as few people can afford to continue rebuilding houses washed away regularly by the sea. Also in Thailand, storm surges have become stronger and more frequent. Certain spots along the inner gulf (for example, areas along the upper south around Prachuab Khiri Khan, Changwat in southern Thailand) and the eastern tip of the south (in Narathiwas and Songkhla provinces) have been eroded by strong winds and the changing direction of seawater flows (ADB, 2009).

Coastal erosion has been observed in key cities and areas in the Philippines including Cebu and La Union. The factors that may have caused coastal erosion in La Union are relative sea level rise, decrease in precipitation, increase in storm, watershed erosion, beach sand mining, and destruction of coral reefs, mangroves and sand dunes (Siringan et al. 2004).

2.3.4 Rising sea levels

Rising sea levels has caused saltwater intrusion into coastal freshwater and groundwater resources in many areas of Southeast and South Asia. Rising sea levels have also accelerated inundation and land subsidence in coastal cities and communities, resulting in considerable losses to tourism and aquaculture industries. In Indonesia, groundwater resources in a number of metropolitan areas near the coast of Jakarta, Surabaya, and Semarang have been affected by saltwater intrusion. This problem has existed in Jakarta since the 1960s. Saltwater intrusion in the shallow and deep aquifers f Jakarta has reached inland up to 10–15 km from the coastline. The problem has been exacerbated by overexploitation of groundwater, which has caused land subsidence (ADB, 2009).

Rising sea levels is predicted to severely affect millions of Asian. Millions of people living in the low-lying areas of China, Bangladesh, India, Vietnam, and other Asia coastal areas will be affected by rising sea levels by the end of this century. By 2100, under the most common predictions, global mean sea level is projected to increase by 40 cm, which could mean an increase in the average annual number of people flooded within coastal regions, or from 13 million to 94 million people worldwide. About 20% of them will live in Southeast Asia, particularly Indonesia, Philippines, Thailand, and Vietnam.

In Indonesia, rising sea levels, in combination with land subsidence due to overexploitation of ground water, will definitely move the coastline inland, with an associated higher risk of flooding. Dasanto and Istanto (2007) found that when the mean sea level increases by about 0.5 meters and land subsidence

$2\,$ |Sensitivity and Vulnerability Across Asia—Ecoregional Perspective

continues, parts of six sub-districts of North Jakarta and Bekasi will be permanently inundated. With a sea level rise of about 1 meter, it was estimated that about 405,000 ha of coastal land including small islands will be inundated. The impact may be severe in certain coastal areas such as the north coast of Java, the east coast of Sumatra, and the south coast of Sulawesi (Subandono, 2002).

These risks will be further intensified if sea surges associated with intense storm activities increase. More intense typhoon activities will also pose threats to inland areas where frequent mudslides are triggered by torrential rains associated with typhoons.

2.4 Urban areas

Urbanization doubtlessly has been the most significant demographic trend in the world for at least a century and promises to become even more significant in the future. Nowadays over 50% of the world's population lived in urban areas, and the United Nations estimates that 60% of the population will live in urban areas by 2030. Today, China has approximately the same urban population share as did the United States 100 years ago (45%), and will reach 60% by 2030. Currently about 30% of India's population lives in urban, but the number will increase to 40% by 2030. Now, 13 of the 20 largest urban areas in the world are in Asia. Meanwhile, all five of the largest urban areas in the world are in Asia, they are Tōkyō, Jakarta, Mumbai, Delhi, and Manila. Asia is now no doubt the center of urbanization.

Most critical environmental and climate change issues in Asia urban areas are :

(1) Air pollutions and greenhouse gas emissions from transportation, manufacturing, and household source;

(2) Solid wastes from packaging, industrial processes, and household source;

(3) Water pollution and shortage over both surface and subsurface;

(4) Urban heat islands and heat waves;

(5) Urban flood.

The population of Asia has increased rapidly over the last three decades. In 1995, there were five megacities in Asia. Nowadays, half of the world's megacities are in Asia, population centers with more than 10 million people living in them. Tōkyō and saka became megacities in the 1960s, Seoul, Shanghai, and Mumbai in the 1980s, Beijing and Karāchi in the 1990s, and Jakarta and Manila in the early 2000s. The populations of several other Asian cities are also approaching 10 million, e.g., Dacca, Kolkata, Deli, Tianjin, and Bangkok.

A key point of concern is that the current urban transition is occurring much faster than ever before. What took two centuries in the past will now occur in decades. In addition, the absolute numbers today are much larger

TOWARDS A SUSTAINABLE ASIA ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE CHANGE

than ever. The North Atlantic urban transition involved a few hundred million people; the transition today, especially in Asia, involves billions of people. The greater speed and numbers of this transition impose on Asian urbanization a much greater sense of urgency to identify and address the problems the transition is bringing.

Urbanization is a major driver, and outcome, of economic and social development; this is especially true for the rapid growth of Asia economy in past two decades (Figure 2.10). The life styles of people live in urban areas are crucial to patterns of energy demand for mobility, comfort and the production of consumer goods. In rapidly urbanizing regions in Asia developing countries, deteriorating air quality is a common phenomenon with serious consequences for public health and the environment. Apart from local pollutants, aerosols, trace gases and greenhouse gas emissions may have important impacts regionally and globally. Emissions of aerosols can change the atmospheric heat balance, the size and weight of cloud particles. What influence these have on the intensity of monsoon circulation, onset timing, number of rainy days and extreme events is still not well understood. Increasing urban air pollutants not only post direct harm to local population, but also act as greenhouse gases that enhance global warming.



Figure 2.10 Dense human population and intense urbanization in East Asia, South Asia, and Southeast Asia as detected from satellite. White-yellow areas represent urban areas, while concentrated bright patches are major cities (Source: NASA/US Defense Meteorological Satellite Program (DMSP), 2006)

Urbanization is often accused to cause environmental problems; however, it is likely a not-so-bad solution for increasing environmental pressure in many parts of Asia. Urban provides efficient infrastructure for living and employment

$2\,$ |Sensitivity and Vulnerability Across Asia—Ecoregional Perspective

of ever increasing Asia population, and therefore, largely released pressure on rural land and natural ecosystems. Urban also offers better management options for energy and water use. And more importantly, urban manufacturing and services are the major contributors for the 20-year Asia economy miracle.

Urban sources of air pollution in Asia have major contribution to low air quality in surrounding areas, and to some extents, to climate change at regional, even global scales. The economic impact of pollution in urban areas in terms of loss of productivity and health costs are estimated to exceed 10 percent of gross domestic product in some countries. Most air pollutants, including CO, NO, SO_2 , O_3 , etc. are either greenhouse gases or important for climate radiation forcing. Aerosol composition and acid precipitation change seasonally, following seasonal patterns of Asia monsoon.

The urban environment is where an increasing share of the world's population resides, where most commercial energy is consumed, and where the impacts of pollution are felt the most. Rapid economic growth in urban Asia has attracted millions of rural residents to metropolitan environments. Asia presently has approximately 1 billion (26% of total population) urban dwellers, projected to grow at an average of 4% per year to 3 billion (55% of total population) by 2025 (WDI, 2009). These cities are distributed throughout Asia, including Mumbai, New Delhi, Calcutta, Dhākā, and Karāchi in the Indian Subcontinent; Singapore, Kuala Lumpur, Jakarta, and Bangkok in the Southeast Asia; and Beijing, Shanghai, Chongqing, Guangzhou, Tōkyō, Seoul and Pusan in East Asia. Changing standards of living in the urban centers have fueled increasing energy demand often associated with unchecked emissions from automobiles, domestic heating, and small-scale industries. Coal being the cheapest and most widely accessible, is still the primary source of energy in Asia and contributes significantly to sulfur and particulate pollution levels that often exceed the WHO air quality guidelines.

2.4.1 Urban air pollution

Presently, the urban air pollution problems in Asia are continuing to increase and air pollutants originating from urban regions are recognized as increasing sources of regional- and global-scale pollution (Streets et al., 1999). Besides stationary combustion sources such as thermal power plants and industrial estates, air pollution from mobile sources has also become a major contributor to increasing human health effects in the urban environments of Asia (Krupnick and Harrington, 2000). The megacities and major urban areas in Asia cover 0.2% of the land cover but produce 10%–20% of regional trace gas emissions.

In the last two decades, Asian cities have experienced an increased demand for fossil fuels that led to intensified sulfur pollution due to the high sulfur content in locally available energy resources. However, increased pollution awareness campaigns, stringent pollution control regulations, use of low sulfur fuel, implementation of desulfurization techniques, and periodic moni-

TOWARDS A SUSTAINABLE ASIA ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE CHANGE

toring have resulted in a significant reduction in sulfur and other trace gas emissions in many cities. Nevertheless, sulfur pollution levels remain significantly above compliance levels throughout large parts of Asia (Klimont et al., 2001; Reddy and Venkataraman, 2002). Environmental and economic costs of human health associated with air pollution arising from energy use are one example of the cost implications of infrastructure choices and urban development.

Asian cities face a serious air pollution problem from two- and threewheelers vehicles that run on two-stroke engines. Because two-stroke engines burn an oil–gasoline mixture, they emit more smoke, carbon monoxide, hydrocarbons, and particulate matter than the gas-only four-stroke engines found in newer motorcycles. Measurements of how much pollution two-wheelers emit are rare, but one study of traffic intersections in Bangkok, Thailand, found that two-wheelers contributed up to 47% of particulates. When two-stroke baby taxis were phased out of Dhākā, Bangladesh, in 2002, particulate concentrations dropped up to 40%, and carbon monoxide and hydrocarbons fell significantly (Potera, 2004).

Meanwhile, increasing private cars on the streets and worsening traffic jams in most Asia cities post major pressure on urban infrastructure and management, and make it difficult to solve the problems of air pollution. Bicycles and public transpiration have been primary or even only mobility tools in most Asian developing countries over past century, but now they are quickly replaced by automobiles in many Asian cities. Going back is not a solution, but a reasonable balance between them will definitely benefit to both economy and the environment.

RAINS-Asia (Regional Air pollution INtegration and Simulation-Asia) project has estimated emissions of SO₂ from Asia during the period 1975–2000. The project presents the population for year 2000 and total sulfur emissions from a 1 $^{\circ}$ \times 1 $^{\circ}$ grid cell covering the city limits of 25 megacities included in this study. Today these urban centers account for an average of 16% of the total anthropogenic sulfur emissions in Asia. For 1990, grid cells containing Karāchi, Mumbai, Bangkok, Singapore, Manila, Hong Kong, Beijing, Shanghai, Chongqing, Guangzhou, Wuhan, Taibei, Seoul and Tōkyō each had emissions in excess of 100 kt SO₂ per year. Chinese cities have the highest sulfur emissions, but SO₂ emissions in many cities have declined in the 1990s. Efforts of national and municipal governments, with the cooperation of private industry, have lead to sulfur pollution control programs in East Asia which have resulted in: improvements in combustion processes; the substitution of coal based applications with low-sulfur fuel and natural gas; a change in fuel standards in the transportation sector leading to a reduction in the S-content of fuels used; and the installation of air pollution control facilities (Shah et al., 2000).

2.4.2 Urban heat island (UHI)

Urban development often causes great modification of land surface prop-

$2\,$ |Sensitivity and Vulnerability Across Asia—Ecoregional Perspective

erties, landscape pattern, and even local climate through changing land use and cover. Urban expansion resulted by economic development and population growth has changed land surface properties in urban and surrounding areas, including green vegetation cover, surface albedo, surface roughness, and emissivity in many parts of the world, especially in East Asia. Meanwhile, urbanization also alters landscape mosaic in urban or suburban areas. These changes include expansion of tall buildings, roads, and other paved areas into urban-wildland interface, loss of cropland and woodland, and in many cases increase of urban greens such as city parks.

The expansion of so-called urban heat island (UHI) is considered as a direct climate consequence of urbanization, as solar radiation is sequestered by urban architecture. UHI has major impact on urban energy consumption and human health, and therefore needs to be considered in urban planning. Mean-while, UHI effects could be buffered by green vegetation through solar energy and water flux. Green vegetation cover is also a critical land surface parameter that influences hydrological cycle and exchange of water and energy between land and atmosphere.

Urbanization processes drive environmental change at multiple scales by altering land use and land cover, influencing hydrological systems, and modifying biogeochemical cycles and climate. Economic development also attracts food, fiber, water, and industrial materials to flow into urban area from surrounding countryside. The processes quickly turn surrounding areas into suburban by eliminating nature properties step by step. Dramatic urbanization in Asia's mega-cities is a very common phenomenon that converted large patches of croplands and woodlands into build-up within a matter of decade or even multiple years. Large scale changes of urban landuse patterns in East and Southeast Asia mega-cities have so far resulted in rapid change of land surface properties.

Expansion of urban heat islands has been accelerated in Asian cities. Because of rapid urbanization, urban warming has become a serious problem along with global warming (Nakagawa, 1996; Rizwan et al., 2008). Heat island intensity (HII), difference between urban and rural temperature, is a popular index used for indicating the urban warming trend. Figure 2.11 shows the variation in the E-HII (estimated HII) of the target Asian cities. saka shows the largest E-HII, increasing from approximately 2.4°C in 1901 to almost 3°C after 1981. The E-HIIs of Seoul, Tōkyō, and Taibei, have increased by 1 to 2°C. Jakarta and Bangkok exhibited a lower E-HII. E-HIIs of Manila and Bangkok have been increasing rapidly after 1961 (Kotaoka, 2009). Study also shows the relationship between the E-HII and the population of each of the target cities from 1950 to 2000. There are positive relationships between the E-HII and the population in each city. In eastern China, remotely sensed thermal infrared data have demonstrated the land surface temperature can get 2.5°C higher in city center than nearby green areas (Figure 2.12).



Figure 2.11 Variation in estimated heat island intensity in large Asian cities (Source: Kataoka, 2009)



Figure 2.12 Remotely sensed thermal infrared data have demonstrated the land surface temperature can get 2.5°C higher in city center than nearby green areas in east China. Image processed by Yonghong Hu and Gensuo Jia with NASA MODIS data

$2\,$ |Sensitivity and Vulnerability Across Asia—Ecoregional Perspective

2.4.3 Urban subsurface environment

Groundwater has become an increasingly important aspect of human life, though its role as part of the urban environment has not as yet been evaluated (Taniguchi et al., 2008). Perhaps the most dramatic and obvious subsurface environmental problem occurring in Asian coastal cities is the subsidence due to excessive pumping of groundwater. Subsidence due to excessive groundwater pumping has occurred repeatedly in large Asian cities as a result of an increase in demand for water resources (Figure 2.13). Compaction of sediments after subtracting pore water in the aquifer is the main reason for the subsidence. The magnitude of the subsidence depends on the drawdown depth of groundwater level, the duration time of the groundwater pumping and physical characteristics of the aquifer (i.e., clay or silt). Changes in reliable water resources from groundwater to surface water supplies have been initiated by government policies in many cases, yet subsidence is still not being prevented in many areas. This has resulted in a serious risk of flooding in many coastal cities in Asia. For example, some sections of Bangkok now flood during each spring tide. Climate change, such as changes in precipitation patterns due to global warming, have resulted in some Asian cities shifting their water resources in the opposite direction, i.e., from surface water to groundwater (Wang, 2005).



Figure 2.13 Change in groundwater level and amount of subsidence over selected Asia cities in past 20-80 years (Source: Taniguchi et al., 2008)

Groundwater over urban and densely populated areas is at particular risk. The exploitation of groundwater resources is leading to rapid lowering of water tables across China, India, Iran, Pakistan, and the Philippines; and diminished grain harvests due to overexploitation of ground water are reported in many areas across Asia. Poor communities depending on shallow drinking water wells and urban centers such as Jakarta that rely on groundwater are paying the price of too-rapid extraction. Surveys of groundwater used in industrial zones in India and used as a source of urban water in China show that the majority of sources are contaminated. Contamination of groundwater by naturally occurring arsenic has been confirmed in Afghanistan, Bangladesh, India, Nepal, Myanmar, China, Viet Nam, Cambodia, Thailand, Pakistan, and Iran. Estimates from published cases suggest that around 200 million people may be exposed

to health risks associated with arsenic-tainted drinking water on a daily basis. Another 129 million people in India and China may be at risk of serious dental and skeletal deformities from drinking water with high levels of fluoride (UNEP, 2007). While arsenic and fluoride are naturally occurring contaminants, the risk of exposure to these contaminants increases as the region becomes more dependent on its groundwater resources.

Another important aspect of the subsurface environment concerns material (contaminant) transport to the coast. Since most Asian megacities are located on the coast, material and contaminant transport by groundwater is a key to understanding present and future coastal water pollution and effects on associated ecosystems (Capone and Bautista, 1985). While the overall flow of fresh groundwater into the ocean is likely no more than about 6% of river runoff, it has been estimated that the total dissolved salt contributed by terrestrially-derived submarine groundwater discharge may reach as much as 50% of that contributed by rivers (Zektser and Loaiciga, 1993). This process will thus affect the biogeochemistry of estuaries and the coastal ocean through the addition of nutrients, metals, and carbon (Hwang et al., 2005). In addition to inputs of terrestrially-derived groundwater, recirculation of seawater through sediments by tidal pumping and other processes can also provide significant biogeochemical inputs and is also considered "submarine groundwater discharge" (Li et al., 1999; Burnett et al., 2003).

The biogeochemical importance of groundwater discharge to the coastal ocean is dependent on several variables, including the amount and type of nutrient enrichment, water column circulation and tidal flushing, and the groundwater flow rate, which is determined by the porosity and permeability of the underlying strata and the hydraulic head. During the passage of terrestrially-derived fluids through sediments in a coastal aquifer, mixing of seawater with fresh groundwater and chemical reactions of the fluids with solid phases will occur. Thus, the emerging fluid is often chemically distinct from both the groundwater and seawater endmembers. Concentrations of nutrients, trace metals, organic carbon, and other components may be considerably higher than coastal ocean waters. Groundwater may have nutrient concentrations several orders of magnitude greater than surface waters either from contamination sources or natural processes.

Flood disasters are now the most frequent and devastating natural disasters in monsoon Asia, with even greater threaten to urban areas. Changes to the Asian monsoon system, by altering flood regimes, may compound the existing challenges of managing in urbanizing regions by altering flood regimes. There are several possible pathways. First, increasing sea levels exacerbate risks of flooding of cities in coastal zone deltas. Second, the increasing frequency of extreme precipitation events is important apropos landslide risks and the risks for settlements in upland areas or sudden the river bank floods in lower flood plains. Third, climate change impacts on melting glaciers in the uppermost reaches or reduced precipitation in inland continental areas. Concurrent changes in land and water use may exacerbate or reduce the effects of changes in climate on disaster risks.

2 Sensitivity and Vulnerability Across Asia—Ecoregional Perspective

2.4.4 Solid waste

Municipal solid waste is everything collected and treated by municipalities. Only part of it comes from households, the rest is generated by small businesses, commercial and other municipal activities. So it is produced from both consumption and production processes. Like all waste, municipal waste is on the rise and it is growing faster than the population, a natural result of our increasing consumption rate and the shortening of product life-spans. As 1.6 billion Asian city residents enjoy the benefit of rapid economic growth, municipal waste is certainly a major environmental concern.

Solid waste management is an integral part of the urban planning and environmental management. It uses urban infrastructure to ensure a safe and healthy human environment while considering the promotion of sustainable economic growth (Figure 2.14).



Figure 2.14 Municipal solid waste generation for selected large cities in Asia (Source: UNEP/ GRID-Arendal Chart Database (2005). Credit: Philippe Rekacewicz, UNEP/GRID-Arendal)

There are two major issues featured the management of municipal solid waste in Asia, they are traditional/cultural issues and climatic factors. The recovery of reusable items like cloth bags, glass bottles, and metal containers occurs at the household level by the itinerant collectors who generally pay a nominal amount for the material or provide a useful material in exchange. This is found at the middle and lower income levels of the population of which there is a vast majority. This helps in reducing the quantity of refuse generated but bring gross negligence on the part of the generators inducing littering and unmonitored waste.

Climatic factors play another crucial role in the solid waste management. The monsoon effect with intense precipitation is found in south, southeast and east Asia with a wet season ranging from 5 months to almost throughout the year especially in the equatorial regions. Many Asian countries lie in the tropical or sub-tropical zone with a long wet season, and therefore, heat and humidity lead to higher moisture content in municipal waste, thus increase the weight load of the trash cans and treatment plants. In addition, high humidity with heat causes quick decomposition of organic portion of the waste and causes problems in handling and disposal, which directly affects the environmental health of the waste workers and the inhabitants. Such climatic conditions often require daily collection of waste, making the collection system even more expensive.

Rapidly growing populations, rapid economic growth and rise in community living standard have accelerated the generation rate of municipal solid waste causing its management to be a major worldwide challenge. Solid wastes accumulate in Asia and cities and towns with rapid economic growth, lead to increasing challenges to urban environments and human health (Figure 2.14). Particularly in major cities of developing countries, MSW management is a highly neglected area. The quantity of solid waste generation is mostly associated with the economic status of a society. Accordingly, Table 2.2 shows GDP, together with waste generation rates for some of the largest Asian economies (Shekdar, 2009). It clearly demonstrated that waste generation rates are lower for low income developing economies.

Countries/Regions	GDP	Waste quantity
Hongkong, China	37385	2.25
Japan	33010	1.1
Singapore	31165	1.1
Taiwan	31040	0.667
Republic of Korea	23331	1.0
Malaysia	12702	0.5-0.8
Thailand	9426	1.1
China	8854	0.8
Philippines	5409	0.3-0.7
Indonesia	5096	0.8-1
Sri Lanka	5047	0.2-0.9
India	3794	0.3-0.6
Vietnam	3502	0.55
Lao PDR	2260	0.7
Nepal	1760	0.2-0.5

Table 2.2 Information on GDP, waste quantity for some Asian economies

Source: Shekdar, 2009

$2\,|_{\mbox{Sensitivity}}\,\mbox{and}\,\mbox{Vulnerability}\,\mbox{Across}\,\mbox{Asia}\mbox{--}\mbox{Ecoregional}\,\mbox{Perspective}$

Transboundary movement of waste is another increasing solid waste problem. While the production and disposition of waste in Asian cities remain unresolved, the major economies in Asia such as China, India and ASEAN countries have become the destinations of illegal transboundary movement of waste. Especially, air and water pollution caused by illegal transboundary movement of electronics garbage in many Asian countries are getting serious. Asia is now becoming a key destination of international electronic waste (Figure 2.15).



Figure 2.15 Transboundary dumping of e-waste into Asia (Source: UNEP/GRID -Arendal Chart Database (2005)) (Credit: Philippe Rekacewicz, UNEP/GRID-Arendal)

3 Challenges and Opportunities for Better Environment

3.1 Key problems

Generally speaking, Asia is under rapid transition from agriculfure societies into industrial economies, though some countries like Japan are already among developed ones (Figure 3.1). Such transitions, featured by urbanization and industrialization, have continuously shaped regional environment for 20-30 years, and will likely last for another half century or so. It is unrealistic to expect major changes of development modes and environment impacts in the near future, and therefore, Asia environment will likely continue to get worse in coming years, despite of improvements in some areas. The economic standard of most Asia developing countries have not yet reached the turning points of so-called Environmental Kuznets Curve (See Box 3.1), which means that they will have to struggle for a difficult balance between economic growth and environmental quality for a long period.

Much of the environmental degradation in Asia occurs as a result of market failures, inefficiency in production and use of energy and resources, lack of ability or cooperation of local governments, lack of integrated planning, and weak environmental regulatory agencies.

Weak environmental regulatory agencies also have a large part to play for environmental degradation in this region. On one hand, environmental protection in the region is regarded as a policy goal to be pursued exclusively within environmental ministries or equivalent agencies. Few countries effectively mobilize other government agencies to this challenging task. On the other hand, although there are so many environmental regulations, they are not fully implemented in many cases. Environmental ministries or equivalent agencies in the region are often lack of real power and necessary facilities to design, implement, monitor, inspect and enforce new effective environmental polices and regulations.

Box 3.1 The Environmental Kuznets Curve

Kuznets predicted that the changing relationship between per capita income and income inequality is an inverted-U-shaped curve. As per capita income increases, income inequality also increases at first and then starts declining after a turning point (TP). In other words, the distribution of income becomes more unequal in early stage of income growth and then the distribution moves towards greater equality as economic growth continues.

There is evidence that the level of environmental degradation and per capita income follows the same inverted-U-shaped relationship as does income inequality and per capita income in the original Kuznets Curve. Now, Kuznets Curve has become a vehicle for describing the relationship between measured levels of environmental quality (for example, concentration of SO₂) and per capita income. This inverted-U-shaped relationship between economic growth and measured pollution indicators (environmental quality) is known as the EKC.

In the history of developed countries, the turning points ranged from 5,000-15,000 USD. The Environmental Kuznets Curve is now widely accepted among economic experts, environmental scientists, and even governments.





Asia has been heavily dependent on dirty-burning coal to fuel its rapidly growing economy. This coal dominance in the energy mix in developing Asia and inefficiencies in production and use of energy and resources, combined with rapid urbanization and motorization, have led to unprecedented environmental consequences. This situation would worsen because Asia will likely keep rapid economic growth in order to alleviate the poverty of the two-thirds of the world's poor living in the region.

Urban districts development and transportation infrastructure have been expanded at a remarkable rate in many Asia countries in past decades without considering eco-efficiency of energy and material use (Figure 3.2). A few countries are starting to exploit solar and wind energy but centralized, fossil-fuel based electricity infrastructure continues to expand. In most places, new development of sanitation infrastructure and services is based on developed-country models, implying significant environmental footprint. In many cases, new urban planning still follows the old fashions that do not include sufficient treatment facilities for wastewater and solid waste. The hidden environmental and economic costs of these unsustainable patterns of infrastructure development are substantial; pollution and the additional costs of physical infrastructure, as well as high future demand for energy and water, are important cost burdens that compromise sustainability of many Asia countries. Technical and financial barriers exist, but the greatest barrier is lack of awareness and institutions.



Figure 3.2 Statistical and predicted percentage of Asian population residing in urban areas from 1950 to 2050. Designed by Yaozhi Zhou based on UN data (Source: UN, 2009)

Meanwhile, Asia countries have to face various environmental impacts of climate change and natural disaster, which make regional environmental problems ever worse and more complicated.

Controlling greenhouse gases emission and adapting human settlements to withstand the extreme climatic conditions have become the most formidable

$3\,$ Challenges and Opportunities for Better Environment

challenges of our times. Even the most stringent mitigation efforts cannot avoid further impacts of climate change in the next few decades (Figure 3.3) (IPCC, 2007). Adaptation and mitigation actions include technological, institutional and behavioral options, the introduction of economic and policy instruments to encourage the use of these options, and research and development to reduce uncertainty and to enhance the options' effectiveness and efficiency. Opportunities exist to integrate adaptation and mitigation into broader development strategies and policies. However, although there may be synergies between mitigation and adaptation, e.g. planting of trees in urban areas help sequester carbon as they grow and reduces urban heat stress in summer, there also may be conflicts, e.g. dense compact urban forms reduce GHG emissions by facilitating public transit but, in hot-humid regions, the same form will contribute to human discomfort as in



Figure 3.3 Global anthropogenic GHG emissions (Source: Solomon et al., 2007)

such climatic zones, during summers, a tight arrangement of buildings would block the free movement of air so needed to lower body temperature. This apparent paradox poses a conundrum for planners and urban designers at a time when there is urgency to devise strategies to respond to climate change.

Asia is among the most vulnerable regions to climate change. The anthropogenic signal of climate change has been detected in Asia with strong statistical significance, making mitigation strategies a sensible option, especially in South Asia and China, where the highest concentrations of rural poor relying on agriculture reside. The effects of climate change will exacerbate stresses on agricultural production, particularly in low- and mid-latitude countries; will adversely affect wheat productivity in the Indo-Gangetic Plains; will reduce rice yields due to increased night-time temperatures; and will increase demand for water.

Table 3.1 estimates sectoral vulnerabilities for the subcontinental regions of Asia. It is widely accepted, however, that mitigation alone is not sufficient to solve the climate problem; a combination of the two approaches is most effective. In China, for example, a study by Lin et al. (2005) shows that areas of northwest China—such as Inner Mongolia, Ningxia, Gansu, Shanxi, and Shaanxi—are highly vulnerable to major meteorological disasters because of their low levels of development and lack of investment in adaptive measures. In addressing this vulnerability, the study stresses the importance of agricultural insurance, such as risk management, and income transfers to support and protect the agricultural sector, as well as the exploration of the gradual establishment of agricultural insurance policy as an adjunct to assistance provided by the Chinese government in the event of disasters affecting food security. In many instances, reform of existing policies is needed to promote adaptation to climate change. For example, diesel fuel for irrigation pumps in India is highly subsidized, leading to over pumping of water that exacerbates the increase in water scarcity due to climate change.

Subregon	Food and fiber	Bio diver- sity	Water resource	Coastal ecosys- tem	Human health	Settle- ments	Land deg- radation
North Asia	+1/H	-2/M	+1/M	-1/M	-1/M	-1/M	-1/M
Central Asia and West Asia	-2/H	-1/M	-2/VH	-1/L	-2/M	-1/M	-2/H
Tibetan Plateau	+1/L	-2/M	-1/M	Not ap- plicable	Information not available	Information not available	-1/L
East Asia	-2/VH	-2/H	-2/H	-2/H	-1/H	-1/H	-2/H
South Asia	-2/H	-2/H	-2/H	-2/H	-2/M	-1/M	-2/H
Southeast Asia	-2/H	-2/H	-1/H	-2/H	-2/H	-1/M	-2/H

Table 3.1 Vulnerabilities of key sectors for the subcontinental regions of Asia

Source: Cruz et al., 2007

3 Challenges and Opportunities for Better Environment

As discussed in previous sections, Asia has vast plateaus and high mountains, the largest portion of arid and semi-arid areas, and the longest (approximately 283,188 km) and complex shorelines in the world. Those areas are especially vulnerable to fluctuation of air temperature and precipitation, and rise of sea levels.

Meanwhile, there is a major conflict between rapid economic growth and emission control in Asia. The rapid economic development along with the booming of population in Asia in past 2-3 decades have greatly increased the wealth in the region, but also stimulated the demands for energy and natural resources, and further accelerated the emission of greenhouse gases and environmental pollution.

Clearly, high percentage of rural poor and urban dwellers in Asia are vulnerable to climate change and weak in adaptation and mitigation. Despite of the rapid economic growth and major achievements in combating poverty, the level of poverty in Asia is still very high. By the end of 2007 there were still 1.4 billion world population lived under poverty level (with daily income less than 1.25 USD). Among them, 903 millions (2/3 of the world poorest) lived in Asia-Pacific region. Nowadays, South Asia is still the poorest region in the world (WDI, 2009). The poor population had increased from 470 millions in 1981 to 550 millions in 2005 in South Asia, makes it the only region that had net increase of poverty.

Poor communities can be especially vulnerable, in particular those concentrated in high risk areas. They tend to have more limited adaptive capacities, and are more dependent on climate-sensitive resources such as local water and food supplies.

3.2 Responses and actions from various sectors

With increasing environmental deterioration and climate change impacts, actions are essential for managing and reducing their negative impacts. Such actions also offer an opportunity to adjust economic activities in vulnerable sectors and to support sustainable development and poverty reduction. Nowadays individuals, households, communities, businesses, and governments in many Asia countries are taking serious steps to improve our environment and to cope with climate change. Adaptation involves adjustments in natural or human systems in response to actual or expected environmental and climate change impacts to reduce harm or exploit beneficial opportunities. It can operate at two broad levels: building national and local adaptive capacity, and delivering specific adaptation actions. Table 3.2 summarizes major adaptation options that are available and have been practiced in developing countries as reported in UNFCCC (2007).

Items	Reactive/Responsive	Proactive/Anticipatory
Water Resources	 Protection of groundwater resources Improved management and maintenance of existing water supply systems Protection of water catchment areas Improved water supply Groundwater and rainwater harvesting and desalination 	 Better use of recycled water Conservation of water catchment areas Improved system of water manage- ment Water policy reform including pric- ing and irrigation policies Development of flood controls and drought monitoring
Agriculture	 Erosion control Dam construction for irrigation Changes in fertilizer use and application Introduction of new crops Soil fertility maintenance Changes in planting and harvesting times Switch to different cultivars Educational and outreach programs on conservation and management of soil and water 	 Development of tolerant/resistant crops (to drought, salt, insect/pests) Research and development Soil-water management Diversification and intensification of food and plantation crops Policy measures, tax incentives/ subsidies, free market Development of early warning systems
Forestry	 Improvement of management systems including control of deforestation, reforestation, and afforestation Promoting agroforestry to improve forest goods and services Development/improvement of national forest fire management plans Improvement of carbon storage in forests 	 Creation of parks/reserves, protected areas and biodiversity corridors Identification/development of species resistant to climate change Better assessment of the vulnerability of ecosystems Monitoring of species Development and maintenance of seed banks Including socio-economic factors in management policy
Coastal and Marine Resources	 Protection of economic infrastructure Public awareness to enhance protection of coastal and marine ecosystems Building sea walls and beach reinforcement Protection and conservation of coral reefs, mangroves, sea grass, and littoral vegetation 	 Integrated coastal zone management Better coastal planning and zoning Development of legislation for coastal protection Research and monitoring of coasts and coastal ecosystems
Health	 Public health management reform Improved housing and living conditions Improved emergency response 	 Development of early warning system Better and/or improved disease/ vector surveillanceand monitoring Improvement of environmental quality Changes in urban and housing design

|--|

Source: ADB, 2009; Adapted from UNFCCC, 2007

3.2.1 Industry Sectors

Rapid economic development of Asia developing countries over past 20-30 years has helped millions of people get rid of extreme poverty, which is a significant achievement towards the Millennium Development Goals (MDG). However, the achievement was accompanied with wasteful consumption of energy and raw materials. The increasing demands for energy, water, and materials led to environmental deterioration and rise of greenhouse gas emissions, and put a big shadow on the achievements in social and economic development. Good news is that manufacturers in many Asia countries are making major progress on eco-efficiency and pollution controls.

In September 2009, UNIDO, the Philippines government, UNESCAP, and UNEP jointly organized an international conference on Asia green industry. Senior officers from 22 Asia countries signed an agreement of Manila Declaration on Green Industry in Asia and framework of actions. The declaration urged governments, private sectors, and international organizations work together to strengthen green growth strategies. UNIDO is promoting its Green Industry Initiative, a pattern of industrial development that is economically, environmentally and socially sustainable.

According to the Manila Declaration, Asia countries aim to reduce industrial emissions to the lowest possible level thought clean energy and ecoefficient technologies. It also urged implementation of low carbon strategies among governments, international organizations, private sectors, and science community.

Recent global economic and financial crisis greatly reshaped structure of industrial sectors, and accelerated the development and application of energy efficient technologies and alternative energy industry. This is a very good opportunity for industry upgrades and restructuring Asia industry. Those challenges could push Asia industry to strengthen their competitiveness in global markets as well as to go greener.

China is seriously implementing its low carbon policies for climate change adaptation and mitigation. In 2007, China released the national plan for climate change adaptation and mitigation, and outlined the targets, principles, priority areas, and strategies for actions towards 2020. One of the major tasks listed is reduction of greenhouse gas emission from vehicles. China promised to cut CO_2 emission by 40%-45% per GDP unit by 2020 over 2005 baselines. This is a challenging task for industrial sectors, the most important contributors to economic growth, resources and energy consumptions, and environmental pollutions.

Indian government promised to limit its per capita greenhouse gas emission to equivalent or even lower level of developed countries by increasing industrial energy use efficiency, encouraging use of renewable energy, and introducing clean energy technologies. Euro V emission standard will be applied on four-wheel automobiles by the end of 2010. Indian government also released series of regulations in its current five-year plan (2007-2012) for more environmentally friendly cars on the roads.

The government of Republic of Korea took great efforts on energy efficiency and alternative energy in recent years. According to its 2008 national energy strategic plan, the energy use efficiency in Republic of Korea will be increased by 46% in 2030, an annual increase of 2.6%.

Many other Asia countries are taking similar efforts to achieve more environmentally friendly manufacturing and services. Several major Asia based auto manufacturers, including BYD, Volkswagen China, Honda, and Toyota have accelerated the development and even market sharing of hybrid and electrical vehicles in past five years.

3.2.2 Water resources sector

There is compelling evidence that a substantial increase in global food production is needed to feed growing populations, and to reduce or eliminate situations where people have insufficient food for their daily needs. This increase in production will require more water. At global scale, the agricultural sector uses the vast majority of freshwater resources, and so is a logical target for economizing water use and developing methodologies for growing more food with less water.

Because agriculture and healthy ecosystems can be compatible goals, the major challenge is to improve irrigation for food production by increasing water and land productivity, supporting ecosystem services and building resilience, while mitigating environmental damage, especially within the context of ecosystem-based integrated water resources management (IWRM) approaches.

Since groundwater levels are falling, and aquifer water stores are shrinking in many highly-populated countries, much of the additional water required for agricultural production must come from dammed rivers. While acknowledging the environmental damage and socio-economic dislocation associated with construction of some dams, the building of more dams cannot be dismissed, since they can provide significant sources of water. But, more attention must be directed to understanding and balancing the environmental and socioeconomic impacts associated with dam construction and operation against the benefits to be derived from them. Augmenting the resources of water-scarce regions by inter-basin transfer is another established option, although proposed schemes must demonstrate the social, environmental and economic benefits to both the donating and the receiving basins.

While the impacts of increasing water demand for agriculture may be acceptable in countries with ample water resources, the escalating burden of water demand will become intolerable in water- scarce countries. Such situations can be alleviated to some degree by water-scarce countries shifting their food production to "water-rich" ones, deploying their own limited water resources into more productive economic sectors. This would address the need for energy-and technology intensive transport of water to distant areas of demand. Although globalization in the agriculture and related food production sectors already facilitates such changes, these approaches require close cooperation between producing and receiving countries. Better management of marine, coastal and inland waters and their associated living resources improves the integrity and productivity of these ecosystems.

Although there is little scope to expand or develop new fisheries, there is considerable opportunity to improve the management of existing fisheries and food production. Governments, industry and fishing communities can cooperate in reducing fish stock losses by making much needed changes to reduce excess fishing effort, subsidies and illegal fishing.

Aquaculture currently helps to address the issue of food security, and has the potential to contribute further both by increasing fish supplies cost effectively, and by generating foreign income by exporting increased fish production, which can improve local livelihoods. But, aquaculture development to meet food security needs must include species that are not dependent on fish meal and fish oil, and that are palatable to a wide range of consumers.

Controlling many diseases that are either water-borne or closely linked to water supplies depends on the use of specific technological measures, the maintenance or restoration of aquatic ecosystems, and public education and awareness. Technological approaches, such as the construction and operation of cost-effective water treatment plants and sanitation facilities for treating human wastes, provide effective measures against water-borne diseases. Many industrial water pollutants with human health implications also are amenable to treatment with technologies that capture materials from water. These technologies can sometimes recover useful products (such as sulphur) from waste streams. Ecosystem restoration may reduce the incidence of some waterborne diseases, but it can also lead to an increase in the incidence of others. This negative aspect may be countered by improved understanding of the ecological requirements of disease vectors, and incorporating this knowledge into restoration projects.

Traditional approaches, such as rainwater harvesting, can provide sources of safe drinking water, particularly in water-scarce areas or locations that experience natural disasters and other emergencies.

Climate change phenomena, such as erratic rainfall patterns, El Niño episodes, and drought, have exacerbated growing water stress in key economic sectors of the region. In recent years, the region's major rivers have been under threat not only due to diversion to hydropower energy and to freshwater needs of the growing urban population, but also to climate change. Most countries in the region have experienced growing water shortages due to changes in rainfall patterns and the effect of El Niño. Consequently, water quantity and quality have deteriorated. Overexploitation of water resources has depleted aquifers, lowered water tables, and reduced stream flows, which in some cases have already reached ecologically unsafe levels (Arnell, 2004).

To improve the water security situation, Asian countries have used supplyside measures, such as water harvesting technologies and renovation of irrigation facilities, and demand-side measures, including promotion of efficient use of water resources and better water management practices. Damaged irrigation facilities contribute to difficulties in meeting water demands from agriculture. For example, in 2003 a high and significant percentage of irrigation facilities in several districts of Indonesia were damaged. Governments have taken steps to address this by repairing existing facilities and implementing innovative adaptation measures. Farmers in a number of drought-prone districts in Indonesia have been trained to develop rain harvesting technologies to absorb surplus water from irrigation and rainfall. The Government of Vietnam has planned for the extension of small-scale irrigation schemes in Ninh Thuan province. On the demand side, Thailand has promoted the combined use of surface and groundwater resources to maximize the yield of water resources, while farmers in Indonesia and Viet Nam have been trained in the better management of water including efficient and effective use of irrigation water and other water resources (ADB, 2009).

As climate change causes extreme weather events such as floods and storm surges, flood control facilities have been installed and communities have been trained to cope with floods. Southeast Asia has already suffered from floods and storm surges brought on by climate change. Several areas, particularly in the Philippines, Thailand, and Vietnam, are flood-prone, making these countries particularly vulnerable to extreme weather events. In response, flood control and prevention facilities have been put in place in these locations. For example, the Bangkok Metropolitan Administration has established pumping stations in strategic areas of the city to regulate water in canals and rivers that tend to overflow during the rainy season. Water gate facilities have also been installed for flood control as well as for the prevention of saline water intrusion in Thailand. Upgrading of existing drainage systems has been proposed in Vietnam, particularly in the Red River and Mekong River Deltas, and has already been implemented in Singapore. Experience from the Lower Songkhram River Basin in the northeastern region of Thailand also shows that an effective way to prepare for floods is to provide training to the local communities in flood prone areas, for instance, how to build rice storage silos on high ground and how to prepare for moving livestock. Viet Nam is considering a more proactive approach to flood control by establishing flood warning systems for local communities (ADB, 2009). To respond to the increasing water consumption and in order to reduce reliance on water imports, Singapore has recently implemented several projects to expand and diversify its domestic water supply, one of which is reclaiming used water through NEWater technology (Figure 3.4). The NEWater installations currently provide about 15% of Singapore's water consumption and capacity will be increased to meet 30% of Singapore's water needs by 2011.

3 Challenges and Opportunities for Better Environment



Figure 3.4 NEWater: reclamation of water from waste and sewerage (Source: Ho, 2008)

In Beijing, a 30,000 square-meter housing complex with a rainwater recycling system was constructed to solve the water shortage problem. In the industrial southern city of Shenzhen, officials have introduced measures to use seawater to flush toilets to address water pollution. The Government is constructing a gigantic south-to-north diversion project to take water from the Yangtze River to the dwindling the Yellow River in order to solve the problems of drought in the north and flooding in the south. In hilly Korla City, which gets whipped by sandstorms some 40 days every year. in Xinjiang province, the local government installed a drip line irrigation system to provide water to more than 3,000 hectares of trees planted to address the problem of desertification. (ADB: Asian Water Development Outlook, 2007).

Central Asia will face not only increasing temperatures and rapid recession of glaciers with climate change but more importantly also disruptions to their hydrological cycles that will exacerbate the already critical state of water scarcity and conflicts over water allocation. The rural poor in dry areas will suffer the most from these changes and will require a range of coping strategies to help them adapt to changing climates. Strategies will include changing of cropping systems and patterns, switching from cereal-based systems to cereal-legumes and diversifying production systems into higher value and greater water use efficient options. The latter include judicious use of water using supplementary irrigation systems, more efficient irrigation practices and the adaptation and adoption of existing and new water harvesting technologies (Oweis, 1997). Scope for the application of conservation agriculture in dry areas is thought to be limited by low biomass production but current evidence suggests that even small amounts of residue retention can significantly decrease soil erosion losses. These options will be supplemented by the development of more drought and heat tolerant crop varieties using traditional and participatory plant breeding methodologies and better predictions of extreme climatic events (Thomas,

2008).

3.2.3 Agriculture Sector

The most commonly used adaptive measures in Asia are adjustments to cropping calendars and patterns, changes in management and farming techniques, use of drought varieties, diversified farming, intercropping, and crop rotation. Farm-level adaptation practices are helpful in coping with climate variability, but there is a need for government to strengthen local adaptive capacity by providing public goods and services, such as better climate information and improved impact assessment, research and development on heat-resistant crop varieties, and other techniques, early warning systems, and water-efficient irrigation systems. Innovative risk-sharing instruments for the agriculture sector such as index-based insurance schemes are being developed and tried in Asia.

For the past several decades, agriculture in Southeast Asia has been under considerable environmental pressure due to increasing demands for food, feed, and industrial crops. The growing population and increasing industrialization have triggered intensification of agricultural production to meet growing demands. However, the productivity of major crops has declined in many parts of the region due to increasing average temperatures, resulting in water shortage and heat stress, erratic rainfall patterns that have affected yields and the planting season, frequent typhoons with strong winds causing soil erosion, and flooding that has destroyed many production areas through inundation and siltation (Naylor et al., 2007).

In addition, rising sea levels have reduced arable land through soil salinization. Agriculture is one of the most climate-sensitive sectors in the region and has been hurt by the multifaceted impact of climate change. Farmers across Southeast Asia have a long record of adjustment of farm management practices and cropping techniques to cope with the impacts and variability of climate change. The adaptation measures include changing cropping calendars and patterns (for example, from rice-rice to rice-maize cropping pattern to optimize the use of available water for crop growth); improved farm management; and use of drought-resistant and heat-resilient crop varieties. In Vietnam, future forecasts suggest there will be a need to change rice crop sowing dates and management procedures to optimize rice yields under changing climate conditions. In the northern part of Vietnam, the sowing date of spring rice will be earlier by 15–25 days while the sowing date of summer rice will be 20–25 days later (ADB, 2009). With climate change, the rice growing period in Vietnam will be expanded. Farmers in Thailand have also adopted similar adaptation practices, as well as intercropping, diversified farming, and variation of crop rotation patterns.

It was projected the frequency of food production shortfalls could double in many of the key crop growing regions of Russia by the 2020s and triple by the 2070s because of changes in the frequency of dry periods (IPCC, 2007). These shortfalls may propagate throughout Russia because of the dependence of most of Russia on the key crop growing regions for food imports, and because of the increased likelihood of simultaneous shortfalls in many of the food export regions. Such increased risks are likely to require significant adaptive measures in the agricultural system. Since climate change scenarios tend to show that much of Russian territory is getting wetter and warmer, the adaptation options and practices in the agriculture could expand rain-fed agriculture to new territories. For example, areas of the Far East and southeastern Siberia which now have very low potential productivity may be able to grow maize, pearl millet and sorghum under the climate conditions of the 2070s.

It is suggested that the most effective adaptation measures include crop shifting, water saving irrigation, and no-till farming in agriculture sector, stocking rate reduction based on lowered carrying capacity in livestock management, as well redistribution of land use options among sectors. Many adaptation practices originated from local knowledge are successful, including seasonal enclosure of rangeland and plantation of indigenous shrubs.

3.2.4 Forestry Sector

In the forestry sector, common adaptation practices include reforestation, afforestation, and improved forest management; establishment of early warning networks; use of appropriate silvicultural practices; awareness raising of forest fire prevention; and monitoring of degraded forests. Early warning systems and awareness-raising programs should be enhanced for the vulnerable communities to better prepare for potentially more frequent forest fires as a result of climate change. Furthermore, aggressive public–private partnerships for reforestation and afforestation should be pursued to offset forest and biodiversity losses due to the adverse effects of climate change and extreme climatic events.

Many research suggests that biological sequestration of carbon can play an important role in reducing greenhouse gases (GHG) emissions through activities such as slowing the rate of deforestation, increasing the establishment of forests on old agricultural or degraded lands, and improving the management of existing and future timber (Metz et al., 2001). Tavoni (2007) stated that forestry is an important abatement option, and that its inclusion into an international policy agreement can have a profound effect on the global costs of a climate policy, allowing a free saving of 50 ppmv in 2100, corresponding to 1/4°C. Forest sequestration actions in the first half of the century, mainly from avoiding deforestation, could contribute one-third of total abatement effort, and could provide additional benefits throughout the entire century. Forest sinks have the potential to reduce the price of traded carbon permits, and the overall cost of the policy in terms of income losses, by half.

Southeast Asia grows one of the three major tropical rain forests in the

world, and has 203 million ha of forestland (as of 2005). In the past several decade, forestlands have been affected by increasing temperature, heat stress, and drought, which cause forest fires and consequently loss of tree species and degradation of forests. Forest fires count among the main factors contributing to biodiversity and forest loss in Indonesia and the Philippines, and normally occur during El Niño years. To cope with the fire risk, the provincial government of Central Kalimantan in Indonesia has used climate information to develop an early warning system on the likelihood of fire outbreaks. This system can, 2 or 3 months in advance, inform local government or the communities affected about conditions expected in the coming season, allowing them to prepare for the outbreaks of fire. In a season where a prolonged dry spell is expected, the local government warns farmers not to engage in burning to clear land. To encourage farmers to follow instructions, local governments have established an incentive system to reduce fire activities in high-risk years. Similar early warning systems, together with awareness-raising programs, adjustment in silvicultural treatment, and construction of fire barriers, have also been planned in other parts of the region, including the Philippines and Vietnam. Thailand has already felt the impact of forest loss, mainly due to unpredictable rainfall, more frequent and prolonged droughts, flash floods, as well as hotter summer days and nights. This is crucial because forests in Thailand also have important ecological functions, especially in regard to water regulation and microclimate (ADB, 2009).

The Chinese government launched in 1999 the "Grain for Green Program". The objective of this program was to increase the forest cover on steep slopes in the landscape by planting trees and sowing grasses on former cropland. The program was a massive investment by the central and local governments. By the end of 2005 the program was implemented in an area of 87,000 km² in which about 400–600 million trees were planted. Regional soil erosion and sediment delivery rates may be expected to decrease more than 1.2% per year because of the non-linear relation between land cover change and soil erosion. Since most of conversion from arable land to forest took place on the steepest slopes in the landscape a 1.2% conversion per year which was induced by the program may lead to a 10% or more yearly reduction of the annual sediment volume delivered to the main rivers in the Shaanxi province (Zhou et al., 2009).

From 2000-2005, average annual net gain of forest cover in China was 40,000 km², as estimated by FAP Global Forest Resource Assessment (2005). The forest gain is mainly due to afforestation, landscape restoration, and natural forest expansion. Some of the effective approaches have contributed to recent forestry achievement in China, including a new Forest property right regulation in 2009, eco-tourism and forest by-products industry in national parks and state forests since mid 1990s, and long-term free lease of wildland to farmers and companies for afforestation use only (Figure 3.5).



(a) Coniferous forest recovering after transformed timber industry into ecotourism and forest by-products companies in Mohe, northeast China



(b) Urban greens are systematically built in major cities like Beijing in China

Figure 3.5 Conservation of natural forests and development of urban forests in China (Photo credit: Gensuo Jia)

In recent years, China started to encourage major cities to develop urban forests and compete for title of "green city" (Figure 3.5). Urban forests are managed for multiple purposes, including recreation, protection of water sources, biodiversity conservation, atmospheric CO_2 sequestration, air pollution reduction, and others. Cities located in different parts of the country may emphasize different urban forest functions. Due to the heavy air pollution in most Chinese cities, however, all of the trees and forests in a city are expected to have a high capacity to retain dust and absorb SO_2 , NO_2 and other pollutants. Now several Chinese cities, e.g. Changchun, Nanjing and Guangzhou, have a forest cover of more than 40 percent. China plans to expand the cover of urban forests and trees to 45 percent in 70 percent of its cities by the year 2050.

3.2.5 Health Sector

In the health sector, a number of reactive adaptation measures exist, including rebuilding and maintaining public health infrastructure, coordination with relevant organizations, and establishing green and clean areas. However, a more proactive approach, such as establishment of early warning systems for disease outbreaks, health surveillance, awareness-raising campaigns, and infectious disease control programs has to be adopted or extended to better deal with the health impacts of climate change.

Figure 3.6 summarizes the main pathways by which climate change can affect population health (McMichael et al., 2006). Several main environmental manifestations of climate change are shown in the central section. The righthand boxes, from top to bottom, entail an increase in complexity of causal process and, therefore, in the likelihood that health effects will be deferred or protracted. Most of the diverse anticipated health consequences are adverse, but some would be beneficial. Milder winters would reduce the normal seasonal peak mortality in winter in some temperate developed countries, and warming or drying in already hot regions would reduce the viability of mosquitoes.



Figure 3.6 Schematic summary of main pathways by which climate change affects population health (Source: McMichael et al., 2006)

The health impacts of climate change will not be distributed uniformly, and the distribution of the most severe health burdens is almost inverse to the global distribution of greenhouse gas emissions. The accumulated reservoir of greenhouse gas emissions overwhelmingly originates from wealthy, industrialized countries in temperate climates, whereas predicted health effects are highly concentrated in poor countries that typically already suffer the worst health. The profound health inequities that climate change creates for the world's poorest citizens present a special challenge to those concerned with global health (Michael et al., 2008).

Adoption of adaptation measures to vector-borne disease carried by mosquitoes, such as dengue, are under way in the region. For instance, the Ministry of Health in Thailand campaigns to control dengue. Advice on control and avoidance measures is passed on to villagers via health workers, village leaders, and the media. Some good housekeeping measures such as regular emptying of all refuse containers and avoiding direct exposure to mosquitoes are being implemented. However, more proactive and aggressive policy initiatives require better information. Most programs to manage these diseases in Indonesia are reactive rather than proactive. Nevertheless, efforts have been made to develop an early warning system for disease outbreaks by looking at patterns in climate data (Sasmito and BMG Team, 2006). This system is expected to assist local health officers in setting up anticipatory management of possible disease outbreaks. However, up to now, such systems remain rudimentary and their potential has not yet been fully utilized.

Adaptation should be seen as a part of the region's sustainable development strategy. Asian countries have already made significant efforts to implement adaptation measures to minimize the impacts of climate change. However, most adaptation measures implemented to date have been reactive rather than proactive, autonomous rather than well-planned, and largely developed to address climate variability rather than climate change. The current level of adaptation is still inadequate to cope with the future challenge of climate change. Only few countries have developed adaptation plans while others are still in the process of finalizing them; and despite the urgent need, many countries lack the resources and the financial capacity to do them on their own. The region has recognized the importance of monitoring climate change, but the efforts made so far are still inadequate to enable proper, long-term planning.

3.3 Solution and strategies based on local knowledge

The rapid increases of industrial production and per capita income in past decades have greatly modified the lifestyles and consumption patterns of Asia population, especially among the young generations. Evolving urban lifestyles increasingly reflect globalizing consumption patterns characterized by energy and resource-intensive and high waste-producing consumption patterns. While many countries have yet to completely meet basic needs, the growth of western style consumption accompanying income rises represents a critical threat to environmental sustainability and conflict with the traditional cultural values of many Asian societies, which have shown great harmony with the nature over thousands of years. Urban lifestyles imply expanded water and energy demand, expanded transportation infrastructure needs, and increased waste production. New waste streams reflect changing consumption patterns, including bottled drinking water, e-waste and packaging from processed food. Demographic, income and lifestyle changes result in smaller, but more energy-intensive households.

People are increasingly demanding and being able to afford personal modes of motorized transport of all kinds, particularly where transport policies and underdeveloped mass transit infrastructure indirectly promote their use. The numbers of passenger cars, for example in use in some fast-growing economies of South and South-East Asia have more than doubled from 1990 to 2002. This has implications for energy use—transport by truck can use 16 times more energy than transporting the same volume of material by rail. Meanwhile, bicycles that used to be the dominant personal transport mode are now significant declined in many newly developed urban areas in Asia. In many cities, bicyclers now hard to find safe bike lines they used to ride on because lines have been expanded for automobiles. Riding a bike became dangerous when they have to move among fast driven cars.

Simple lifestyles and steady family structure in Asia are environmentally friendly. Human consumption is an important driving force for greenhouse gas emission and environmental pollution, therefore, to some extent, human life style shapes the future of planet Earth. Due to their relatively simple consumption patterns and material saving life styles, Asia population has much lower ecological footprint than many other regions. Household dynamics influence per capita consumption and thus biodiversity through, for example, consumption of wood for fuel, habitat alteration for home building and associated activities, and greenhouse gas emissions (Liu et al., 2003). More children choose to live with their parents to form relatively larger family size in Asia, which helps reduce per capita consumption of energy and resources.

Meanwhile, nature worship, i.e. animism and harmony between man and nature plays an important role in climate change adaptation and environmental protection in Asia with long and diverse history. Ancient philosophy that views everything in Nature as having an indwelling spirit/soul, including the plants, rocks, waters, winds, animals, humans, and other life forms. Animism is the foundation of shamanism and has been considered the earliest form of human religion on planet Earth. At the core of the Dongba religion in Southeast Asia is the belief that man and nature are two brothers born of two mothers and the same father. Stories describing the heavenly revenge that befalls humans who hunt too many animals or cut down too many trees are found throughout Dongba literature. Therefore, traditional Asia culture encourages protection of natural environment and save of natural resources, which is still very valuable in modern society for in climate change adaptation and environmental protection.

Religion believes and local knowledge seem very effective for vegetation protection in the region. Xiemenke Bayer is a Mongolian herdsman lives in an

3 Challenges and Opportunities for Better Environment

isolated small village, Wulanquanji located in the Ulan Buh Desert. His family have been there for century since his grandfather moved in 90 years ago. He is a secondary school graduate, but he is always proud of his half-year training experience on land management in Beijing about ten years ago. He told us that he and his neighbours found several hectares of a "holly trees" in the desert about 20 years ago and decided to protect them since then. They believed that these trees are unknown anywhere else and are god's bless to his village. They were surprised by the strong survival ability of the tree despite of decades of severe desertification, therefore believed they can protect the village and the residents as long as they were there. With his guide we located the trees sparsely distributed among sand dunes. Roots were eroded by wind for many trees, but they all grown well. After a quick taxonomy check, we recognized that they are *Rhamnus erythroxylon*, a common small tree species distributed in northwest China. However, the religion believes of the villagers greatly helped protection of the woodland, and therefore land itself.

Many Asia countries like China have achieved climate change mitigation based on both technology transfer and local techniques. Those efforts include:

(1) Rise of energy use efficiency. As calculated on the year by year comparison, during the period of 1991 ~ 2005, an accumulated 800 million tce of energy were saved by economy restructuring and energy efficiency improvement, which is equivalent to a reduction of 1.8 billion tons of CO_2 emissions, using China's 1994 emission factor of 2.277 tCO₂/tce.

(2) Optimizing energy mix by developing low-carbon and renewable energy. In 2005, the utilization of renewable energy in China equaled to 166 million tce (including large hydropower), accounting for 7.5% of China's total energy consumption in that year, equivalent to a saving of 380 million tons CO_2 emissions.

(3) Launching national wide tree-planting and afforestation campaign and enhancing ecology restoration and protection. Estimated by relevant experts, from 1980 to 2005, a total of 3.06 billion tons CO_2 absorption was achieved by afforestation, a total of 1.62 million tons CO_2 absorption by forest management, and 430 million tons of CO_2 from deforestation were saved.

(4) Effectively controlling the growth rate of population through family planning. Since the implementation of the family planning program, over 300 million births have been averted nationally by 2005. According to the average per capita emissions from the IEA statistics, the averted births have resulted in an annual reduction of CO_2 emissions by about 1.3 billion tons in 2005. It is a significant contribution that China achieved in the fields of controlling world population and mitigating GHG emissions.

4 Environmental and Climate Change Policies Towards Sustainability

4.1 Overview of national regulations and regional cooperation

More and more governments of Asia countries are seriously increasing priority level of environmental regulations in past two decades, especially in recent years. In most countries' national legislations and institutions have reduced the use of ozone-depleting substances, slowed losses of forest cover and reduced air pollution, and particularly in some newly developed mega-city areas in coastal regions. These developments reflect significant improvements in environmental performance at national and regional scales, particularly with respect to pollution control.

However, legislations and institutions designated for limiting energy consumption and solid waste through improving eco-efficiency of the production and consumption patterns are greatly delayed, though so-called low carbon development is increasingly highlighted by many Asia governments. In other words, the national policies of many Asia countries focus on short-term actions to improve environmental performance rather than long-term plans and policies to improve environmental sustainability.

At regional and sub-regional levels, environmental regulations and climate changes acts have been released by several regional organizations and multi-national mechanisms, such as ASEAN, the Shanghai Cooperation Organization, the 10-3 forum, etc. For example, ASEAN clear air act and climate change agreement may lead to common action against regional environmental and climate change issues. However, environmental and climate change are often not priority issued to be concerned in regional cooperation and regulations.

Since the implementation of the Kyoto Protocol in early 1990s, most Asia countries have released their national regulations to mitigate climate change. So far, all Asia countries but Armenia and Palestine have rectified the United
Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), and most of them have submitted their national reports to UNFCCC. Months before the Copenhagen meeting, many Asia countries have expressed their strong willingness towards low-carbon solutions. China has just released its strategic plan for climate change adaptation and mitigation (2008) and put energy efficiency and carbon footprint as top priority in national and provincial planning. Indonesia has backed a U.N. scheme that could curb deforestation in return for billions of dollars in carbon credits, while India and China have snared the highest number of U.N.-backed clean-energy projects that also yield carbon credits. Emerging economies in Asia were more likely to use the financial crisis to help them shift into low-carbon development than developed countries. Asia has three of the world's top five greenhouse gas emitters-China, India and Japan, plus industrial powers Australia and Republic of Korea as well as Indonesia, where deforestation and forest fires are a major source of planet-warming pollution. Therefore, Asia regional and national climate policies have major impacts on global efforts on climate change mitigation.

Nowadays, all the major emitters in Asia understood they needed to act on climate change, but each differed in their approaches. China sees climate change issue as a important part of its sustainable development strategies and even a source of prosperity. Climate change issue is now highlighted on environmental legislations from national to local levels. However, some other countries were worried about imposing extra costs on its industries during a recession, and reluctant to act. It is still very clear that poorer nations will not commit to emissions curbs unless rich countries do much more to rein in carbon pollution and pay for adaptation and the transfer of clean-energy technology.

Asia countries are working more closely in recent decade than ever before to cope with regional environmental deterioration and climate change issues through sub-regional organizations and multi-lateral mechanisms. Some of the most important regional cooperation mechanisms are discussed here.

4.1.1 TEMM

China, Japan and Republic of Korea are situated in Northeast Asia and share the atmospheric, marine and natural environment. Recent years have seen rapid economic development in Northeast Asia, with continued growth expected. At the same time, various environmental issues have emerged, and how to achieve sustainable development, through initiatives such as green growth/green economy, has now become a crucial issue. Though the three countries have greatly varying economic and social conditions, they share the common task of having to address national, regional and global environmental issues taking into account their national circumstances.

Thus, the inaugural Tripartite Environment Ministers Meeting (TEMM) among China, Japan and Republic of Korea, was held in 1999, to launch the three countries' cooperative efforts for the environment. To date, the three countries have promoted and implemented cooperation, including information

exchange, joint research, and joint projects, etc., regarding various domestic, regional and global environment issues. These efforts have played a major role in the region's environmental management and made contributions to improving the global environment.

At the TEMM 11 which was held in Beijing, China, in June 2009, the Environment Ministers from the three countries reached an agreement on the ten priority cooperation areas for future tripartite environment cooperation as follows:

(1) Environmental education, environmental awareness and public participation;

(2) Climate change;

- (3) Biodiversity conservation;
- (4) Dust and sandstorms;
- (5) Pollution control;
- (6) Environment-Friendly society/3R/sound resource recycle society;
- (7) Transboundary movement of E-Waste;
- (8) Sound management of chemicals;
- (9) Environmental governance in Northeast Asia;
- (10) Environmental industries and technologies.

The leaders of the three countries met at the Second China-Japan-ROK Summit Meeting held in Beijing in October 2009, and released the "Joint Statement on Sustainable Development among the People's Republic of China, Japan and the Republic of Korea", in which the leaders endorsed the ten priority cooperation areas and instructed the Environment Ministers of the three countries to develop a joint action plan in the stated ten priority areas for adoption at the TEMM 12 in 2010.

4.1.2 EANET

Acid deposition is not limited by national boundaries and therefore cooperation at the regional and international level is required to effectively address this problem. In Europe, it was successfully achieved through the activities under the Convention on Long-Range Transboundary Air Pollution (CLRTAP). As pointed out in Agenda 21 adopted by the United Nations Conference on Environment and Development in June 1992, "the programs (in Europe and North America) need to be continued and enhanced, and their experience needs to be shared with other regions of the world". The Acid Deposition Monitoring Network in East Asia (EANET) was established in 1998 as a regional cooperative initiative to promote efforts for environmental sustainability and protection of human health in the East Asian region.

EANET's outlines are to create a common understanding of the state of the acid deposition problems in East Asia, to provide useful inputs for decision making at local, national and regional levels aimed at preventing or reducing adverse impacts on the environment caused by acid deposition, to contribute to cooperation on the issues related to acid deposition among the participating countries.

Currently there are 51 of acid deposition monitoring sites in the EANET network (20 remote, 12 rural and 19 urban). Of these 51 sites conduct wet deposition monitoring, 39 conduct air concentration monitoring. Data and information for ecological impact studies are currently collected from 14 inland aquatic monitoring sites and 16 soil and forest vegetation monitoring sites. All the sites follow a standardized set of methodologies for site selection, sampling and chemical analyses to ensure technical conformity within the network.

4.1.3 GMS

In 1992, Greater Mekong Subregion Cooperation (GMS) established. The members include Cambodia, China, Laos, Myanmar, Thailand and Vietnam. GMS achieved substantial progress and has become the most influential and successful mechanism in the region. In 1995, the GMS confirmed the environment as one of main areas of cooperation.

The first GMS Environment Ministers' Meeting was held in Shanghai in May of 2005. This EMM endorsed the The GMS Core Environment Program and Biodiversity Conservation Corridors Initiative (CEP-BCI), strives at achieving the vision of a poverty-free and ecologically rich GMS.

Implementation of the various components of Greater Mekong Subregion, Core Environment Program and Biodiversity Conservation Corridor Initiative Phase I (2006-2011) has resulted in substantial gains in mainstreaming environmental considerations in GMS developments. Specifically, the program: ① initiated the establishment of biodiversity corridors and sustainable management regimes in which enhanced environmental management, ecosystem connectivity and livelihood improvement strategies for local communities were implemented in six pilot sites; the outputs were improved livelihoods and maintenance and/or enhancement of biodiversity conservation and carbon offset services. 2 piloted three Strategic Environmental Assessments (SEAs) in the Vietnamese hydropower sector, Cambodian tourism sector and the GMS North South Economic Corridor that led to a regional tourism SEA in the North South Economic Corridor (NSEC). 3 strengthened institutional capacities within the environmental ministries and sectoral agencies to carry out national environmental performance assessments (EPA) and Spatial Multi-Criteria Analysis (SMCA) for land use management in all six GMS countries for 2008 and 2009. ④ piloted innovative benefit sharing and sustainable financing mechanisms. (5) consolidated spatial and temporal data at different levels (BCI pilot site, landscape/provincial, national and subregional) to assess and monitor environmental performance.

The next Phase II of CEP-BCI will link up with the new GMS Strategic Framework 2012-2022 currently under preparation. The key focus will be on second-generation cooperation extending beyond infrastructurebased connectivity, into areas such as coordination, harmonizing or integrating policies, regulations, standards, procedures and/or institutions to reduce barriers to movement of goods, services, capital and people. The CEP-BCI Phase II will support GMS countries' to upgrade their development planning and management systems in line with international best practices.

4.1.4 ASEAN Environmental Cooperation

The ASEAN Leaders adopted the Declaration of ASEAN Concord II on 7 October 2003 to establish an ASEAN Community by 2020. The Declaration calls for the establishment of the ASEAN Community comprising three pillars, namely ASEAN Political and Security Community (APSC), ASEAN Economic Community (AEC), and ASEAN Socio-Cultural Community (ASCC) that are closely intertwined and mutually reinforcing for the purpose of ensuring durable peace, stability, and shared prosperity in the region. At the 12th ASEAN Summit on 13 January 2007 in Cebu, the Philippines, the ASEAN Leaders affirmed their strong commitment to accelerate the establishment of the ASEAN Community by 2015, as reflected in the Cebu Declaration on the Acceleration of an ASEAN Community by 2015. At the 14th ASEAN Summit, the ASEAN Leaders signed the Cha-am Hua Hin Declaration on the Roadmap for an ASEAN Community 2009-2015. The Roadmap for an ASEAN Community 2009-2015 is composed of the ASEAN Political-Security Community Blueprint, the ASEAN Economic Community Blueprint, the ASEAN Socio-Cultural Community Blueprint and the Initiative for ASEAN Integration (IAI) Work Plan 2 (2009-2015).

The Blueprint for the ASEAN Socio-Cultural Community (ASCC Blueprint) ensures that concrete actions are undertaken to promote the establishment of an ASEAN Socio-Cultural Community (ASCC). ASEAN's commitment to environmental protection is particularly reflected in the ASCC Blueprint. Cooperation on environmental protection among AMS as well as with the ASEAN Dialogue Partners shall therefore be guided by the ten priority areas of regional importance and the relevant actions contained in the ASCC Blueprint as follows:

(1) Addressing global environmental issues.

(2) Managing and preventing transboundary environmental pollution.

① Transboundary haze pollution;

② Transboundary movement of hazardous wastes.

(3) Promoting sustainable development through environmental education and public participation.

(4) Promoting environmentally sound technology (EST).

(5) Promoting quality living standards in ASEAN cities/urban areas.

(6) Harmonizing environmental policies and databases.

(7) Promoting the sustainable use of coastal and marine environment.

(8) Promoting sustainable management of natural resources and biodiver-

sity.

(9) Promoting the sustainability of freshwater resources.

(10) Responding to climate change and addressing its impacts.

In addition to the above ASCC Blueprint actions on environmental cooperation and in the other relevant sectors under the ASCC Blueprint, the APSC Blueprint and the AEC Blueprint also contain actions that are related to, or has an impact on environmental cooperation, and therefore should be taken into consideration in fostering cross-sectoral collaboration in line with the holistic concept of sustainable development, i.e. encompassing environmental sustainability, economic growth and social development.

4.1.5 East Asia Summit (EAS) Environment Ministers Meeting

The Meeting was attended by the Environment Ministers or their representatives of the 10 ASEAN Member States, namely Brunei Darussalam, Kingdom of Cambodia, Republic of Indonesia, Lao People's Democratic Republic, Malaysia, Union of Myanmar, Republic of the Philippines, Republic of Singapore, the Kingdom of Thailand, Socialist Republic of Viet Nam, and Australia, People's Republic of China, Republic of India, Japan, Republic of Korea, and New Zealand. Inaugural EAS Environment Ministers Meeting was held in 2008 in Vietnam which provided them with a timely opportunity to exchange views on various issues relating to the environment, in particular actions contained in the Singapore Declaration on Climate Change, Energy and the Environment adopted by the EAS Leaders at their Third Summit in November 2007. The Ministers also emphasized that the Inaugural EAS Environment Ministers Meeting was an important initial step: 1 to actualize the visions of the EAS Leaders on environmental cooperation, noting that ASEAN as the driving force working with other participating countries in the EAS. 2 to discuss ways and means to put these ideas into practice through regional cooperative efforts and activities. The main theme of the Meeting was "Achieving Environmentally Sustainable Cities in East Asia".

4.1.6 Environmental Cooperation in Shanghai Cooperation Organization

In June 2001, Shanghai Cooperation Organization was formally established in Shanghai. Now, member countries include China, Russia, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan and Uzbekistan. The member countries have reached consensus in natural resources exploitation and environmental protection in 2003. In 2004, the summit meeting adopted the Tashkent Declaration, including the content of "taking environmental protection and reasonable and effective utilization of water resources as the cooperation agenda within the framework of the organization". In 2005, in order to respond the Tashkent Declaration, the environmental sector of six member countries decided to organize the environment ministers meeting in appropriate time. So Shanghai Cooperation Organization started the communication activities in environmental corporation in the same year. In 2005, the members established the government working group and organized four times of expert meeting of environmental protection during 2005-2008. The member countries began to develop the draft document on environmental cooperation of the Shanghai Cooperation Organization.

4.2 Lessons and progresses from past decade

In the past decade, most Asian developing countries experienced favorable economic development as well as probably greatest environmental challenges in region's history. While some achievements have been made, more problems remain to be solved.

It is normally easier to reduce pollution from point sources such as chemical factories and to get rewarded in many cases. On the other hand, reducing water pollution from non-point sources such as agricultural production and domestic sewerage, and groundwater contaminating sources such as sewerage systems and landfills is increasingly problematic as environmental pressures grow in most of Asia. Poor water quality continues to hinder the ability of Asia countries to meet rising demand for water (Figure 4.1).



(a) Central public transport hub in Chibuya, Tokyo support millions of passenger flows each day and greatly released surface traffic

(b) Pedestrian streets in newly developed in many major Asia cities like Shanghai are encouraging people go around without a car

Figure 4.1 Development of green transportation in Asia cities (Photo credit: Gensuo Jia)

One good news is that most Asia countries have developed their regulations and facilities for reuse, recycle, and reduction of solid waste, especially packaging. National legislations and government sponsored programs play most important roles in waste management, while grassroot activities often only fill the gap where no formal recycling programs exist. Some countries, such as Japan, Korea, China, Singapore, have initiated waste sorting and recycle projects. Far fewer countries have initiated waste minimization and dematerialization. The true costs of waste disposal are not usually reflected in the policies of Asia developing countries. Therefore, neither manufacturers nor consumers have strong economic incentive to reduce waste.

Adaptation actions have been taken in a number of key sectors where cli-

mate change impact is most visible or damaging in Asia, including water resources, agriculture, forestry, coastal and marine resources, and health. These actions, however, are mostly reactive, rather than proactive; in many cases, their implementation is scattered rather than systematic, and isolated rather than integrated; and measures often offer short-term benefits, rather than long-term solutions. Asia needs a more proactive, systematic, and integrated approach to adaptation in many key sectors that is cost-effective and offers durable and long-term solutions.

Adaptation inherently suffers from several market failures. The market failures arise because of uncertain information associated with large scale and longterm investment such as climate proofing of building and defensive infrastructure; the positive spillover and the public goods nature of certain adaptive measures such as research and coastal protection; and the need for coordination among many multiple stakeholders. As a result, private markets and autonomous actions alone will not lead to an adequate level of adaptation. Many adaptation measures need to be driven by public policy and government interventions.

A closer look at the trends of CO_2 emissions as compared with GDP trends shows that some countries, e.g. China and Malaysia, have managed to slow the rate of CO_2 emissions while their economies continue to grow. In others countries, notably Thailand and India, the growth of CO_2 is tightly linked to GDP growth. Pollution control as a key determinant of environmental performance is also found to improve as incomes increase, as shown by the Environmental Performance Index (http://www.yale.edu/esi).

Recent lessons from various countries have depicted that the formulation of mitigation strategies cannot be exclusively top-down as it requires social, political, and cultural acceptance and sense of ownership. An interactive, participatory process, involving local communities, produces best expected outcomes concerning mitigation, preparedness, and recovery. Climate change in isolation is unlikely to be the major impact issue. Climate change is likely to have significant impacts mainly by interacting with other stresses on sustainable development (Wilbanks et al., 2007). An emerging consensus is that there is a need to move towards the "mission" of the International Strategy for Disaster Reduction which aims at building disaster resilient communities by promoting increased awareness of the importance of disaster reduction as an integral component of sustainable development, with the goal of reducing human, social, economic and environmental losses due to natural hazards and related technological and environmental disasters.

4.3 Going forward

4.3.1 Environmental governance

Environmental Governance can be understood as the conglomeration of different mechanisms and systems that promote environment protection and

conservation through an array of rules and regulations in any given country. Due to the rapid industrial growth and its unfavourable consequences all around the world, the concept of Global Environmental Governance has gained prominence in the recent years, as the effective handling of environmental issues and management of natural resources are important for the very survival of humanity.

Governments, intergovernmental and nongovernmental organizations, major groups, the private sectors and civil societies, individually or collectively, have a role in environmental governance. At the international level, multilateral environmental agreements have been increasingly playing an important role. Regional organizations and bodies provide forums for policy development and implementation in regions. The scientific community plays a specific role in providing a basis for scientifically sound and informed decision-making.

4.3.2 Strengthen public awareness

The environmental pollution led to a situation wherein livelihoods of millions of people are being affected. The enormity of the problems clearly indicates that the state alone cannot tackle the problem on its own and it needs to be supported in addressing the same. In order to attain sustainable development, there needs to be a multi-pronged approach and one among them is increased participation of civil society in environmental decision making process in local, regional and international arena. Agenda 21, devotes chapter 27 to NGOs and the strengthening of their role 'as partners for sustainable development; Principle 10 of the Rio Declaration gives a clear indication that public participation (broadly including Civil Society Organizations) is vital to handle the environmental issues in the best possible way. Civil society operating capacity remains too limited, while their numbers are constantly expanding, and furthermore the geo-graphical focus of civil society activities is noticeably confined to specific areas.

While it is very evident that the civil society organizations are continuously growing to be diverse and vibrant, their level of participation in international environmental governance is still negligible and one of the factors that contribute to the same may be the enormity of the problems that need to be addressed at the national level. There are signs of improvement in the policy and enabling environment for their operation at national level and international level. And in Asia its development should also be stressed.

People who perceive that they are vulnerable are more likely to respond to warnings and undertake protective measures (Michael and Fasil, 2001). Public awareness and education initiatives are essential in order to engage people successfully. Therefore, efforts must be undertaken to inform the public of the possible impacts of climate change, the steps necessary to reduce GHG emissions, and measures necessary to adapt to changes already took place. Good news is that a range of Asian companies are increasingly describing strategic business initiatives to curtail carbon emissions. Meanwhile, climate change and environmental issues are increasingly shown on mainstream media and in school classrooms throughout Asia in recent years, and more and more NGOs actively working on rising public awareness.

4.3.3 Capacity building

The future success of greenhouse gas mitigation in Asia will largely depend on energy efficiency and energy conservation; reforestation efforts; integration of climate mitigation policies; domestic air pollution abatement; and integration of policies relating to agriculture, land use and energy systems.

Action to mitigate climate change is becoming synonymous with action on improving energy security and is increasingly compatible with economic objectives; this was clearly stated at 2009 Copenhagen Climate Change Conference by leaders of many Asia countries. For Asia countries, energy efficiency is not only an issue of CO_2 emission control, but more importantly, it is an issue of technical renovation and sustainable production. Improving energy efficiency and changing consumption patterns is becoming more urgent, and more feasible, in light of the recent elevated energy prices, the proven high returns on investments in energy conservation and efficiency, and the availability of financing options offered by international emissions trading, joint implementation and the Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) of the Kyoto Protocol. Currently, technical and financial barriers are still the major problems that prevent Asia developing countries from greatly rising energy use efficiency and cutting CO₂ emission in short-term. Industrial sectors often reluctant to import expansive technologies or run power-consuming pollution control facilities, unless there is strong support from governments or international organizations.

Under the terms of the UNFCCC, developed countries have agreed to "assist the developing country parties that are particularly vulnerable to the adverse effects of climate change in meeting the costs of adaptation to those adverse effects". There is a commitment in principle from developed countries to provide assistance to help meet the costs of adaptation to climate change, which goes beyond normal development assistance, and perhaps carries additional moral weight than promises to help combat desertification or loss of biodiversity. This is because climate change is clearly linked to the much higher level of greenhouse gases emitted by developed countries. As such, they have a responsibility to help mitigate the impacts on vulnerable developing countries. There is a growing divergence between the priorities determined in global negotiation of multilateral environmental agreements and the priorities of specific countries, especially poor developing countries, as clearly demonstrated in 2009 Copenhagen Climate Change Conference. Developed and developing nations have to work together to face the common challenges, either within Asia or globally.

Uncertainty persists about the possible extent and rate of climate change, and about what the most effective adaptation responses might be. While more research and development on these and related questions have potential value, lack of knowledge is not a primary constraint. The broad direction to be taken is clear.



At the same time, rapid economic and social development that is driving environmental changes might also reduce certain kinds of vulnerabilities (Figure 4.2). The range of technologies available to governments and communities has grown tremendously. Institutional innovations like insurance and better accountability, data and information systems, better communication infrastructure and better observation systems could further reduce key vulnerabilities or be the basis of adaptation to future changes in the monsoon in Asia and the global environment. But involuntary risks are also modified and shifted by development.

To further achieve in environmental management and climate change mitigation, Asian countries badly need to build their fundamental capacities in areas such as:

(1) Improving information infrastructures, especially regarding climate change damages at a variety of scales, characteristics of response actions, and estimations of sensitivities and coping capacities.

(2) Improving the capacity to account for and consider the significance of uncertainties, including recording different levels of confidence of data entries.

(3) Improving the capacity to model technological change/learning as a dimension of climate change response capacities over time.

(4) Developing effective, analytically robust approaches to reflect interregional, cross scale, and intergenerational interactions.

(5) Experimenting with a wider range of approaches to modeling, including gaming and simulation modeling.

4.3.4 South-south cooperation

South-South cooperation is undertaken by developing countries as a part of partnership and solidarity for development rather than development assistance or aid. In the process of their development, developing countries accumulate valuable lessons, skills and expertise that can be valuable for other developing countries. These skills and capabilities are often more appropriate than those available from industrialized countries due to shared development challenges faced by them. The appropriateness of developing country skills and technologies arises from a number of reasons.

(1) The developing country skills are evolved in an environment of similar factor endowments, for example, labor abundance and relative capital scarcity. Hence, developing country technical solutions may be labor intensive rather than automated solutions available from industrialized countries.

(2) The developing country technological solutions are evolved in an environment of relatively poorer infrastructure and hence may be more appropriate compared to those available in industrialized countries.

(3) The developing country expertise may be more attuned to similar geoclimatic conditions (for example tropical rather than temperate climate) compared to those in the industrialized countries. It is for this reason perhaps that SSC is generally concentrated within the regions.

(4) Technologies and expertise available in developing countries are likely to be scaled down to scales more appropriate to the size of markets in develop-

TOWARDS A SUSTAINABLE ASIA ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE CHANGE

ing countries compared to mass production skills in industrialized countries.

(5) The technologies and expertise available from developing countries are likely to be cost effective having been adapted in view of low income consumers in developing countries.

South-South cooperation can play a significant role in the fight against climate change. Many developing countries are adopting low-carbon development paths, backed by renewable energy and energy efficiency. Countries can share these experiences, policies and adaptation technologies.

For promoting South-South Environmental Cooperation, China and ASEAN member states have the effective dialogue and cooperation on environment. With the rapid economic development, both China and ASEAN member states suffer from growing pressure on environmental protection. The environmental problems facing China and ASEAN are various, ranging from air and water pollution, deforestation, soil erosion and degradation to loss of biodiversity and climate change. Given the trans-boundary nature of environmental issues, the actions taken by individual countries alone are not sufficient to tackle the challenge. The regional cooperation provides a complementary and effective solution to the improvement of environment. China-ASEAN cooperation is one of the major cooperation mechanisms in the region. Over the past decade, the China-ASEAN cooperation which covers a broad range of areas has been significantly enhanced. In terms of environment, a breakthrough was made at the 11th China-ASEAN Summit in 2007, in which leaders agreed to adopt environmental protection as the 11th priority area of China-ASEAN cooperation. Based on the consensus reached at the summit, the Ministry of Environmental Protection of the People's Republic of China (MEP), ASEAN Secretariat jointly developed the "China-ASEAN Strategy on Environmental Protection Cooperation 2009-2015", which was endorsed during the 10+3 (ASEAN, China, Japan and Republic of Korea) Environmental Ministerial Meeting in 2009. As indicated in the Strategy, the goal of the ASEAN-China environmental cooperation is to build up a resource-conserving and environmentally friendly society, and enable the participating countries to better pursue sustainable development.

To better promote China-ASEAN environmental cooperation, at the 11th China-ASEAN Summit in 2007, the Chinese Premier Mr. Wen Jiabao announced that China would establish and host a China-ASEAN Cooperation Center for Environmental Protection (CACE) in Beijing.

With the approval of the Chinese government, China-ASEAN Cooperation Center for Environmental Protection was launched in March 2010. Aiming at becoming a unique and an open platform for promoting regional cooperation on environment between ASEAN member states and China, CACE is located in Beijing and operates independently under the guidance and with the support of the Ministry of Environmental Protection of the People's Republic of China.

4.3.5 Local knowledge

Impacts of climate change are likely to be severe in the Asia-Pacific

region, but adaptive capacity is weak in most countries and communities. As much of the adaptation is site-specific and has to be developed at the individual and community level, it is crucial to harness local knowledge in designing adaptation strategies. However, local knowledge was rarely taken into consideration by policy makers in designing adaptation strategies and very few institutional mechanisms exist to mainstream traditional coping and adaptation mechanisms. a shift in paradigm from "top-down strategy" to a "bottom-up participatory approach" and designing a policy framework comprising both "scientific" and "indigenous" adaptations as well as "planned" and "autonomous" adaptations, is vital to facilitate future adaptation to climate change.

As discussed in earlier sections, Asia people have developed very effective ways dealing with the environment in their thousand-year of history. These ways are still useful in modern society. Transfer of advanced technologies from developed countries has long been considered as the critical ways for mitigating climate change and environmental pollutions. However, those imported technologies are often expansive and complicated to use in developing countries, especially in rural areas. On the other hand, many "low-tech" technologies developed locally thought long-term practices are very effective, low cost, and easy to learn. They are based on experience, often tested over centuries of use, and entails many insights, perceptions and intuitions relating to local culture and the environment. Local knowledge embodies place-specific experience on climate change, so it allows better appraisal of climate risk factors in production decisions.

Generally speaking, Asia environment will likely continue to be deteriorated due to the high environmental pressures resulting from expanded consumption and production activities in coming decades, and some areas will be worsened with climate change. The net result is declining environmental sustainability. Meanwhile, major progresses in environmental improvement can be expected as income and public awareness continuously rise in many parts of the continent, especially in East Asia and Southeast Asia.

Rapid economic growth has enabled significant economic and social progress in the region, but we are still far away from achieving the goal of sustainable development. Developing economic growth patterns which do not compromise environmental sustainability are an urgent global priority, and are the most relevant to the dynamic Asia.

References

- Ageta Y, Iwata S, Yabuki H et al. 2000. Expansion of glacier lakes in recent decades in the Bhutan Himalayas. In: Nakawo M, Raymond C F, Fountain A, eds. Debris-Covered Glaciers. IAHS Publications, 264: 165-175
- Ageta Y, Kadota T. 1992. Predictions of changes of glacier mass balance in the Nepal Himalaya and Tibetan Plateau: a case study of air temperature increase for three glaciers. Annals of Glaciology, 16: 89-94
- Alongi D M. 2002. Present state and future of the world's mangrove forests. Environmental Conservation, 29: 331-349
- Amadore L A. 2005. Crisis or Opportunity: Climate Change Impacts and the Philippines. Greenpeace Southeast Asia, Quezon City
- An Z S, Kutzbach J E, Prell W L et al. 2001. Evolution of Asian monsoons and phased uplift of the Himalaya-Tibetan plateau since Late Miocene times. Nature, 411:62-66
- Arceo H O, Quibilan M C, Alino P M et al. 2001. Coral Bleaching in Philippine Reefs: Coincident Evidences with Mesoscale Thermal Anomalies. Bulletin of Marine Science, 69:579-593
- Arnell N W. 2004. Climate change and global water resources: SRES emissions and socio-economic scenarios. Global Environmental Change, 14: 31-52
- Asia Society Leadership Group on Water Security in Asia. 2009. Asia's Next Challenge: Securing the Region's Water Future. http://asiasociety.org/files/pdf/watersecurityreport.pdf
- ADB (Asian Development Bank). 2009. The Economics of Regional Climate Change in Southeast Asia: A Regional Review, ADB, Manila.
- ADB (Asian Development Bank), Asia-Pacific Water Forum. 2007. Achieving Water Security for All. In: Asian Water Development Outlook. http://www.adb.org/documents/books/awdo/2007/awdo. pdf
- ADRC (Asian Disaster Reduction Center). 2006. Natural Disasters Data Book 2005. http://www.adrc. asia/publication.php
- Babel Mukand S, Wahid Shahriar M. Fresh water under threat: South Asia. 2008. www.roap.unep.org/ pub/southasia_report.pdf
- Badola R, Hussain S A. 2005. Valuing ecosystem functions: an empirical study on the storm protection function of Bhitarkanika mangrove ecosystem. India, Environmental Conservation, 32: 85-92
- Baran E. 1999. A review of quantified relationships between mangroves and coastal resources. Phuket Mar. Biol. Centre Res. Bull, 62: 57-64
- Barbier E B. 2000. Valuing the environment as input: review of applications to mangrove-fishery linkages. Ecological Economics, 35: 47-61
- Barnett T P, Adam J C, Lettenmaier D P. 2005. Potential impacts of a warming climate on water availability in snow-dominated regions. Nature, 438: 303-309
- Bishop M, Jeffrey A O, John F S et al. 2004. Global land ice measurements from space (GLIMS): Remote sensing and GIS investigations of the Earth's cryosphere. Geocarto International, 19: 57-84

Brown B E. 1997. Coral bleaching: causes and consequences. Coral Reefs, 16: 129-138

Burke L, Selig L, Spalding M. 2002. Reefs at Risk in Southeast Asia. www.wri.org/biodiv/pubs_de-

scription.cfm?pubid=3144

- Burnett W C, Bokuniewicz H, Huettel M et al. 2003. Groundwater and pore water inputs to the coastal zone. Biogeochemistry, 66: 3-33
- Calori G, Carmichael G R, Streets D G et al. 2001. Interannual variability in sulfur deposition in Asia, Journal of Global and Environment Engineering, 7: 1-16
- Capone D G, Bautista M F. 1985. A groundwater source of nitrate in nearshore marine sediments. Nature, 313: 214-216
- Cazenave A, Nerem R S. 2004. Present-day sea level change: observations and causes. Reviews of Geophysics, 42: 2003RG000139
- Chen Y N, Takeuchi K, Xu C C et al. 2006. Regional climate change and its effects on river runoff in the Tarim basin, China. Hydrological Process, 20: 2207-2216
- Cruz R V, Harasawa H, Lal M et al. 2007. Asia. In: Parry M L, Canziani O F, Palutikof J P et al., eds. Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge UK: Cambridge University Press. 469-506
- Danielsen F, Soerensen M K, Olwig M F et al. 2005. The asian tsunami: a protective role for coastal vegetation, Science, 310: 643
- Dasanto B D, Istanto B. 2007. Indonesia Country Report: Climate Variability and Climate Change. Jakarta.
- Duke V, Meynecke N C, Dittmann J O et al. 2007. A world without mangroves? Science, 317: 41-42
- Dyurgerov M D, Meier M F. 2005. Glaciers and the changing earth system: a 2004 snapshot. Boulder, Colorado: Institute of Arctic and Alpine Research, University of Colorado
- Emanuel K. 2005. Increasing destructiveness of tropical cyclones over the past 30 years. Nature, 436: 686-688
- Farnsworth E J, Ellison A M. 1997. The Global Conservation Status of Mangroves. Ambio, 26 (6): 328-334
- Fu C B. 2002. Some key issues of aridity trend in Northern China. Climate and Environmental Research, 7: 20-29
- Fu C B. 2003. Potential impacts of human-induced land cover change on East Asia monsoon. Global and Planetary Change, 37: 219-229
- Fu C B, Ma Z G. 2008. Global change and regional aridification. Chinese Journal of Atmospheric Sciences (in Chinese), 32(4): 752-760
- Gilman E, Ellison J, Sauni Jr I et al. 2007. Trends in surface elevations of American Samoa mangroves. Wetlands Ecology and Management, 15: 391-404
- Gustafsson M, Blomqvist G, Gudmundsson A et al. 2009. Factors influencing PM₁₀ emissions from road pavement wear. Atmospheric Environment, 43(31): 4699-4702
- Hao J, Wang L. 2005. Improving urban air quality in China: Beijing case study. Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association, 55: 1298-1305
- Hewitt K. 2005. The Karakoram anomaly? Glacier expansion and the "elevation effect". Karakoram Himalaya. Mountain Research and Development, 25(4): 332-340
- Ho J. 2008. Singapore Country Report—A Regional Review on the Economics of Climate Change in Southeast Asia. Report submitted for RETA 6427: A Regional Review of the Economics of Climate Change in Southeast Asia. Manila: Asian Development Bank
- Hoegh-Guldberg O. 1999. Climate change, coral bleaching and future of the world's coral reefs. Marine Freshwater Research, 50: 839-866
- Hwang D W, Kim G, Lee Y W et al. 2005. Estimating submarine inputs of groundwater and nutrients to a coastal bay using radium isotopes. Marine Chemistry, 96: 61-71
- IEA (International Energy Agency). 2009. CO₂ Emissions from Fuel Combustion—Highlights. http://www.iea.org/co2highlights/co2highlights.pdf

TOWARDS A SUSTAINABLE ASIA ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE CHANGE

- IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change). 2000. IPCC Special Report on Emissions Scenarios. http://www.ipcc.ch/ipccreports/sres/emission/index.php?idp=0
- IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change). 2007. IPCC Fourth Assessment Report (AR4)— Climate Change 2007: Synthesis Report. http://www.ipcc.ch/publications_and_data/publications_ipcc_fourth_assessment_report_synthesis_report.htm
- Jones P D, New M, Parker D E et al. 1999. Surface air temperature and its changes over the past 150 years. Reviews of Geophysics, 37: 173-199
- Kataoka K, Matsumotob F, Ichinoseb T et al. 2009. Urban warming trends in several large Asian cities over the last 100 years. Science of the Total Environment, 407:3112-3119
- Kathiresan K, Rajendran N. 2005. Coastal mangrove forests mitigated tsunami. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science. 65: 601-606
- Kawase R. 2007. Air Pollutants Emission Estimation and Inventory in Asia. In: The 3rd Seminar of JSPS-VCC Core University Program on Research Group 7
- Kieffer H. 2000. New eyes in the sky measure glaciers and ice sheets. EOS, 81(265): 270-271
- Klimont Z, Cofala J, Schopp W et al. 2001. Projections of SO₂, NO_x, NH₃, and VOC emissions in East Asia up to 2030.Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 130: 193-198
- Kotlyakov V M, Osipova G B, Tsvetkov D G. 2008. Monitoring surging glaciers of the Pamirs, central Asia, from space. Annals of Glaciology, 48: 125-134
- Krupnick A, Harrington W. 2000. Energy, transportation, and environment: policy options for environmental improvement. ESMAP Paper No.224, The World Bank, Washington, DC, USA.
- Li L, Barry D A, Stagnitti F et al. 1999. Submarine groundwater discharge and associated chemical input into a coastal sea. Water Resource Research, 35: 3253-3259
- Li X, Cheng G, Jin H et al. 2008. Cryospheric change in China. Global and Planetary Change, 62: 210-218
- Lin E, Xiong W, Ju H et al. 2005. Climate change impacts on crop yield and quality with CO₂ fertilization in China, Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B, 360: 2149-2154
- Lioubimtseva E, Cole R, Adams J M et al. 2005. Impacts of climate and land-cover changes in arid lands of Central Asia. Journal of Arid Environments, 62 (2): 285-308
- Lioubimtseva E, Henebry G M. 2009. Climate and environmental change in arid Central Asia: Impacts, vulnerability, and adaptations. Journal of Arid Environments, 22:1-15
- Liu J G, Daily G C, Ehrlich P R et al. 2003. Effects of household dynamics on resource consumption and biodiversity, Nature, 421: 530-533
- Louis M E, Hess J J. 2008. Climate Change Impacts on and Implications for Global Health. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 35(5): 527-538
- Lovelock C E, Ellison J C. 2007. Vulnerability of mangroves and tidal wetlands of the Great Barrier Reef to climate change. In: Johnson J E, Marshall P A, eds. Climate Change and the Great Barrier Reef: A Vulnerability Assessment. Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority.
- Ma Z G, Fu C B. 2003. Interannual characteristics of the surface hydrological variables over the arid and semi-arid areas of northern China. Global and Planetary Change, 37: 189-200
- Ma Z G, Fu C B. 2005. Decade Variations of Arid and Semi-arid Boundary in China. Chinese journal of geophysics, 48 (3): 519-525
- Manabe S, Wetherald R T. 1986. Reduction in summer soil wetness induced by an increase in atmospheric carbon dioxide. Science, 232: 626-628
- Mazda Y, Magi M, Kogo M et al. 1997. Mangroves as a coastal protection from waves in the Tong King delta, Vietnam. Mangroves and Salt Marshes, 1: 127-135
- McClanahan T R. 2000. Bleaching damage and recovery potential of Maldivian reefs. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 40: 587-597
- McLeod E, Salm R. 2006. Managing Mangroves for Resilience to Climate Change. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland. Gilman, E., Ellison, J., Coleman, R., 2007a. Assessment of mangrove response to

projected relative sea-level rise and recent historical reconstruction of shoreline position. Environ Monit Assess, 124: 112-134

- McMichael A J, Woodruff R E, Hales S. 2006. Climate change and human health: present and future risks. Lancet, 367: 859-869
- Meehl G A. 1997. The South Asian monsoon and the tropospheric biennial oscillation. Journal of Climate, 1921-1943
- Metz B, Davidson O, Swart R et al. 2001. Climate Change 2001: Mitigation. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK
- Michael B, Fasil A G. 2001. Worldwide public perception of flood risk in urban areas and its consequences for hydrological design in Ireland. Paper presented at the National Hydrology Seminar on Flood Risk Management: Impacts and Development, Ireland
- Millennium Ecosystem Assessment. 2005. Ecosystems and human well-being: wetlands and water synthesis. Washington DC: World Resources Institute
- Nakagawa K. 1996. Recent trends of urban climatological studies in Japan, with special emphasis on the thermal environments of urban areas. Geographical review of Japan. Series B, 69: 206-224
- Naylor R L, Battisti D S, Vimont D J et al. 2007. Assessing risks of climate variability and climate change for Indonesian rice agriculture. Proceeding of the National Academic of Science, 114: 7752-7757
- Nogues-Bravo D, Araujo M B, Errea M P et al. 2007. Exposure of global mountain systems to climate warming during the 21st century. Global Environmental Change, 17: 420-428
- ONEP (Office of Natural Resources and Environmental Policy and Planning). Ministry of Natural Resources and Environment. 2008. Climate Change National Strategy, B.E. 2551-2555 (2008-2012), Bangkok: ONEP
- Oweis T. 1997. Supplemental Irrigation: A Highly Effective Water-Use Practice. Aleppo, Syria: ICARDA
- Owen L A, Finkel R C, Caffee M W. 2002. A note on the extent of glaciation throughout the Himalaya during the global last glacial maximum. Quaternary Science Reviews, 21: 147-157
- Potera C. 2004. Air Pollution: Asia's Two-Stroke Engine Dilemma. Environ Health Perspect. 112(11): A613
- Ramanathan V. 2008. Atmospheric brown clouds regional assessment report with focus on Asia. Nairobi, Kenya: United Nations Environment Programme
- Ramanathan V, Chung C, Kim D et al. 2005. Atmospheric brown clouds: impacts on South Asian climate and hydrological cycle. PNAS, 102: 5326-5333
- Ramanathan V, Crutzen P J. 2003. New Directions: Atmospheric Brown "Clouds". Atmospheric Environment, 37: 4033-4035
- Ramsar Convention Bureau. 2003. Rāmsar Information Paper no. 1: What is a wetland? http://www. ramsar.org/about infopack 1e.htm, accessed 27 Jan 2003
- Reddy M S, Venkataraman C. 2002. Inventory of aerosol and sulphur dioxide emissions from India: I— Fossil fuel combustion. Atmospheric Environment, 36: 677-697
- Reddy V R, Behera B. 2006. Impact of water pollution on rural communities: an economic analysis. Ecological Economics, 58: 520-537
- Riedl R, Huang N, Machan R. 1972. The subtidal pump: a mechanism of interstitial water exchange by wave action. Marine Biology, 13: 210-221
- Rizwan AM, Dennis YCL, Liu C hunho. 2008. A review on the generation, determination and mitigation of Urban Heat Island. Journal of Environment Sciences, 20 (1): 120-128
- Sasmito A, BMG Team. 2006. Prototype of Dengue Early Warning System for DKI Jakarta. Paper presented at the Seminar on Research and Development on Meteorology and Geophysics, Agency for Meteorology and Geophysics, Jakarta
- SFA (State Forestry Administration of the People's Republic of China). 2005. Reports on desertifica-

TOWARDS A SUSTAINABLE ASIA ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE CHANGE

tion in China

- Shah J, Nagpal T, Johnson T et al. 2000. Integrated analysis for acid rain in Asia: policy implications and results of RAINS-Asia model. Annual Review of Energy and Environment, 25: 339-375
- Shekdar A V. 2009. Sustainable solid waste management: An integrated approach for Asian countries. Waste Management, 29: 1438-1448
- Sheppard C R C. 2003. Predicted recurrence of mass coral mortality in the Indian Ocean. Nature, 425: 294-297
- Shiklomanov I A, Rodda J C. 2003. World Water Resources at the Beginning of the Twenty-first Century. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK
- Singh P, Bengtsson L. 2004. Hydrological sensitivity of a large Himalayan basin to climate change. Hydrological Processes, 18: 2363-2385
- Siringan F, Berdin R, Maria Y. 2004. Coastal Erosion in San Fernando, La Union: Trends, Causes and Possible Mitigation Measures. Terminal Report, Marine Geology Laboratory, National Institute of Geological Sciences, University of the Philippines, Diliman, Quezon City
- Sofyan A, Kitada T, Kurata G. 2005. Characteristics of local flow in Jakarta, Indonesia and its implication in air pollution transport. The Atmospheric Sciences and Air Quality Conference, San Francisco, CA, 26-29 April 2005. Boston, MA: American Meteorological Society. http://ams. confex.com/ams/asaaq2005/techprogram/paper_90815.htm
- Solomon S, Qin D, Manning M et al., 2007. Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis, Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, United Kingdom; New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press
- Streets D G, Carmichael G R, Amann M et al. 1999. Energy consumption and acid deposition in Northeast Asia. Ambio, 28: 135
- Subandono D. 2002. Pengaruh Pemanasan Global terhadap Pesisir dan Pulau-Pulau Kecil di Indonesia. Direktorat Bina Pesisir, Ditjen Pesisir dan Pulau-Pulau Kecil, Departemen Kelautan dan Perikanan, Jakarta
- Taniguchi M, Burnett W C, Cable J E et al. 2002. Investigations of submarine groundwater discharge. Hydrol Process, 16: 2115-2129
- Taniguchi M, Burnett W C, Ness G D. 2008. Integrated research on subsurface environments in Asian urban areas. Science of the Total Environment, 404: 377-392
- Tavoni M, Sohngenb B, Bosettia V. 2007. Forestry and the carbon market response to stabilize climate. Energy Policy, 35: 5346-5353
- Thomas R J. 2008. Opportunities to reduce the vulnerability of dryland farmers in Central and West Asia and North Africa to climate change. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 126: 36-45
- UN Statistical Division. 2010. United Nations' Statistical Data. http://unstats.un.org/unsd/databases. htm
- UNEP. 2007. The Fourth Global Environment Outlook (GEO-4). Nairobi
- UNEP. 2009. Climate Change Science Compendium 2009, UNEP, Nairobi
- UNFCCC. 2007. Climate Change: Impacts, Vulnerabilities and Adaptation in Developing Countries. United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, Bonn World Meteorological Organisation, 1997. Comprehensive Assessment of the Freshwater Resources of the World. WMO, Geneva, 34pp.
- UNSO. 1997. Aridity zones and dryland populations. An assessment of population levels in the World's drylands. Office to Combat Desertification and Drought (UNSO/UNDP)
- Wang C H. 2005. Subsurface environmental changes in Taipei, Taiwan: current status. Proceedings of RIHN International Symposium on Human Impacts on Urban Subsurface Environments
- Wang T, Wu W, Xue X et al. 2004. Spatial-temporal changes of sandy desertified land during last 5 decades in northern China. Acta Geographica Sinica, 59: 201-212

- Wang T, Zhu Z D. 2003. Study on sandy desertification in China: Definition of sandy desertification and its connotation. Journal of Desert Research, 23: 210-214
- Wang T, Zhu Z D, Wu W. 2002. Sandy desertification in the north of China. Science in China (Series D: Earth Sciences), 45 (Suppl. 1): 23-34
- WDI (World Development Indicators). 2009. Washington DC, USA: The World Bank
- Wessels R, Kargel J S, Kieffer H H. 2002. ASTER measurements of supraglacial lakes in the Mount Everest region of the Himalaya. Annals of Glaciology, 34: 399-408
- WHO. 2006. Air Quality Guidelines Global Update 2005. http://www.euro.who.int/_data/assets/pdf_file/0005/78638/e90038.pdf
- WHO. 2008. World Health Organization Office for Europe On-line Databases. http://www.euro.who. int/en/home
- Wilbanks T J, Leiby P, Perlack R et al. 2007. Toward an integrated analysis of mitigation and adaptation: some preliminary findings. Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change, 12: 713-725
- Wilkinson C. 2002. Status of Coral Reefs of the World: 2002. Townsville, Australia: Australian Institute of Marine Science
- Wolanski E. 2007. Protective functions of coastal forests and trees against natural hazards. In: Coastal Protection in the Aftermath of the Indian Ocean Tsunami. What Role for Forests and Trees? FAO, Bangkok
- World Bank. 1997. Clean Air and Blue Skies. Washington DC, USA: The World Bank
- World Bank. 2005. For a breath of fresh air. Ten years of progress and challenges in urban air quality management in India. New Delhi
- World Health Organization. 2006. Air Quality Guidelines—Global Update 2005: particulate matter, ozone, nitrogen dioxide and sulfur dioxide. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe
- Xu B Q, Cao J J, Hansen J et al. 2009. Black soot and the survival of Tibetan glaciers. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 106 (52): 22114-22118
- Xu J C, Grumbine E, Shrpestha A et al. 2009. The Melting Himalayas: Cascading Effects of Climate Change on Water, Biodiversity, and Livelihoods. Conservation Biology, 23(3): 520-530
- Xu J C, Shrestha A B, Vaidya R et al. 2007. The melting Himalayas: regional challenges and local impacts of climate change on mountain ecosystems and livelihoods. Technical paper. International Center for Integrated Mountain Development, Kathmandu, Nepal
- Xu J C, Yang Y, Li Z Q et al. 2008. Understanding land use, livelihoods, and health transitions among Tibetan Nomads: a case from Gangga Township, Dingri County, Tibetan Autonomous Region of China. EcoHealth, 5: 104-114
- Yamada T, Fushimi H, Aryal R et al. 1996. Report of avalanches accident at Pangka, Khum Region,Nepal in 1995. The Japanese Society. Snow and Ice, 58(2): 145-155
- Zektser I S, Loaiciga H A. 1993. Groundwater fluxes in the global hydrologic cycle: past, present and future. Journal of Hydrology, 144: 405-427
- Zhong D, Qu J. 2003. Recent developmental trend and prediction of sand deserts in China. Journal of Arid Environments, 53: 317-329
- Zhou Z C, Gan Z T, Shangguan Z P et al. 2009. China's Grain for Green Program has reduced soil erosion in the upper reaches of the Yangtze River and the middle reaches of the Yellow River. International Journal of Sustainable Development & World Ecology, 16(4): 234-239